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PART I
ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

Kimberly-Clark Corporation was incorporated in Delaware in 1928. As used in Items 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 7A, 8 and 9A of this Form 10-K, the term “Corporation”
refers to Kimberly-Clark Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries. In the remainder of this Form 10-K, the terms “Kimberly-Clark” or “Corporation” refer
only to Kimberly-Clark Corporation. For financial information by business segment and geographic area, and information about principal products and markets of
the Corporation, reference is made to Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and to Item 8, Note 16
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Recent Developments
The Corporation is a global health and hygiene company focused on building its personal care, consumer tissue and business-to-business operations. Since
2000, the Corporation has completed 14 acquisitions, each of which was accounted for as a purchase, in its core businesses and three strategic divestitures,
including the following transactions:
•

On February 8, 2000, the Corporation acquired Safeskin Corporation (“Safeskin”), a leading maker of disposable gloves for health care, hightechnology and scientific industries, in a merger transaction in which the outstanding Safeskin shares were converted into shares of Kimberly-Clark
common stock. The transaction was valued at approximately $750 million.

•

On July 5, 2000, the Corporation acquired a majority of the shares of privately held S-K Corporation of Taiwan, which held trademark and
distribution rights in Taiwan for the Corporation’s global brands including Kleenex, Huggies and Kotex. Prior to the acquisition, the Corporation
owned approximately 3 percent of S-K Corporation.

•

On December 20, 2000, the Corporation purchased an additional 33.3 percent ownership interest in its Taiwanese affiliate, Taiwan Scott Paper
Corporation, increasing its ownership interest to 100 percent.

•

On January 31, 2001, the Corporation acquired Linostar S.p.A., a leading Italian-based diaper manufacturer that produced and marketed Lines, Italy’s
second largest diaper brand.

•

Prior to 2001, the Corporation and its joint venture partner, Amcor Limited (“Amcor”), held a 50/50 ownership interest in Kimberly-Clark Australia
Pty. Ltd. (“KCA”). In July 2001, the Corporation purchased an additional 5 percent ownership interest in KCA for A$77.5 million (approximately
$39 million), and exchanged options with Amcor for the purchase by the Corporation of the remaining 45 percent ownership interest. In June 2002,
the option was exercised, and the Corporation purchased the remaining 45 percent interest from Amcor for A$697.5 million (approximately $390
million). As a result of these transactions, KCA became a consolidated subsidiary effective July 1, 2001 and a wholly-owned subsidiary on June 30,
2002.

•

During the first quarter of 2003, the Corporation purchased the Klucze tissue business in Poland.

•

During the third quarter of 2003, the Corporation acquired an additional 49 percent interest in Kimberly-Clark Peru S.A. and the remaining 50
percent interest in its tissue joint venture in Brazil (Klabin Kimberly S.A.). The cost of these acquisitions totaled approximately $200 million.

•

On November 30, 2004, the Corporation distributed to its stockholders all of the outstanding shares of common stock of Neenah Paper, Inc.
(“Neenah Paper”). Neenah Paper was formed in April 2004 to facilitate the spin-off of the Corporation’s U.S. fine paper and technical paper
businesses and its Canadian pulp mills (the “Spin-off”). See Notes 1 and 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
regarding the Spin-off.

In January 2004, the Corporation announced changes to reorganize its personal care and consumer tissue businesses into two separate North Atlantic
personal care and consumer tissue groups and to put its operations in developing and emerging markets into one group. The wet wipes business became part of
the personal care segment instead of the consumer tissue segment. In addition, the Corporation’s North American pulp operations
1
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were included in its business-to-business segment. The Corporation continues to have three global businesses led by individuals who have the accountability and
the authority to make global decisions. The goal of this new structure is to help increase the Corporation’s speed in translating consumer and customer insights
into innovative products, to streamline decision making and to help deliver cost reductions on a sustainable basis.
Primarily as a result of significant productivity gains, the Corporation had available diaper manufacturing capacity in North America and Europe.
Therefore, the Corporation executed a plan to cease diaper manufacturing and scale-back distribution operations at its facility in New Milford, Conn., which now
is focused solely on the production of tissue products. Some diaper production capacity was also redeployed from the Barton-upon-Humber facility in the U.K.
Diaper machines from these locations will now support growth in other markets, thereby reducing the capital spending required for this business. These steps are
consistent with the Corporation’s strategies to drive growth in developing and emerging markets and improve its cost structure in North America and Europe.
Costs to implement this plan total approximately $40 million before tax, including about $37 million recorded in 2004. The balance of the plan costs will be
recorded in 2005 as they are incurred.
Description of the Corporation
The Corporation is principally engaged in the manufacturing and marketing of a wide range of health and hygiene products around the world. Most of these
products are made from natural or synthetic fibers using advanced technologies in fibers, nonwovens and absorbency.
The Corporation is organized into operating segments based on product groupings. These operating segments have been aggregated into three reportable
global business segments: Personal Care; Consumer Tissue; and Business-to-Business. Each reportable segment is headed by an executive officer who reports to
the Chief Executive Officer and is responsible for the development and execution of global strategies to drive growth and profitability of the Corporation’s
worldwide personal care, consumer tissue and business-to-business operations. These strategies include global plans for branding and product positioning,
technology, research and development programs, cost reductions including supply chain management, and capacity and capital investments for each of these
businesses. The principal sources of revenue in each of our global business segments are described below. Revenue, profit and total assets of each reportable
segment are described in the financial statements contained in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
The Personal Care segment manufactures and markets disposable diapers, training and youth pants and swimpants; baby wipes; feminine and incontinence
care products; and related products. Products in this segment are primarily for household use and are sold under a variety of brand names, including Huggies,
Pull-Ups, Little Swimmers, GoodNites, Kotex, Lightdays, Depend, Poise and other brand names.
The Consumer Tissue segment manufactures and markets facial and bathroom tissue, paper towels, napkins and related products for household use.
Products in this segment are sold under the Kleenex, Scott, Cottonelle, Viva, Andrex, Scottex, Hakle, Page and other brand names.
The Business-to-Business segment manufactures and markets disposable, single-use, health and hygiene products to the away-from-home marketplace.
These products include facial and bathroom tissue, paper towels, napkins, wipers, surgical gowns, drapes, infection control products, sterilization wrap,
disposable face masks and exam gloves, respiratory products, other disposable medical products and other products. Products in this segment are sold under the
Kimberly-Clark, Kleenex, Scott, Kimwipes, WypAll, Surpass, Safeskin, Tecnol, Ballard and other brand names.
Products for household use are sold directly, and through wholesalers, to supermarkets, mass merchandisers, drugstores, warehouse clubs, variety and
department stores and other retail outlets. Products for away-from-home use are sold through distributors and directly to manufacturing, lodging, office building,
food service, health care establishments and high volume public facilities. In addition, certain products are sold to converters.
2

Table of Contents
PART I
(Continued)
Approximately 13 percent of net sales were to Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. in 2004, 2003 and 2002, primarily in the Personal Care and Consumer Tissue
businesses.
Patents and Trademarks
The Corporation owns various patents and trademarks registered domestically and in many foreign countries. The Corporation considers the patents and
trademarks which it owns and the trademarks under which it sells certain of its products to be material to its business. Consequently, the Corporation seeks patent
and trademark protection by all available means, including registration.
Raw Materials
Superabsorbent materials are important components in disposable diapers, training and youth pants and incontinence care products. Polypropylene and
other synthetics and chemicals are the primary raw materials for manufacturing nonwoven fabrics, which are used in disposable diapers, training and youth pants,
wet wipes, feminine pads, incontinence and health care products, and away-from-home wipers.
Cellulose fiber, in the form of kraft pulp or fiber recycled from recovered pulp, is the primary raw material for the Corporation’s tissue products and is an
important component in disposable diapers, training pants, feminine pads and incontinence care products.
Most recovered paper, synthetics, pulp and recycled fiber are purchased from third parties. The Corporation considers the supply of such raw materials to
be adequate to meet the needs of its businesses. See “Factors That May Affect Future Results—Raw Materials.”
Competition
For a discussion of the competitive environment in which the Corporation conducts its business, see “Factors That May Affect Future Results—
Competitive Environment.”
Research and Development
Research and development expenditures are directed toward new or improved personal care, tissue and health care products and nonwoven materials.
Consolidated research and development expense was $279.7 million in 2004, $279.1 million in 2003 and $287.4 million in 2002.
Environmental Matters
Total worldwide capital expenditures for voluntary environmental controls or controls necessary to comply with legal requirements relating to the
protection of the environment at the Corporation’s facilities are expected to be approximately $20 million in 2005 and $12 million in 2006. Of these amounts,
approximately $4 million in 2005 and $1 million in 2006 are expected to be spent at facilities in the U.S. For facilities outside of the U.S., capital expenditures for
environmental controls are expected to be approximately $16 million in 2005 and $11 million in 2006.
Total worldwide operating expenses for environmental compliance are expected to be approximately $152 million in both 2005 and 2006. Operating
expenses for environmental compliance with respect to U.S. facilities are expected to be approximately $77 million in both 2005 and 2006. Operating expenses
for environmental compliance with respect to facilities outside the U.S. are expected to be approximately $75 million in both 2005 and 2006. Operating expenses
include pollution control equipment operation and maintenance costs, governmental payments, and research and engineering costs.
Total environmental capital expenditures and operating expenses are not expected to have a material effect on the Corporation’s total capital and operating
expenditures, consolidated earnings or competitive position. However, current environmental spending estimates could be modified as a result of changes in the
Corporation’s plans, changes in legal requirements or other factors.
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Employees
In its worldwide consolidated operations, the Corporation had more than 60,000 employees as of December 31, 2004.
Factors That May Affect Future Results
Certain matters discussed in this Form 10-K, or documents a portion of which are incorporated herein by reference, concerning, among other things, the
business outlook, including new product introductions, cost savings, anticipated financial and operating results, strategies, contingencies and contemplated
transactions of the Corporation, constitute forward-looking statements and are based upon management’s expectations and beliefs concerning future events
impacting the Corporation. There can be no assurance that these events will occur or that the Corporation’s results will be as estimated.
The assumptions used as a basis for the forward-looking statements include many estimates that, among other things, depend on the achievement of future
cost savings and projected volume increases. In addition, many factors outside the control of the Corporation, including the prices and availability of the
Corporation’s raw materials, potential competitive pressures on selling prices or advertising and promotion expenses for the Corporation’s products, energy costs,
and fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, as well as general economic conditions in the markets in which the Corporation does business, also could
impact the realization of such estimates.
The following factors, as well as factors described elsewhere in this Form 10-K, or in other SEC filings, among others, could cause the Corporation’s future
results to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements made by, or on behalf of, the Corporation.
These factors are described in accordance with the provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which encourages companies to
disclose such factors.
Competitive Environment. The Corporation experiences intense competition for sales of its principal products in its major markets, both domestically and
internationally. The Corporation’s products compete with widely advertised, well-known, branded products, as well as private label products, which are typically
sold at lower prices. The Corporation has several major competitors in most of its markets, some of which are larger and more diversified than the Corporation.
The principal methods and elements of competition include brand recognition and loyalty, product innovation, quality and performance, price, and marketing and
distribution capabilities. Inherent risks in the Corporation’s competitive strategy include uncertainties concerning trade and consumer acceptance, the effects of
recent consolidations of retailers and distribution channels, and competitive reaction. Aggressive competitive reaction may lead to increased advertising and
promotional spending by the Corporation in order to maintain market share. Increased competition with respect to pricing would reduce revenue and could have
an adverse impact on the Corporation’s financial results. In addition, the Corporation relies on the development and introduction of new or improved products as a
means of achieving and/or maintaining category leadership. In order to maintain its competitive position, the Corporation must develop technology to support its
products.
Cost Savings Strategy. The Corporation’s anticipated cost savings are expected to result from reducing material costs and manufacturing waste and
realizing productivity gains and distribution efficiencies in each of its business segments. The Corporation’s strategic investments in its information systems
should also allow further cost savings through streamlining of its back office operations. There can be no assurance that such cost savings will be achieved.
4
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Raw Materials. Cellulose fiber, in the form of kraft pulp or recycled fiber from recovered pulp, is used extensively in the Corporation’s tissue products
and is subject to significant price fluctuations due to the cyclical nature of the pulp markets. Recycled fiber accounts for approximately 28 percent of the
Corporation’s overall fiber requirements.
On a worldwide basis prior to the Spin-off, the Corporation supplied approximately 40 percent of its virgin fiber needs from internal pulp manufacturing
operations. The Spin-off has reduced the internal pulp supply to approximately 10 percent. This reduction in pulp integration could increase the Corporation’s
commodity price risk. Specifically, increases in pulp prices could adversely affect the Corporation’s earnings if selling prices for its finished products are not
adjusted or if such adjustments significantly trail the increases in pulp prices. Derivative instruments have not been used to manage these risks.
A number of the Corporation’s products, such as diapers, training and youth pants, and incontinence care products contain certain materials which are
principally derived from petroleum. These materials are subject to price fluctuations based on changes in petroleum prices, availability and other factors. The
Corporation purchases these materials from a number of suppliers. Significant increases in prices for these materials could adversely affect the Corporation’s
earnings if selling prices for its finished products are not adjusted or if adjustments significantly trail the increases in prices for these materials.
Although the Corporation believes that the supplies of raw materials needed to manufacture its products are adequate, global economic conditions, supplier
capacity constraints and other factors could materially affect the availability of or prices for those raw materials.
Energy Costs. The Corporation’s manufacturing operations utilize electricity, natural gas and petroleum-based fuels. To ensure that it uses all forms of
energy cost effectively, the Corporation maintains ongoing energy efficiency improvement programs at all of its manufacturing sites. The Corporation’s contracts
with energy suppliers vary as to price, payment terms, quantities and duration. Kimberly-Clark’s energy costs are also affected by various market factors
including the availability of supplies of particular forms of energy, energy prices and local and national regulatory decisions. There can be no assurance that the
Corporation will be fully protected against substantial changes in the price or availability of energy sources. Derivative instruments are used to hedge a portion of
natural gas price risk when management deems it prudent to do so.
Volume Forecasting. The Corporation’s anticipated financial results reflect forecasts of future volume increases in the sales of its products. Challenges in
such forecasting include anticipating consumer preferences, estimating sales of new products, estimating changes in population characteristics (such as birth rates
and changes in per capita income), anticipating changes in technology and competitive responses and estimating the acceptance of the Corporation’s products in
new markets. As a result, there can be no assurance that the Corporation’s volume increases will occur as estimated.
Foreign Market Risks. Because the Corporation and its equity companies have manufacturing facilities in 40 countries and their products are sold in more
than 150 countries, the Corporation’s results may be substantially affected by foreign market risks. The Corporation is subject to the impact of economic and
political instability in developing countries. The extremely competitive situation in European personal care and tissue markets, and the challenging economic
environments in Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Mexico, Venezuela and developing countries in Eastern Europe, Asia and elsewhere in Latin America, may slow
the Corporation’s sales growth and earnings potential. In addition, the Corporation is subject to the movement of various currencies against each other and versus
the U.S. dollar. Exposures, arising from transactions and commitments denominated in non-local currencies, are systematically hedged through foreign currency
forward, option and swap contracts. See Item 7A, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis – Risk Sensitivity.” Translation exposure for the Corporation with
respect to foreign operations is not hedged. There can be no assurance that the Corporation will be fully protected against substantial foreign currency
fluctuations.
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Contingencies. The costs and other effects of pending litigation and administrative actions against the Corporation cannot be determined with certainty.
Although management believes that no such proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the Corporation, there can be no assurance that the outcome of
such proceedings will be as expected. See Item 3, “Legal Proceedings.”
One of the Corporation’s North American tissue mills has an agreement to provide its local utility company a specified amount of electric power for each of
the next 12 years. In the event that the mill was shut down, the Corporation would be required to continue to operate the power generation facility on behalf of its
owner, the local utility company. The net present value of the cost to fulfill this agreement as of December 31, 2004 is estimated to be approximately $120
million. Management considers the probability of closure of this mill to be remote.
Available Information
The Corporation makes available financial information, news releases and other information on the Corporation’s Web site at www.kimberly-clark.com.
There is a direct link from the Web site to the Corporation’s Securities and Exchange Commission filings via the EDGAR database, where the Corporation’s
annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are available free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after the Corporation files such
reports and amendments with, or furnishes them to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. Stockholders may also contact Stockholder Services, P.O. Box
612606, Dallas, Texas 75261-2606 or call 972-281-1521 to obtain a hard copy of these reports without charge.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

Management believes that the Corporation’s production facilities are suitable for their purpose and adequate to support its businesses. The extent of
utilization of individual facilities varies, but they generally operate at or near capacity, except in certain instances such as when new products or technology are
being introduced or when mills are being shut down. Various facilities contain pollution control, solid waste disposal and other equipment which have been
financed through the issuance of industrial revenue or similar bonds and are held by the Corporation under lease or installment purchase agreements.
The principal facilities of the Corporation (including the Corporation’s equity companies) and the products or groups of products made at such facilities are
as follows:
World Headquarters Location
Dallas, Texas
Operating Segments and Geographic Headquarters
Roswell, Georgia
Neenah, Wisconsin
Milsons Point, Australia
Seoul, Korea
Reigate, United Kingdom
Administrative Centers
Knoxville, Tennessee
Brighton, United Kingdom
6
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Worldwide Production and Service Facilities
United States
Alabama
Mobile—tissue products
Arizona
Tucson—health care products
Arkansas
Conway—feminine care and incontinence care products and nonwovens
Maumelle—wet wipes and nonwovens
California
Fullerton—tissue products
Connecticut
New Milford—tissue products
Georgia
LaGrange—nonwovens
Idaho
Pocatello—health care products
Kentucky
Owensboro—tissue products
Mississippi
Corinth—nonwovens, wipers and towels
North Carolina
Hendersonville—nonwovens
Lexington—nonwovens
Oklahoma
Jenks—tissue products
Pennsylvania
Chester—tissue products
South Carolina
Beech Island—diapers, wet wipes and tissue products
Tennessee
Loudon—tissue products
7
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Texas
Del Rio—health care products
Fort Worth—health care products
Paris—diapers and training, youth and swim pants
San Antonio—personal cleansing products and systems
Utah
Draper—health care products
Ogden—diapers
Washington
Everett—tissue products, wipers and pulp
Wisconsin
Marinette—tissue products
Neenah—diapers, training pants, feminine care and incontinence care products and nonwovens
Outside the United States
Argentina
Bernal—tissue products
Pilar—feminine care and incontinence care products
San Luis—diapers
Australia
Albury—nonwovens
Ingleburn—diapers
Lonsdale—diapers and feminine care and incontinence care products
Millicent—pulp and tissue products
Tantanoola—pulp
Warwick Farm—tissue products
Bahrain
* East Riffa—tissue products
Belgium
Duffel—tissue products
Bolivia
La Paz—tissue products
Santa Cruz—tissue products
Brazil
Bahia—tissue products
Correia Pinto—tissue products
Cruzeiro—tissue products
Mogi das Cruzes—tissue products
Porto Alegre—feminine care products
Suzano—diapers, wet wipes and incontinence care products
*

Equity company production facility
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Canada
Huntsville, Ontario—tissue products and wipers
St. Hyacinthe, Quebec—feminine care and incontinence care products
China
Beijing—feminine care products and diapers
Guangzhou—tissue products
Nanjing—feminine care products
Shanghai—tissue products
Colombia
Barbosa—wipers, business and correspondence papers and notebooks
Puerto Tejada—tissue products
Tocancipa—diapers and feminine care products
* Villa Rica—diapers and incontinence care products
Costa Rica
Belen—tissue products
Cartago—diapers and feminine care and incontinence care products
Czech Republic
Jaromer—diapers and incontinence care products
Litovel—feminine care products
Dominican Republic
Santo Domingo—tissue products
Ecuador
Babahoyo—tissue products
Mapasingue—tissue products, diapers and feminine care products
El Salvador
Sitio del Niño—tissue products
France
Rouen—tissue products
Villey-Saint-Etienne—tissue products
Germany
Forchheim—feminine care and incontinence care products
Koblenz—tissue products
Mainz—tissue products
Reisholz—tissue products
Honduras
Villanueva—health care products
India
* Pune—feminine care products and diapers
*

Equity company production facility
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Indonesia
Jakarta—tissue products
Israel
Afula—diapers and feminine care and incontinence care products
Hadera—tissue products
Nahariya—tissue products
Italy
Alanno—tissue products
Romagnano—tissue products
Villanovetta—tissue products
Korea
Anyang—feminine care products, diapers and tissue products
Kimcheon—tissue products and nonwovens
Taejon—feminine care products, diapers and nonwovens
Malaysia
Kluang—tissue products, feminine care products and diapers

*
*
*

*
*
*
*
*
*
*

Mexico
Acuña—health care products
Bajio—tissue products, fine papers and notebooks
Cuautitlan—feminine care products, diapers and nonwovens
Ecatepec—tissue products
Empalme—health care products
Magdalena—health care products
Morelia—tissue products, pulp and fine papers
Naucalpan—tissue products and specialty papers
Nogales—health care products
Orizaba—tissue products, fine papers and pulp
Ramos Arizpe—tissue products and diapers
San Rafael—fine papers
Texmelucan—tissue products
Tlaxcala—diapers, nonwovens and wet wipes
Peru
Puente Piedra—tissue products
Villa—diapers and feminine care and incontinence care products
Philippines
San Pedro, Laguna—feminine care products, diapers and tissue products
Poland
Klucze—tissue products

Saudi Arabia
* Al-Khobar—diapers and feminine care and tissue products
10
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Singapore
Tuas—diapers
Slovak Republic
Piestany—health care products
South Africa
Cape Town—tissue, feminine care and incontinence care products
Springs—tissue products and diapers
Spain
Aranguren—tissue products
Arceniega—tissue products and personal cleansing products and systems
Calatayud—diapers
Salamanca—tissue products
Telde, Canary Islands—tissue products
Switzerland
Balsthal—tissue products and specialty papers
Niederbipp—tissue products
Reichenburg—tissue products
Taiwan
Chung Li—tissue products, feminine care products and diapers
Hsin-Ying—tissue products
Ta-Yuan—tissue products
Thailand
Hat Yai—disposable gloves
Pathumthani—feminine care products, diapers and tissue products
Samut Prakarn—tissue products
Turkey
Istanbul—diapers
United Kingdom
Barrow—tissue products
Barton-upon-Humber—diapers and nonwovens
Flint—tissue products and nonwovens
Northfleet—tissue products
Venezuela
Maracay—tissue products and diapers
Vietnam
Binh Duong—feminine care products
Hanoi—feminine care products
11
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ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As of December 31, 2004, the Corporation, along with many other nonaffiliated companies, was a party to lawsuits with allegations of personal injury
resulting from asbestos exposure on the defendants’ premises and allegations that the defendants manufactured, sold, distributed or installed products which cause
asbestos-related lung disease. These general allegations are often made against the Corporation without any apparent evidence or identification of a specific
product or premises of the Corporation. The Corporation has denied the allegations and raised numerous defenses in all of these asbestos cases. All asbestos
claims have been tendered to the Corporation’s insurance carriers for defense and indemnity. The financial statements reflect appropriate accruals for the
Corporation’s portion of the costs estimated to be incurred in connection with resolving these claims.
The Corporation is subject to federal, state and local environmental protection laws and regulations with respect to its business operations and is operating
in compliance with, or taking action aimed at ensuring compliance with, such laws and regulations. The Corporation has been named a potentially responsible
party under the provisions of the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, or analogous state statutes, at a number of
waste disposal sites.
In management’s opinion, none of these legal proceedings nor the Corporation’s compliance obligations with environmental protection laws and
regulations, individually or in the aggregate, is expected to have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition, results of operations
or liquidity.
ITEM 4.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2004.
ITEM 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The names and ages of the executive officers of the Corporation as of February 22, 2005, together with certain biographical information, are as follows:
Robert E. Abernathy, 50, was elected Group President – Developing and Emerging Markets effective January 19, 2004. He is responsible for the
Corporation’s businesses in Asia, Latin America, Eastern Europe, the Middle East and Africa. Mr. Abernathy joined the Corporation in 1982. His past
responsibilities in the Corporation have included operations and major project management in North America. He was appointed Vice President – North
American Diaper Operations in 1992; Managing Director of Kimberly-Clark Australia Pty. Limited in 1994; and Group President of the Corporation’s Businessto-Business segment in 1998.
Mark A. Buthman, 44, was elected Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in 2003. Mr. Buthman joined the Corporation in 1982. He has held
various positions of increasing responsibility in the operations, finance and strategic planning areas of the Corporation. Mr. Buthman was appointed Vice
President of Finance in 2002 and Vice President of Strategic Planning and Analysis in 1997.
Thomas J. Falk, 46, was elected Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer in 2003 and President and Chief Executive Officer in 2002. Prior to
that, he served as President and Chief Operating Officer since 1999. Mr. Falk previously had been elected Group President—Global Tissue, Pulp and Paper in
1998, where he was responsible for the Corporation’s global tissue businesses. Earlier in his career, Mr. Falk had responsibility for the Corporation’s North
American Infant Care, Child Care and Wet Wipes businesses. Mr. Falk joined the Corporation in 1983 and has held other senior management positions in the
Corporation. He has been a director
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of the Corporation since 1999. He also serves on the board of directors of Centex Corporation, Grocery Manufacturers of America, Inc. and the University of
Wisconsin Foundation, and serves as a trustee of the Boys & Girls Clubs of America.
Steven R. Kalmanson, 52, was elected Group President—North Atlantic Personal Care effective January 19, 2004. He is responsible for the Corporation’s
global personal care segment, and its North American Sales, Marketing Services and Supply Chain and Logistics organizations. Mr. Kalmanson joined the
Corporation in 1977. His past responsibilities have included various marketing and business management positions within the consumer products businesses. He
was appointed President, Adult Care in 1990; President, Child Care in 1991; President, Family Care in 1995; and Group President of the Corporation’s Consumer
Tissue segment in 1996.
W. Dudley Lehman, 53, was elected Group President—Business-to-Business effective January 19, 2004. He is responsible for the Corporation’s global
Business-to-Business segment, which includes the K-C Professional Tissue and Wiper business, the Health Care business, Nonwovens manufacturing and the
Research and Sales functions. Mr. Lehman joined the Corporation in 1976 and held various marketing positions in the infant care and feminine care businesses
before becoming Director of Training Pants in 1988. He was appointed President of the Child Care Sector in 1990; President of the Infant Care Sector in 1991;
and Group President of the Infant Care and Child Care Sectors in 1995. Mr. Lehman is a director of Snap-on Incorporated.
Ronald D. Mc Cray, 47, was elected Senior Vice President—Law and Government Affairs and Chief Compliance Officer effective November 16, 2004.
His responsibilities include the Corporation’s legal affairs, internal audit and government relations activities. Mr. Mc Cray joined the Corporation in 1987 as
Senior Attorney. He was appointed Vice President and Chief Counsel in 1996. He was elected Vice President and Secretary in 1999, Vice President, Associate
General Counsel and Secretary in 2001 and Senior Vice President—Law and Government Affairs in 2003. He is a director of Knight-Ridder, Inc.
Robert P. van der Merwe, 52, was elected Group President—North Atlantic Family Care effective January 19, 2004. He is responsible for the
Corporation’s global consumer tissue segment, and its European Marketing Services, Integrated Supply Chain and Customer Management organizations. Mr. van
der Merwe joined the Corporation in 1980 as Brand/Marketing Manager in South Africa. In 1985, he became Director of World Support Group—Personal Care.
From 1987 to 1993, Mr. van der Merwe left the Corporation to become Managing Director of Xerox’s Southern African operations. He returned to the
Corporation in 1994 as Director of Global Projects and became Director of the World Support Group—Personal Care in 1995. He became President of the Adult
Care Sector later that year and was appointed President—Feminine Care Sector in 1997. He was appointed President—Kimberly-Clark Europe in 1998 and was
elected Group President—Kimberly-Clark Europe, Middle East & Africa in 1998.
13
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MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

The dividend and market price data included in Item 8, Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements is incorporated in this Item 5 by reference.
Quarterly dividends have been paid continually since 1935. Dividends are paid on or about the second business day of January, April, July and October.
The Automatic Dividend Reinvestment service of EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. is available to Kimberly-Clark stockholders of record. The service makes it
possible for Kimberly-Clark stockholders of record to have their dividends automatically reinvested in common stock and to make additional cash investments up
to $3,000 per quarter.
Kimberly-Clark common stock is listed on the New York, Chicago and Pacific stock exchanges. The ticker symbol is KMB.
As of February 16, 2005, the Corporation had 35,773 holders of record of its common stock.
For information relating to securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, see Part III, Item 12 of this Form 10-K.
The Corporation regularly repurchases shares of Kimberly-Clark common stock pursuant to publicly announced share repurchase programs. All share
repurchases by the Corporation were made through brokers on the New York Stock Exchange. During 2004, the Corporation purchased $1.6 billion worth of its
common stock. The following table contains information for shares repurchased during the fourth quarter of 2004. None of the shares in this table were
repurchased directly from any officer or director of the Corporation.

Shares
Purchased

Period (2004)

October 1 to 31
November 1 to 30
December 1 to 31

1,228,000 (a)
2,027,000 (b)
3,510,000 (b)

Total

Average Cost
Per Share

$

62.51
61.84
64.64

Cumulative
Number of Shares
Purchased Pursuant
To The Programs

Remaining
Shares That
May be
Repurchased

20,000,000
2,027,000
5,537,000

25,000,000
22,973,000
19,463,000

6,765,000

(a)

All share repurchases between October 1, 2004 and October 31, 2004 were made pursuant to a share repurchase program authorized by the Corporation’s board of directors on February 18, 2003 and
publicly announced the same day, which allowed for the repurchase of 20 million shares in an amount not to exceed $1.5 billion. No shares remain to be repurchased under this program after October 31,
2004.

(b)

All share repurchases between November 1, 2004 and December 31, 2004 were made pursuant to a share repurchase program authorized by the Corporation’s board of directors on June 8, 2004 and
publicly announced the same day, which allows for the repurchase of 25 million shares in an amount not to exceed $2.25 billion.

In addition, during November and December, 25,085 shares at a cost of $1,585,849 and 15,353 shares at a cost of $994,515, respectively, were purchased
from current or former employees in connection with the exercise of employee stock options and other awards. No such shares were purchased in October.
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Year Ended December 31(a)
2004

2003

$ 15,083.2
5,068.5
2,506.4
124.8

$ 14,026.3
4,794.4
2,331.6
107.0

1,770.4
29.8
—
1,800.2

1,643.6
50.6
—
1,694.2

3.58
.06
—
3.64

2002(b)

2001(b)(c)

2000(b)(c)

(Millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Operating Profit
Share of Net Income of Equity Companies
Income from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of income taxes
Net income
Per share basis:
Basic
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of income taxes
Net income
Diluted
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of income taxes
Net income
Cash Dividends Per Share
Declared
Paid
Total Assets
Long-Term Debt
Stockholders’ Equity

$ 13,231.5
4,693.8
2,368.3
113.3

$ 12,923.6
4,573.8
2,272.9
154.4

$ 12,468.5
4,523.9
2,507.9
186.4

1,627.4
58.6
(11.4)
1,674.6

1,571.1
38.8
—
1,609.9

1,723.5
77.1
—
1,800.6

3.24
.10
—
3.34

3.15
.11
(.02)
3.24

2.97
.07
—
3.04

3.19
.15
—
3.34

3.55
.06
—
3.61

3.23
.10
—
3.33

3.13
.11
(.02)
3.22

2.95
.07
—
3.02

3.17
.14
—
3.31

1.60
1.54
$ 17,018.0
2,298.0
6,629.5

1.36
1.32
$ 16,779.9
2,733.7
6,766.3

1.12
1.11
$ 15,059.1
2,424.0
5,646.9

1.08
1.07
$ 14,520.7
2,000.6
5,767.3

1.20
1.18
$ 15,639.6
2,844.0
5,650.3

(a)

Income statement data present the results of Neenah Paper’s fine and technical papers businesses as discontinued operations.

(b)

During 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued EITF 01-9, Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer or a
Reseller of the Vendor’s Products. Under EITF 01-9, the cost of promotion activities offered to customers is classified as a reduction in sales revenue. In addition, the estimated redemption value of
consumer coupons is required to be recorded at the time the coupons are issued and classified as a reduction in sales revenue. The Corporation adopted EITF 01-9 effective January 1, 2002, and reclassified
the expected redemption value of coupons and other applicable promotional activities from expense to a reduction in revenue, which reduced net sales by $1.1 billion for 2000 and $1.2 billion for 2001.
The adoption of EITF 01-9 did not change reported earnings for prior years but did require the recording of a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in 2002, equal to an after-tax charge of
approximately $.02 per share, which resulted from a change in the period for recognizing the costs of coupons.

(c)

On January 1, 2002, the Corporation adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Under this standard, goodwill and intangible assets having
indefinite lives are no longer amortized but are subject to annual impairment tests with any impairment loss recognized in the period of impairment. The Corporation recorded goodwill amortization of
$87.7 million in 2000 and $94.4 million in 2001. The effect of this amortization, net of applicable income taxes, on basic and diluted earnings per share was $.16 in 2000 and $.18 in 2001.

15

Table of Contents
PART II
(Continued)
ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Introduction
This management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is intended to provide investors with an understanding of the
Corporation’s past performance, its financial condition and its prospects. The following will be discussed and analyzed:
•

Overview of Business

•

Overview of 2004 Results

•

Results of Operations and Related Information

•

Liquidity and Capital Resources

•

Variable Interest Entities

•

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

•

Contingencies and Legal Matters

•

New Accounting Standards

•

Business Outlook

•

Information Concerning Forward-Looking Statements

Overview of Business
The Corporation is a global health and hygiene company with manufacturing facilities in 37 countries and its products are sold in more than 150 countries.
The Corporation’s products are sold under such well-known brands as Kleenex, Scott, Huggies, Pull-Ups, Kotex and Depend. The Corporation has three
reportable global business segments: Personal Care, Consumer Tissue and Business-to-Business. These global business segments are described in greater detail in
Item 1 of this Form 10-K and in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
In managing this global business, the Corporation’s management believes that developing new and improved products, responding effectively to
competitive challenges, obtaining and maintaining leading market shares, controlling costs, and managing currency and commodity risks are important to the
long-term success of the Corporation. The discussion and analysis of results of operations and other related information will refer to these factors.
•

Product innovation—Past results and future prospects depend in large part on product innovation. The Corporation relies on its ability to develop and
introduce new or improved products to drive sales and volume growth and to achieve and/or maintain category leadership. In order to develop new or
improved products, the technology to support those products must be developed. Research and development expenditures are directed towards new
or improved personal care, tissue and health care products and nonwoven materials.

•

Competitive environment—Past results and future prospects are significantly affected by the competitive environment in which we operate. We
experience intense competition for sales of our principal products in our major markets, both domestically and internationally. Our products compete
with widely advertised, well-known, branded products, as well as private label products, which are typically sold at lower prices. We have several
major competitors in most of our markets, some of which are larger and more diversified. The principal methods and elements of competition include
brand recognition and loyalty, product innovation, quality and performance, price, and marketing and distribution capabilities.
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Aggressive competitive actions in 2003 and 2004 have required increased promotional spending to support new product introductions and enable
competitive pricing in order to protect the position of the Corporation’s products in the market. We expect competition to continue to be intense in
2005.
•

Market shares—Achieving leading market shares in our principal products has been an important part of our past performance. We hold the number
1 or 2 brand position in more than 80 countries. Achieving and maintaining leading market shares is important because of ongoing consolidation of
retailers and the trend of leading merchandisers seeking to stock only the top competitive brands.

•

Cost controls—To maintain our competitive position, we must control our manufacturing, distribution and other costs. We have achieved cost
savings from reducing material costs and manufacturing waste and realizing productivity gains and distribution efficiencies in each of our business
segments. Our ability to control costs can be affected by changes in the price of oil, pulp and other commodities we consume in our manufacturing
processes. Our strategic investments in information systems should also allow further cost savings through streamlining administrative activities.

•

Foreign currency and commodity risks—As a multinational enterprise, we are exposed to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, and we are
also exposed to commodity prices. Our ability to effectively manage these risks can have a material impact on our results of operations.

On November 30, 2004, the Corporation distributed to its stockholders all of the shares of common stock of Neenah Paper, Inc. (“Neenah Paper”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary formed in April 2004 to facilitate the spin-off of the U.S. fine and technical papers businesses and the Canadian pulp mills (the “Spinoff”). In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, prior
period Consolidated Income Statements and Cash Flow Statements and related disclosures present the results of Neenah Paper’s fine paper and technical paper
businesses, which were previously included in the Business-to-Business segment, as discontinued operations. Prior to the Spin-off, the Corporation internally
consumed approximately 90 percent of the pulp produced by the Canadian pulp business. In connection with the Spin-off, the Corporation entered into a longterm pulp supply agreement to purchase a substantial portion of the pulp produced by Neenah Paper. Because we will continue to incur pulp costs in our
operations, the results of Neenah Paper’s Canadian pulp business have not been reported as discontinued operations in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
144. The following discussion and analysis is based on a comparison of the Corporation’s continuing operations.
Overview of 2004 Results
During 2004, the Corporation continued to face intense competition in most of its markets. In particular, the diaper and pants categories in North America
and Europe continued to be affected by the competitive pricing pressures that began in late 2002. The tissue businesses were also adversely affected by higher
fiber costs, and all of the businesses faced higher materials input costs. Despite these challenges, improved results were achieved in 2004:
•

Net sales grew 7.5 percent.
•

Net sales advanced in each of the three business segments and in each geographic region.

•

Innovative and improved products such as Huggies Convertibles diaper pants, Huggies diapers with Triple-Leak Protection, Pull-Ups training
pants with easy-open sides, gender specific GoodNites youth pants, Anti-viral Kleenex tissue, Scott Coreless Jumbo bathroom tissue and
Kotex Lightdays everyday pantiliners contributed to increased sales volumes.
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•

•

Operating profit increased 7.5 percent and income and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations increased 7.7 percent and 9.9 percent,
respectively.
•

Increased sales volumes more than offset the effect of lower net selling prices.

•

Cost savings of nearly $160 million helped to temper the effects of higher costs for fiber, other materials, energy and distribution of over
$180 million.

Cash flow from operations in 2004 set a record for the fourth consecutive year.
•

The Corporation repurchased 24.8 million shares of its common stock for about $1.6 billion.

•

Annual cash dividends were increased by 17.6 percent in 2004 and will increase another 12.5 percent in 2005.

Market Shares
U.S. market shares are tracked on a sales dollar basis with information provided by A.C. Nielsen for distribution through the food, drug and mass
merchandising channels, excluding Wal-Mart, warehouse clubs, dollar stores and certain other outlets. These customers do not report market share information
publicly. The A.C. Nielsen data provides coverage ranging from approximately 40 percent to 60 percent of the retail value of products sold, depending upon the
product category.
Shown below are the Corporation’s U.S. market shares for key categories for full years 2002 through 2004:
Category

2004

Diapers
Training, Youth and Swim Pants
Feminine Care
Adult Incontinence Care
Baby Wipes
Facial Tissue
Bathroom Tissue
Paper Towels

38%
69%
20%
56%
40%
51%
29%
19%
18

2003

38%
68%
22%
56%
41%
53%
28%
19%

2002

40%
73%
23%
55%
42%
54%
27%
19%
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Results of Operations and Related Information
This section contains a discussion and analysis of net sales, operating profit and other information relevant to an understanding of 2004 results of
operations. This discussion and analysis compares 2004 results to 2003, and 2003 results to 2002. Each of those discussions focuses first on consolidated results,
and then the results of each reportable business segment.
Analysis of Consolidated Net Sales
By Business Segment
Year Ended December 31,
2004

2003

2002

(Millions of dollars)

Personal Care
Consumer Tissue
Business-to-Business
Intersegment sales
Consolidated

$ 5,975.1
5,343.0
3,957.9
(192.8)

$ 5,652.9
5,046.7
3,477.7
(151.0)

$ 5,485.5
4,635.2
3,256.7
(145.9)

$ 15,083.2

$ 14,026.3

$ 13,231.5

By Geographic Area
Year Ended December 31,
2004

2003

2002

(Millions of dollars)

United States
Canada
Intergeographic sales
Total North America
Europe
Asia, Latin America and other
Intergeographic sales
Consolidated

$ 8,683.5
911.0
(554.4)

$ 8,335.8
801.8
(515.6)

$ 8,314.4
831.4
(601.2)

9,040.1
3,098.3
3,488.8
(544.0)

8,622.0
2,892.5
3,061.6
(549.8)

8,544.6
2,482.8
2,751.5
(547.4)

$ 15,083.2

$ 14,026.3

$ 13,231.5

Commentary:
2004 versus 2003
Percent Change in Sales Versus Prior Year
Change Due To
Volume
Total
Change

Total
Volume

Organic
Growth

Acquisitions

Net
Price

Currency

Other

8
6
6
14

5
4
3
7

4
4
1
7

1
—
2
—

(1)
(2)
—
(1)

3
3
4
3

1
1
(1)
5

Consolidated
Personal Care
Consumer Tissue
Business-to-Business

Consolidated net sales increased 7.5 percent from 2003. Sales volumes advanced approximately 5 percent with contributions from each of the business
segments. About 1 percentage point of the increase in sales volumes
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was due to the consolidation, in August 2003, of Klabin Kimberly S.A. (“Klabin”), a former equity affiliate and Brazil’s largest tissue manufacturer. Currency
effects added more than 3 percent to the increase primarily due to strengthening of the euro, British pound, and Australian and Canadian dollars. Slightly lower
net selling prices were offset by a more favorable product mix.
•

Worldwide personal care net sales rose 5.7 percent due to higher sales volumes, mainly in North America, favorable currency effects in Europe and
Australia and better product mix in Central America, partially offset by lower net selling prices primarily in North America and Europe.
In North America, net sales increased nearly 5 percent driven by a more than 6 percent sales volume increase reflecting higher sales of Huggies
diapers and double-digit growth for child care products—GoodNites youth underpants, Pull-Ups training pants, Little Swimmers swimpants—and
incontinence brands Poise and Depend. Net selling prices declined about 2 percent primarily in response to competitive activity. Favorable Canadian
dollar exchange rate effects also contributed to the increase in net sales. The increased child care volumes are due to strong category growth through
increased consumer usage. Market share for feminine care products declined as a result of significant competitive activity.
Net sales in Europe were even with last year as 10 percent favorable currency effects were offset by almost 7 percent lower sales volumes and a 3
percent reduction in net selling prices. Lower sales volumes for diapers and feminine care products, resulting from aggressive competitive price
reductions and promotion spending, more than offset higher sales volumes for child and adult care products. Except for child care, which benefited
from a prior year price increase, net selling prices declined due to competitive activity.
In the developing and emerging markets, net sales increased about 10 percent with higher sales volumes and favorable currency effects each
contributing about 5 percent, while improved product mix essentially offset lower net selling prices. Advances in sales volumes and favorable
currency were realized in both Korea and Australia. Latin America and Israel also recorded higher sales volumes.

•

Worldwide consumer tissue net sales increased 5.9 percent on higher sales volumes, primarily in North America, the consolidation of Klabin and
favorable currency effects, principally in Europe, partially offset by lower intersegment sales. Net selling prices were even with the prior year.
In North America, net sales increased almost 4 percent with higher sales volumes and net selling prices each contributing about 2 percent. The higher
sales volumes were led by increased sales for Scott bathroom tissue and private label, partially offset by lower sales volumes for Kleenex facial
tissue. In the third quarter of 2004, the Corporation implemented list price increases on its bathroom and facial tissue products and on paper towels.
These price increases along with a reduction in trade promotion spending in the fourth quarter contributed to the higher net selling prices. In facial
tissue products, the Corporation’s main competitor did not match the Corporation’s price increases in some product codes, which is reflected in the
Corporation’s lower market share for the category. The third quarter 2004 introduction of Kleenex Anti-viral facial tissue contributed to a slight
increase in net sales due to product mix.
In Europe, net sales increased nearly 9 percent because of an almost 11 percent favorable effect from currency tempered by lower net selling prices
that reflect the continuing competitive marketplace. Sales volumes were nearly 1 percent higher primarily due to increased sales of Andrex products
in the United Kingdom.
In the developing and emerging markets, net sales advanced approximately 20 percent on a sales volume increase of more than 11 percent, of which
about 7 percentage points was attributable to the consolidation of Klabin, favorable currency effects of almost 5 percent, primarily in Australia, and a
favorable product mix.
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•

Worldwide net sales for products in the business-to-business segment increased 13.8 percent driven by nearly 7 percent higher sales volumes, more
than 3 percent favorable currency effects and higher intersegment sales, tempered by less than 2 percent lower net selling prices. Sales volume
growth was led by more than an 8 percent volume increase in global health care. Professional products achieved more than 5 percent higher sales
volumes and higher sales of nonwoven products provided additional benefit. The favorable currency effects were principally due to Europe. Despite
price increases in the fourth quarter for professional products in North America, net selling prices for the year declined due to price erosion in
contract business across the segment.

2003 versus 2002
Percent Change in Sales Versus Prior Year
Change Due To
Volume
Total
Change

Total
Volume

Organic
Growth

Acquisitions

Net
Price

Currency

Other

6
3
9
7

2
—
4
3

1
—
2
3

1
—
2
—

(1)
—
—
(2)

4
3
5
5

1
—
—
1

Consolidated
Personal Care
Consumer Tissue
Business-to-Business

Consolidated net sales increased 6.0 percent over 2002. In addition to favorable currency effects of about 4 percent, higher sales volumes of more than 2
percent more than offset slightly lower net selling prices. The favorable currency effects, primarily in Europe and Australia, were tempered by unfavorable
currency effects in Latin America. Slightly less than one-half of the increased sales volumes were due to the consolidation of Klabin and the February 2003
acquisition of the Klucze tissue business in Poland.
•

Worldwide sales of personal care products increased 3.1 percent due to favorable currency exchange rates. Overall sales volumes and net selling
prices were the same as 2002.
In North America, net sales increased about 1 percent. Favorable Canadian exchange rate effects and product mix more than offset lower net selling
prices of about 1 percent. Increased sales volumes for training pants and incontinence care products were offset by decreased sales volume for
diapers that were affected by aggressive competitive actions. Training-pants products achieved an all-time record for annual shipments even though
U.S. market share for 2003 was below the prior year’s full year share.
Net sales in Europe increased about 4 percent as favorable currency effects more than offset 7 percent lower sales volumes due to aggressive
competitive consumer promotion activity. Lower diaper sales volumes were partially offset by increased sales volumes for incontinence care
products and training pants.
In the developing and emerging markets, net sales increased about 8 percent. Currency effects were approximately 3 percent favorable. Sales
volumes and net selling prices each contributed about 2 percent with favorable product mix adding 1 percent. Net sales in Asia grew on higher sales
volumes in Australia and currency effects in both Australia and Korea. In Latin America, net sales declined as higher net selling prices were more
than offset by lower sales volumes and unfavorable currency. Net sales for the other geographies rose because of higher sales volumes and favorable
currency in South Africa and higher sales volumes and favorable product mix in Eastern Europe.

•

Worldwide sales of consumer tissue products increased 8.9 percent due to favorable currency effects, primarily in Europe and nearly 4 percent higher
sales volumes. Overall net selling prices were essentially even with 2002.
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In North America, net sales increased more than 1 percent on 2 percent higher sales volumes partially offset by lower net selling prices. While
overall U.S. market share in the facial category for 2003 was below 2002, there was sequential improvement in both the third and fourth quarters of
the year.
Net sales in Europe increased more than 20 percent driven by favorable currency effects and higher sales volumes of about 5 percent, primarily due
to the Klucze acquisition. Net selling prices were flat versus 2002.
In the developing and emerging markets, net sales advanced nearly 15 percent as sales volumes increased almost 10 percent, primarily due to Klabin.
Favorable currency effects, primarily in Australia, added 4 percent, while higher net selling prices were partially offset by a less favorable product
mix.
•

Worldwide sales of products in the business-to-business segment increased 6.8 percent as a result of favorable currency effects and 3 percent higher
sales volumes, tempered by net selling prices that were more than 1 percent lower. The higher sales volumes were driven by advances for
professional products in North America, Latin America and Asia and increased sales volumes of global health care products.

Analysis of Consolidated Operating Profit
By Business Segment
Year Ended December 31,
2004

2003

2002

(Millions of dollars)

Personal Care
Consumer Tissue
Business-to-Business
Other income (expense), net
Unallocated—net
Consolidated

$1,253.2
803.1
656.6
(51.2)
(155.3)

$1,221.0
728.2
602.8
(112.5)
(107.9)

$1,157.1
807.3
574.9
(73.7)
(97.3)

$2,506.4

$2,331.6

$2,368.3

By Geographic Area
Year Ended December 31,
2004

2003

2002

(Millions of dollars)

United States
Canada
Europe
Asia, Latin America and other
Other income (expense), net
Unallocated—net
Consolidated
Note: Unallocated—net consists of expenses not associated with the business segments or geographic areas.
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$1,953.1
122.0
221.0
416.8
(51.2)
(155.3)

$1,862.7
131.7
202.9
354.7
(112.5)
(107.9)

$1,923.8
100.5
191.0
324.0
(73.7)
(97.3)

$2,506.4

$2,331.6

$2,368.3
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Commentary:
2004 versus 2003
Percent Change in Operating Profit Versus Prior Year
Change Due To

Consolidated
Personal Care
Consumer Tissue
Business-to-Business
(a)

Total
Change

Volume

8
3
10
9

11
12
4
14

Net
Price

(8)
(9)
—
(9)

Fiber
Cost

(2)
(1)
(6)
(4)

Currency

Other(a)

3
2
4
4

4
(1)
8
4

Includes the benefits of cost savings programs and the impact of higher energy and distribution costs.

Consolidated operating profit increased 7.5 percent as the higher sales volumes, about $160 million of benefit from cost savings programs and total
favorable currency effects of over $70 million more than offset the lower net selling prices, higher fiber costs and increased energy and distribution expenses.
Operating profit as a percentage of net sales was 16.6 percent, the same as last year.
•

Operating profit for personal care products increased 2.6 percent. The higher sales volumes, more than $85 million in cost savings and favorable
currency effects, primarily in Australia and Canada, were partially offset by the lower net selling prices, higher raw material and distribution costs,
increased advertising expenses, and costs associated with a plan to streamline diaper operations. Primarily as a result of significant productivity
gains, the Corporation had available diaper manufacturing capacity in North America and Europe. Therefore, the Corporation executed a plan to
cease diaper manufacturing and scale-back distribution operations at its facility in New Milford, Conn. Some production capacity was also
redeployed from the Barton-upon-Humber facility in the U.K. Diaper machines from these locations will now support growth in other markets,
thereby reducing the capital spending required for this business. These steps are consistent with the Corporation’s strategies to drive growth in
developing and emerging markets and improve its cost structure in North America and Europe.
Costs to implement the infant care plan described above will total approximately $40 million before tax, including about $37 million recorded in
2004. The balance of the plan costs will be recorded in 2005 as they are incurred. Of the total 2004 cost, approximately $10 million was for
employee severance recorded at the time employees were notified of their termination benefits, about $3 million for other cash costs, principally for
equipment removal, and $24 million for asset write offs primarily related to the original equipment installation costs. These costs were recorded in
cost of products sold.
Operating profit in North America increased about 1 percent as the benefits of the higher sales volumes and cost savings programs were partially
offset by the lower selling prices, costs of the infant care plan and higher advertising and distribution costs. In Europe, operating profit declined
because of the negative impacts of the competitive environment on selling prices and sales volumes. Operating profit in the developing and emerging
markets increased over 7 percent, principally due to higher sales volumes and favorable currency effects, partially offset by higher marketing
expenses.

•

Operating profit for consumer tissue products improved 10.3 percent driven by cost savings of almost $60 million, favorable currency effects of
about $25 million and lower marketing expenses tempered by approximately $45 million of higher fiber costs, higher other raw material and energy
costs and increased distribution expense. In North America, operating profit grew nearly 6 percent because of the higher sales volumes and net
selling prices, cost savings, and lower marketing expenses, partially offset by higher fiber costs and increased costs for energy and distribution.
Operating profit in Europe
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advanced more than 8 percent principally on the strength of cost savings and favorable currency, tempered by the lower net selling prices. In the
developing and emerging markets, operating profit rose more than 20 percent primarily due to favorable product mix, the higher sales volumes and
currency effects.
•

Operating profit for business-to-business products increased 8.9 percent. In addition to the higher sales volumes and favorable currency, the segment
benefited from more than $14 million in cost savings, primarily in the professional business, and lower start-up costs compared to 2003. These gains
were tempered by the lower net selling prices, higher fiber costs, increased other raw materials costs, higher energy and distribution expenses, and
higher general and administrative costs. Our professional and global health care businesses both had higher sales volumes in North America and
Europe.

•

Other income (expense), net in 2003 included charges of $34 million consisting of $15.6 million for a legal judgment in Europe and $18.4 million for
the costs associated with the redemption of $400 million of debentures; and nearly $20 million for charges to write-off an investment in an historic
restoration project and to recognize impairment of a nonstrategic facility outside of North America.

•

The higher unallocated—net expenses in 2004 were primarily due to the write off of a consolidated investment in an historic renovation project,
higher corporate charitable contributions and increased general business taxes.

2003 versus 2002
Percent Change in Operating Profit Versus Prior Year
Change Due To
Total
Change

Consolidated
Personal Care
Consumer Tissue
Business-to-Business
(a)

(2)
6
(10)
5

Volume

4
(1)
6
8

Net
Price

(3)
1
(2)
(9)

Fiber
Cost

(3)
—
(7)
(3)

Currency

3
2
3
6

Other (a)

(3)
4
(10)
3

Includes pension, energy and other costs, net of cost savings achieved.

Consolidated operating profit decreased 1.5 percent. Higher promotional spending, increased fiber, distribution and energy costs, increased pension
expense of approximately $134 million and a higher level of expenses in other income (expense), net more than offset the benefits of cost reduction programs of
about $190 million, favorable currency effects and increased sales volumes. Each of the three business segments incurred more than $40 million of the higher
pension costs. Operating profit as a percentage of net sales decreased from 17.9 percent in 2002 to 16.6 percent in 2003.
•

Operating profit for personal care products increased 5.5 percent primarily because the benefits of cost reduction programs and favorable currency
effects more than offset the lower net selling prices, lower sales volumes and higher raw materials and distribution costs. Although the competitive
environment remained intense through product pricing and promotional activity, North America achieved strong fourth quarter results compared with
the high level of incremental promotional spending in the year-ago quarter associated with diaper and training pant count changes at that time. North
American operating profit for the full year increased because the aggressive cost reduction efforts more than offset lower net selling prices and the
higher pension costs. Operating profit in Europe declined as lower sales volumes more than offset the benefits of cost savings programs. Operating
profit in the developing and emerging markets increased because of the higher net selling prices and favorable currency, tempered by higher
distribution and marketing costs.
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•

Operating profit for consumer tissue products decreased 9.8 percent because the increased sales volumes and cost reductions were more than offset
by higher fiber, distribution and energy costs, the higher pension costs and increased promotional spending. In each of the major regions—North
America, Europe and the developing and emerging markets—operating profit declined generally due to the same factors that affected the segment
overall.

•

Operating profit for the business-to-business segment increased 4.9 percent as the benefits of cost savings programs, the higher sales volumes and
favorable currency effects more than offset lower net selling prices, higher fiber and other materials costs, higher distribution and energy expenses,
and the increased pension costs. Operating profit for professional products rose in both North America and Europe primarily due to cost reductions
and favorable currency effects. Operating profit for health care products increased because of the higher sales volumes, cost savings and favorable
currency effects, tempered by the lower net selling prices.

In 2002, the Corporation recorded charges of approximately $43 million related to business improvement and other programs. Charges related to the plans
to streamline manufacturing and administrative operations in Latin America and Europe totaled $14.3 million and $19.1 million, respectively, and consisted
principally of employee severance of $16.8 million and asset write-off and disposal costs of $8.4 million. The Corporation also recorded charges of approximately
$3 million for employee severance to complete actions that had been initiated in 2001 and approximately $4 million for a one-time national security tax levied on
all corporations in Colombia.
The above 2002 charges were recorded in the business segments as follows: personal care $14.8 million; consumer tissue $21.8 million; business-tobusiness $6.6 million. On a geographic basis, these charges were included as follows: North America $5.8 million; Europe $19.1 million; Asia, Latin America
and other $18.3 million. These charges were included in the consolidated income statement as follows: cost of products sold—$19.1 million, consisting
principally of employee severance and asset write-off costs; marketing, research and general expenses—$24.1 million, consisting principally of severance,
training and other integration costs in Europe.
•

Other income (expense), net in 2003 included the previously mentioned charges of $34 million and nearly $20 million. Included in 2002 were $21
million of charges related to the settlement in December 2002 of securities and shareholder derivative litigation involving Safeskin Corporation
(“Safeskin”) and a charge of $26.5 million for the write-off of tax credits in Brazil. The litigation predated the Corporation’s February 2000
acquisition of Safeskin. In addition, the Corporation recorded currency transaction losses in 2003 compared with gains in 2002. Operating losses
related to the Corporation’s participation in affordable housing and historic renovation projects increased compared with 2002.

Additional Income Statement Commentary
Synthetic Fuel Partnerships
In April 2003, the Corporation acquired a 49.5 percent minority interest in a synthetic fuel partnership. In October 2004, the Corporation acquired a 49
percent minority interest in an additional synthetic fuel partnership. These partnerships are variable interest entities that are subject to the requirements of FIN 46
(Revised December 2003), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB 51, (“FIN 46R”). Although these partnerships are variable
interest entities (“VIEs”), the Corporation is not the primary beneficiary, and the entities have not been consolidated. Synthetic fuel produced by the partnerships
is eligible for synthetic fuel tax credits through 2007.
The production of synthetic fuel results in pretax losses. In 2004 and 2003, these pretax losses totaled $158.4 million and $105.5 million, respectively, and
are reported as nonoperating expense on the Corporation’s
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income statement. The synthetic fuel tax credits, as well as tax deductions for the nonoperating losses, reduce the Corporation’s income tax expense. In 2004 and
2003, the Corporation’s participation in the synthetic fuel partnership resulted in $144.4 million and $94.1 million of tax credits, respectively, and the
nonoperating losses generated an additional $55.4 million and $37.2 million, respectively, of tax benefits, which combined to reduce the Corporation’s income tax
provision by $199.8 million and $131.3 million, respectively. The effect of these benefits increased net income by $41.4 million, $.08 per share in 2004 and $25.8
million, $.05 per share in 2003. The effects of these tax credits are shown separately in the Corporation’s reconciliation of the U.S. statutory rate to its effective
income tax rate in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Because the partnerships have received favorable private letter rulings from the IRS and because the partnerships’ test procedures conform to IRS
guidance, the Corporation’s loss exposure under the synthetic fuel partnerships is minimal.
2004 versus 2003
•

Interest expense decreased primarily because of a lower average level of debt, partially offset by higher interest rates.

•

The Corporation’s effective income tax rate was 22.0 percent in 2004 compared with 23.3 percent in 2003. The lower effective tax rate was primarily
due to the incremental benefits from the synthetic fuel partnership entered into in 2004.

•

The Corporation’s share of net income of equity affiliates increased $17.8 million from 2003 primarily due to higher earnings at Kimberly-Clark de
Mexico, S.A. de C.V. (“KCM”). KCM’s results were boosted by a sales gain of more than 10 percent, with continued double-digit volume growth in
its consumer businesses and higher selling prices.

•

Minority owners’ share of subsidiaries’ net income increased $18.3 million primarily due to higher returns on the preferred securities held by the
minority interest in the Corporation’s consolidated foreign financing subsidiary (as described below under Financing Commentary).

•

Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes decreased 41.1 percent due to transaction costs for the Spin-off and to a lesser extent
because 2004 includes 11 months’ results versus 12 months in 2003 as the Spin-off occurred on November 30, 2004.

•

As a result of the Corporation’s share repurchase program, the average number of common shares outstanding declined, which benefited 2004 results
by $.07 per share.

2003 versus 2002
•

Interest expense decreased primarily due to lower interest rates, partially offset by a higher average level of debt.

•

The Corporation’s effective income tax rate was 23.3 percent in 2003 compared with 28.6 percent in 2002. The lower effective tax rate was primarily
due to the benefits from the synthetic fuel partnership described above.

•

The Corporation’s share of net income of equity affiliates was $107.0 million in 2003 compared with $113.3 million in 2002. The decrease was
primarily due to lower earnings at Kimberly-Clark de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. (“KCM”) primarily because of depreciation in the value of the peso.
KCM’s operating profit benefited from higher sales volumes of about 6 percent and cost savings programs. However, these positive factors could not
overcome higher fiber and other materials costs and negative currency effects.
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•

Minority owners’ share of subsidiaries’ net income decreased 4.3 percent primarily due to Kimberly-Clark Australia Pty. Ltd. becoming a whollyowned subsidiary on June 30, 2002.

•

Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes decreased 13.7 percent primarily because of lower unit sales volumes and higher fiber
costs.

•

As a result of the Corporation’s share repurchase program, the average number of common shares outstanding declined, which benefited 2003 results
by $.07 per share.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Year Ended December 31
2004

2003

(Millions of dollars)

Cash provided by operations
Capital spending
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired
Ratio of total debt and preferred securities to capital (a)
Pretax interest coverage—times
(a)

$ 2,726.2
535.0
—
37.7%
11.5

$ 2,552.2
872.9
258.5
37.1%
11.2

Capital is total debt and preferred securities plus stockholders’ equity and minority owners’ interest in subsidiaries.

Cash Flow Commentary:
•

Cash provided by operations increased $174.0 million or 6.8 percent to a record $2.7 billion reflecting the higher level of net income and noncash
charges included in net income.

•

In 2004, the Corporation contributed $200 million to its pension plan trusts compared with $181.9 million in 2003. The significant level of cash
provided by operations in 2004 allowed the Corporation to make a contribution of $100 million to its U.S. defined benefit pension plan in December
2004, which had originally been planned for 2005. While the Corporation is not required to make a contribution in 2005 to the U.S. plan, the benefit
of an additional contribution will be evaluated. About $38 million will be contributed to plans outside the U.S. in 2005.

Contractual Obligations:
The following table presents the Corporation’s total contractual obligations for which cash flows are fixed or determinable.
Total

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010+

(Millions of dollars)

Contractual obligations
Long-term debt
Interest payments on long-term debt
Operating leases
Unconditional purchase obligations
Open purchase orders

$2,883
1,255
240
2,024
1,084

$ 585
149
76
488
1,084

$ 65
120
57
364
—

$337
116
32
312
—

$ 20
92
22
242
—

$

5
91
17
200
—

$1,871
687
36
418
—

Total contractual obligations

$7,486

$2,382

$606

$797

$376

$313

$3,012
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Obligations Commentary:
•

The unconditional purchase obligations are for the purchase of raw materials, primarily pulp (including the new long-term pulp agreement with
Neenah Paper), and utilities, principally electricity. Although the Corporation is primarily liable for payments on the above operating leases and
unconditional purchase obligations, based on historic operating performance and forecasted future cash flows, management believes the
Corporation’s exposure to losses, if any, under these arrangements is not material.

•

The open purchase orders displayed in the table represent amounts the Corporation anticipates will become payable within the next year for goods
and services it has negotiated for delivery.

The above table does not include future payments that the Corporation will make for other postretirement benefit obligations. Those amounts are estimated
using actuarial assumptions, including expected future service, to project the future obligations. Based upon those projections, the Corporation anticipates making
payments for these obligations within a range from approximately $80 million in 2005 to more than $90 million by 2014.
The table also does not include anticipated payments related to the synthetic fuel partnerships. Such payments will only be made if the partnerships produce
synthetic fuel in future years. The Corporation estimates that it will make payments to these partnerships of approximately $160 million in 2005, 2006 and 2007,
and will receive income tax benefits and credits in excess of these amounts.
Deferred taxes, minority interest and payments related to pension plans are also not included in the table.
A consolidated financing subsidiary has issued preferred securities that are in substance perpetual and are callable by the subsidiary in November 2008 and
each 20-year anniversary thereafter. Management currently anticipates that these securities will not be called in November 2008, the next call date, and therefore
they are not included in the above table (see Financing Commentary below and Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional detail regarding
these securities).
Investing Commentary:
•

During 2004, the Corporation’s capital spending of $535.0 million, which is equal to 3.5 percent of net sales, was below the long-term targeted range
of 5 percent to 6 percent of net sales. The lower level of spending in 2004 resulted from productivity gains and success in leveraging the global scale
of existing production capacity. Management believes the capital spending target range of 5 percent to 6 percent is appropriate.

•

The net increase in time deposits in 2003 was primarily attributable to investment of cash accumulated in Korea.

Financing Commentary:
•

At December 31, 2004, total debt and preferred securities was $4.2 billion, the same as the prior year end.

•

There were no changes in the Corporation’s credit ratings in 2004. In July 2003, Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) revised the Corporation’s credit rating
for long-term debt from AA to AA-. Moody’s Investor Service maintained its short- and long-term ratings but changed the Corporation’s outlook to
negative from stable, indicating that a ratings downgrade could be possible. These changes were primarily based on the Corporation’s business
performance in the heightened competitive environment and because S&P changed the way in which it evaluates liabilities for pensions and other
postretirement benefits.
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Management believes that these actions will not have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s access to credit or its borrowing costs since these
credit ratings remain strong. The Corporation’s commercial paper continues to be rated in the top category.
•

At December 31, 2004, the Corporation had $1.2 billion of revolving credit facilities. These facilities, unused at December 31, 2004, permit
borrowing at competitive interest rates and are available for general corporate purposes, including backup for commercial paper borrowings. The
Corporation pays commitment fees on the unused portion but may cancel the facilities without penalty at any time prior to their expiration. Of these
facilities, $600 million expires in September 2005 and the balance expires in November 2009. The Corporation anticipates that these facilities will be
renewed when they expire.

•

In February 2001, the Corporation formed a Luxembourg-based financing subsidiary. The subsidiary issued 1 million shares of voting-preferred
securities with an aggregate par value of $520 million to a nonaffiliated entity for cash proceeds of $516.5 million. In June 2004, the nonaffiliated
entity invested an additional $125 million, increasing the aggregate par value of the voting-preferred securities held by the nonaffiliated entity (the
“Securities”). In conjunction with this transaction, the fixed annual rate of return on the Securities was increased from 4.47 percent to 4.56 percent.
Approximately 97 percent of these funds were loaned to the Corporation which used them to reduce its outstanding commercial paper. See Note 5 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

•

For the full year 2004, the Corporation repurchased approximately 24.8 million shares of its common stock at a cost of about $1.6 billion, including
6.8 million shares repurchased during the fourth quarter at a cost of approximately $429 million. The monthly detail of share repurchases for the
fourth quarter of 2004 is included in Part II Item 5 of this Form 10-K. On June 8, 2004, the Corporation’s board of directors authorized the
repurchase of an additional 25 million shares of the Corporation’s common stock during the next several years.

Management believes that the Corporation’s ability to generate cash from operations and its capacity to issue short-term and long-term debt are adequate to
fund working capital, capital spending, payment of dividends, repurchases of common stock and other needs in the foreseeable future.
Variable Interest Entities
The Corporation has variable interests in the following financing and real estate entities and in the synthetic fuel partnerships described above.
Financing Entities
The Corporation holds a significant variable interest in two financing entities that were used to monetize long-term notes received from the sale of certain
nonstrategic timberlands and related assets, which were sold in 1999 and 1989 to nonaffiliated buyers. These transactions qualified for the installment method of
accounting for income tax purposes and met the criteria for immediate profit recognition for financial reporting purposes contained in SFAS 66, Accounting for
Sales of Real Estate. These sales involved notes receivable with an aggregate face value of $617 million and a fair value of approximately $593 million at the date
of sale. The notes receivable are backed by irrevocable standby letters of credit issued by money center banks, which aggregated $617 million at December 31,
2004.
Because the Corporation desired to monetize the $617 million of notes receivable and continue the deferral of current income taxes on the gains, in 1999
the Corporation transferred the notes received from the 1999 sale to a noncontrolled financing entity, and in 2000 it transferred the notes received from the 1989
sale to another noncontrolled financing entity. The Corporation has minority voting interests in each of the financing entities
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(collectively, the “Financing Entities”). The transfers of the notes and certain other assets to the Financing Entities were made at fair value, were accounted for as
asset sales and resulted in no gain or loss. In conjunction with the transfer of the notes and other assets, the Financing Entities became obligated for $617 million
in third-party debt financing. A nonaffiliated financial institution has made substantive capital investments in each of the Financing Entities, has majority voting
control over them and has substantive risks and rewards of ownership of the assets in the Financing Entities. The Corporation also contributed intercompany notes
receivable aggregating $662 million and intercompany preferred stock of $50 million to the Financing Entities, which serve as secondary collateral for the thirdparty lending arrangements. In the unlikely event of default by both of the money center banks that provided the irrevocable standby letters of credit, the
Corporation could experience a maximum loss of $617 million under these arrangements.
The Corporation has not consolidated the Financing Entities because it is not the primary beneficiary of either entity. Rather, it will continue to account for
its ownership interests in these entities using the equity method of accounting. The Corporation retains equity interests in the Financing Entities for which the
legal right of offset exists against the intercompany notes. As a result, the intercompany notes payable have been offset against the Corporation’s equity interests
in the Financing Entities for financial reporting purposes.
See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the Corporation’s Luxembourg-based financing subsidiary, which is consolidated
because the Corporation is the primary beneficiary of the entity.
Real Estate Entities
Effective March 31, 2004, the Corporation adopted FIN 46R for its real estate entities described below. In 1994, the Corporation began participating in the
U.S. affordable and historic renovation real estate markets. Investments in these markets are encouraged by laws enacted by the United States Congress and
related federal income tax rules and regulations. Accordingly, these investments generate income tax credits and tax losses that are used to reduce the
Corporation’s income tax liabilities. The Corporation has invested in these markets through (i) partnership arrangements in which it is a limited partner, (ii)
limited liability companies (“LLCs”) in which it is a nonmanaging member and (iii) investments in various funds in which the Corporation is one of many
noncontrolling investors. These entities borrow money from third parties generally on a nonrecourse basis and invest in and own various real estate projects.
Adoption of FIN 46R required the Corporation to consolidate ten apartment projects and two hotels because it was the primary beneficiary of each of these
real estate ventures. The carrying amount of the assets that serve as collateral for $98.4 million of obligations of these ventures was $147.5 million at December
31, 2004, and these assets are classified as property, plant and equipment on the consolidated balance sheet. The Corporation also has guaranteed $14.6 million of
the obligations of these ventures.
The Corporation accounts for its interests in real estate entities that are not consolidated under FIN 46R by the equity method of accounting or by the
effective yield method, as appropriate, and has accounted for the related income tax credits and other tax benefits as a reduction in its income tax provision. As of
December 31, 2004, the Corporation had a net equity of $21.2 million in its nonconsolidated real estate entities. The Corporation has earned income tax credits
totaling approximately $71.8 million, $59.3 million and $49.9 million for December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. As of December 31, 2004, total
permanent financing debt for the nonconsolidated entities was $221.9 million. A total of $7.6 million of the permanent financing debt is guaranteed by the
Corporation and the remainder of this debt is not supported or guaranteed by the Corporation. Except for the guaranteed portion, permanent financing debt is
secured solely by the properties and is nonrecourse to the Corporation. From time to time, temporary interim financing is guaranteed by the
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Corporation. In general, the Corporation’s interim financing guarantees are eliminated at the time permanent financing is obtained. At December 31, 2004, $27.9
million of temporary interim financing associated with these nonconsolidated real estate entities was guaranteed by the Corporation.
If the Corporation’s investments in its nonconsolidated real estate entities were to be disposed of at their carrying amounts, a portion of the tax credits may
be recaptured and may result in a charge to earnings. As of December 31, 2004, this recapture risk is estimated to be $31.1 million. The Corporation has no
current intention of disposing of these investments during the recapture period, nor does it anticipate the need to do so in the foreseeable future in order to satisfy
any anticipated liquidity need. Accordingly, the recapture risk is considered to be remote.
At December 31, 2004, the Corporation’s maximum loss exposure for its nonconsolidated real estate entities is estimated to be $87.8 million and was
comprised of its net equity in these entities of $21.2 million, its permanent financing guarantees of $7.6 million, its interim financing guarantees of $27.9 million
and the income tax credit recapture risk of $31.1 million.
Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of net sales and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates, and changes in these estimates are recorded when known. The critical accounting
policies used by management in the preparation of the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements are those that are important both to the presentation of the
Corporation’s financial condition and results of operations and require significant judgments by management with regard to estimates used. The critical
judgments by management relate to consumer and trade promotion and rebate accruals, pension benefits, retained insurable risks, excess and obsolete inventory,
allowance for doubtful accounts, useful lives for depreciation and amortization, future cash flows associated with impairment testing for goodwill and long-lived
assets and for determining the primary beneficiary of variable interest entities, deferred tax assets and potential income tax assessments, and contingencies. The
Corporation’s critical accounting policies have been reviewed with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.
Promotion and Rebate Accruals
Among those factors affecting the accruals for promotions are estimates of the number of consumer coupons that will be redeemed and the type and
number of activities within promotional programs between the Corporation and its trade customers. Rebate accruals are based on estimates of the quantity of
products distributors have sold to specific customers. Generally, the estimates for consumer coupon costs are based on historical patterns of coupon redemption,
influenced by judgments about current market conditions such as competitive activity in specific product categories. Estimates of trade promotion liabilities for
promotional program costs incurred, but unpaid, are generally based on estimates of the quantity of customer sales, timing of promotional activities and
forecasted costs for activities within the promotional programs. Settlement of these liabilities sometimes occurs in periods subsequent to the date of the promotion
activity. Trade promotion programs include introductory marketing funds such as slotting fees, cooperative marketing programs, temporary price reductions,
favorable end of aisle or in-store product displays and other activities conducted by the customers to promote the Corporation’s products. Promotion accruals as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $263.3 million and $222.0 million, respectively. Rebate accruals as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $163.0 million
and $136.4 million, respectively.
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Pension Benefits
The Corporation and its subsidiaries in North America and the United Kingdom have defined benefit pension plans (the “Principal Plans”) and/or defined
contribution retirement plans covering substantially all regular employees. Certain other subsidiaries have defined benefit pension plans or, in certain countries,
termination pay plans covering substantially all regular employees. The funding policy for the qualified defined benefit plans in North America and the defined
benefit plans in the United Kingdom is to contribute assets to fully fund the accumulated benefit obligation (“ABO”). Subject to regulatory and tax deductibility
limits, any funding shortfall will be eliminated over a reasonable number of years. Nonqualified U.S. plans providing pension benefits in excess of limitations
imposed by the U.S. income tax code are not funded. Funding for the remaining defined benefit plans outside the U.S. is based on legal requirements, tax
considerations, investment opportunities, and customary business practices in such countries.
Consolidated pension expense for defined benefit pension plans was $154.8 million in 2004 compared with $165.9 million for 2003. Pension expense is
calculated based upon a number of actuarial assumptions applied to each of the defined benefit plans. The weighted-average expected long-term rate of return on
pension fund assets used to calculate pension expense was 8.32 percent in 2004 compared with 8.42 percent in 2003 and will be 8.29 percent in 2005. The
expected long-term rate of return on pension fund assets was determined based on several factors, including input from our pension investment consultants and
projected long-term returns of broad equity and bond indices. We also considered our U.S. plan’s historical 10-year and 15-year compounded annual returns of
10.92 percent and 9.66 percent, respectively, which have been in excess of these broad equity and bond benchmark indices. We anticipate that on average the
investment managers for each of the plans comprising the Principal Plans will generate annual long-term rates of return of at least 8.5 percent. Our expected longterm rate of return on the assets in the Principal Plans is based on an asset allocation assumption of about 70 percent with equity managers, with expected longterm rates of return of approximately 10 percent, and 30 percent with fixed income managers, with an expected long-term rate of return of about 6 percent. We
regularly review our actual asset allocation and periodically rebalance our investments to our targeted allocation when considered appropriate. Also, when
deemed appropriate, we execute hedging strategies using index options and futures to limit the downside exposure of certain investments by trading off upside
potential above an acceptable level. We executed such hedging strategies in 2003 and 2002. No hedging instruments are currently in place. We will continue to
evaluate our long-term rate of return assumptions at least annually and will adjust them as necessary.
We determine pension expense on the fair value of assets rather than a calculated value that averages gains and losses (“Calculated Value”) over a period of
years. Investment gains or losses represent the difference between the expected return calculated using the fair value of assets and the actual return based on the
fair value of assets. We recognize the variance between actual and expected gains and losses on pension assets in pension expense more rapidly than we would if
we used a Calculated Value for plan assets. As of December 31, 2004, the Principal Plans had cumulative unrecognized investment losses and other actuarial
losses of approximately $1.7 billion. These unrecognized net losses may increase our future pension expense if not offset by (i) actual investment returns that
exceed the assumed investment returns, or (ii) other factors, including reduced pension liabilities arising from higher discount rates used to calculate our pension
obligations, or (iii) other actuarial gains, including whether such accumulated actuarial losses at each measurement date exceed the “corridor” determined under
SFAS 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions.
The discount (or settlement) rate we used to determine the present value of our future U.S. pension obligations at December 31, 2004 was based on a yield
curve constructed from a portfolio of high quality corporate debt securities with maturities ranging from 1 year to 30 years. Each year’s expected future benefit
payments were discounted to their present value at the appropriate yield curve rate thereby generating the overall discount rate for our U.S. pension obligations.
For our non-U.S. Principal Plans, we established discount rates
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using the long-term local government bond rates increased by the interest rate spread between the U.S. discount rate and long-term U.S. government bond rates.
The weighted-average discount rate for the Principal Plans decreased to 5.77 percent at December 31, 2004 from 5.97 percent at December 31, 2003.
We estimate that our consolidated pension expense will approximate $160 million in 2005. This estimate reflects the effect of the actuarial losses and is
based on an expected weighted-average long-term rate of return on assets in the Principal Plans of 8.50 percent, a weighted-average discount rate for the Principal
Plans of 5.77 percent and various other assumptions. Pension expense beyond 2005 will depend on future investment performance, the Corporation’s
contributions to the pension trusts, changes in discount rates and various other factors related to the covered employees in the plans.
If the expected long-term rate of return on assets for our Principal Plans was lowered by 0.25 percent, our annual pension expense would increase by
approximately $9 million. If the discount rate assumptions for these same plans were reduced by 0.25 percent, our annual pension expense would increase by
approximately $13 million and our December 31, 2004 minimum pension liability would increase by about $147 million.
The fair value of the assets in our defined benefit plans was $4.0 billion at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003. Lower discount rates have caused
the projected benefit obligations (the “PBO”) of the defined benefit plans to exceed the fair value of plan assets by approximately $1.2 billion at December 31,
2004 and December 31, 2003. Primarily due to the lower discount rates, the ABO of our defined benefit plans exceeded plan assets by about $.9 billion at the end
of 2004. At the end of 2003, the ABO exceeded the fair value of plan assets by about $.8 billion. On a consolidated basis, the Corporation contributed about $200
million to pension trusts in 2004 compared with $181.9 million in 2003. In addition, the Corporation made direct benefit payments of $21.4 million in 2004
compared to $29.7 million in 2003. While the Corporation is not required to make a contribution in 2005 to the U.S. plan, the benefit of a contribution will be
evaluated. About $38 million will be contributed to plans outside the U.S. in 2005.
The discount rate used for each country’s pension obligation is identical to the discount rate used for that country’s other postretirement obligation. The
discount rates displayed for the two types of obligations for the Corporation’s consolidated operations may appear different due to the weighting used in the
calculation of the two weighted-average discount rates.
Retained Insurable Risks
We retain selected insurable risks, primarily related to property damage, workers’ compensation, and product, automobile and premises liability based upon
historical loss patterns and management’s judgment of cost effective risk retention. Accrued liabilities for incurred but not reported events, principally related to
workers compensation and automobile liability, are based upon loss development factors provided to us by our external insurance brokers.
Excess and Obsolete Inventory
We require all excess, obsolete, damaged or off-quality inventories including raw materials, in-process, finished goods, and spare parts to be adequately
reserved for or to be disposed of. Our process requires an ongoing tracking of the aging of inventories to be reviewed in conjunction with current marketing plans
to ensure that any excess or obsolete inventories are identified on a timely basis. This process requires judgments be made about the salability of existing stock in
relation to sales projections. The evaluation of the adequacy of provision for obsolete and excess inventories is performed on at least a quarterly basis. No
provisions for future obsolescence, damage or off-quality inventories are made.
33

Table of Contents
PART II
(Continued)
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We provide an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents our best estimate of the accounts receivable that will not be collected. We base our estimate
on, among other things, historical collection experience, a review of the current aging status of customer receivables, and a review of specific information for
those customers that are deemed to be higher risk. When we become aware of a customer whose continued operating success is questionable, we closely monitor
collection of their receivable balance and may require the customer to prepay for current shipments. If a customer enters a bankruptcy action, we monitor the
progress of that action to determine when and if an additional provision for non-collectibility is warranted. We evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for
doubtful accounts on at least a quarterly basis. The allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $42.5 million and $47.9 million,
respectively, and our write-off of uncollectible accounts was $13.6 million and $15.5 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Property and Depreciation
Estimating the useful lives of property, plant and equipment requires the exercise of management judgment, and actual lives may differ from these
estimates. Changes to these initial useful life estimates are made when appropriate. Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment in accordance with
SFAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of
such long-lived assets may not be recoverable from future net pretax cash flows. Impairment testing requires significant management judgment including
estimating the future success of product lines, future sales volumes, growth rates for selling prices and costs, alternative uses for the assets and estimated proceeds
from disposal of the assets. Impairment testing is conducted at the lowest level where cash flows can be measured and are independent of cash flows of other
assets. An asset impairment would be indicated if the sum of the expected future net pretax cash flows from the use of the asset (undiscounted and without
interest charges) is less than the carrying amount of the asset. An impairment loss would be measured based on the difference between the fair value of the asset
and its carrying amount. We determine fair value based on an expected present value technique in which multiple cash flow scenarios that reflect a range of
possible outcomes and a risk free rate of interest are used to estimate fair value.
The estimates and assumptions used in the impairment analysis are consistent with the business plans and estimates we use to manage our business
operations and to make acquisition and divestiture decisions. The use of different assumptions would increase or decrease the estimated fair value of the asset and
would increase or decrease the impairment charge. Actual outcomes may differ from the estimates. For example, if our products fail to achieve volume and
pricing estimates or if market conditions change or other significant estimates are not realized, then our revenue and cost forecasts may not be achieved, and we
may be required to recognize additional impairment charges.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
We test the carrying amount of goodwill annually as of the beginning of the fourth quarter and whenever events or circumstances indicate that impairment
may have occurred. Impairment testing is performed in accordance with SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Impairment testing is conducted at the
operating segment level of our businesses and is based on a discounted cash flow approach to determine the fair value of each operating segment. The
determination of fair value requires significant management judgment including estimating future sales volumes, growth rates of selling prices and costs, changes
in working capital, investments in property and equipment and the selection of an appropriate discount rate. We also test the sensitivities of these fair value
estimates to changes in our growth assumptions of sales volumes, selling prices and costs. If the carrying amount of an operating segment that contains goodwill
exceeds fair value, a possible
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impairment would be indicated. If a possible impairment is indicated, we would estimate the implied fair value of goodwill by comparing the carrying amount of
the net assets of the unit excluding goodwill to the total fair value of the unit. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment
charge would be recorded. We also use judgment in assessing whether we need to test more frequently for impairment than annually. Factors such as unexpected
adverse economic conditions, competition, product changes and other external events may require more frequent assessments. We have completed our annual
goodwill impairment testing and have determined that none of our $2.7 billion of goodwill is impaired.
We have no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. We have other intangible assets with a gross carrying amount of approximately $276 million and a
net carrying amount of about $185 million. These intangibles are being amortized over their estimated useful lives and are tested for impairment whenever events
or circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred. If the carrying amount of an intangible asset exceeds its fair value based on estimated future
undiscounted cash flows, an impairment loss would be indicated. The amount of the impairment loss to be recorded would be based on the excess of the carrying
amount of the intangible asset over its discounted future cash flows. We use judgment in assessing whether the carrying amount of our intangible assets is not
expected to be recoverable over their estimated remaining useful lives. The factors considered are similar to those outlined in the goodwill impairment discussion
above.
Primary Beneficiary Determination of Variable Interest Entities
The determination of the primary beneficiary of variable interest entities under FIN 46R requires estimating the probable future cash flows of each VIE
using a computer simulation model, determining the variability of such cash flows and their present values. Estimating the probable future cash flows of each VIE
requires the exercise of significant management judgment. The resulting present values are then allocated to the various participants in each VIE in accordance
with their beneficial interests. The participant that is allocated the majority of the present value of the variability is the primary beneficiary and is required to
consolidate the VIE under FIN 46R.
Deferred Income Taxes and Potential Assessments
As of December 31, 2004, the Corporation has recorded deferred tax assets related to income tax loss carryforwards and income tax credit carryforwards
totaling $519.5 million and has established valuation allowances against these deferred tax assets of $252.4 million, thereby resulting in a net deferred tax asset of
$267.1 million. As of December 31, 2003, the net deferred tax asset was $220.1 million. These income tax losses and credits are in non-U.S. taxing jurisdictions
and in certain states within the U.S. In determining the valuation allowances to establish against these deferred tax assets, the Corporation considers many factors,
including the specific taxing jurisdiction, the carryforward period, income tax strategies and forecasted earnings for the entities in each jurisdiction. A valuation
allowance is recognized if, based on the weight of available evidence, the Corporation concludes that it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax asset will not be realized.
As of December 31, 2004, United States income taxes and foreign withholding taxes have not been provided on approximately $4.0 billion of unremitted
earnings of subsidiaries operating outside the U.S. in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion 23, Accounting for Income Taxes, Special
Areas. These earnings are considered by management to be invested indefinitely. However, they would be subject to income tax if they were remitted as
dividends, were lent to the Corporation or a U.S. affiliate, or if the Corporation were to sell its stock in the subsidiaries. It is not practicable to determine the
amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability on these unremitted earnings. We periodically determine whether our non-U.S. subsidiaries will invest
their undistributed earnings indefinitely and reassess this determination as appropriate. The
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Corporation currently is evaluating the effect of the American Jobs Creation Act on the unremitted earnings of its non-U.S. subsidiaries and expects to complete
that evaluation by June 30, 2005. At this time, it is not possible to reasonably estimate the amount of unremitted earnings that may be repatriated and the income
tax effects of such repatriation.
The Corporation records liabilities in current income taxes for potential assessments. The accruals relate to uncertain tax positions in a variety of taxing
jurisdictions and are based on what management believes will be the ultimate resolution of these positions. These liabilities may be affected by changing
interpretations of laws, rulings by tax authorities, or the expiration of the statute of limitations. The Corporation’s U.S. federal income tax returns have been
audited through 2001. IRS assessments of additional taxes have been paid through 1998. Refund actions are pending in Federal District Court or the IRS Appeals
Office for the years 1987 through 1998. Management currently believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not
have a material effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
Contingencies and Legal Matters
Litigation
The following is a brief description of certain legal and administrative proceedings to which the Corporation or its subsidiaries is a party or to which the
Corporation’s or its subsidiaries’ properties are subject. In management’s opinion, none of the legal and administrative proceedings described below, individually
or in the aggregate, is expected to have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
As of December 31, 2004, the Corporation, along with many other nonaffiliated companies, was a party to lawsuits with allegations of personal injury
resulting from asbestos exposure on the defendants’ premises and allegations that the defendants manufactured, sold, distributed or installed products which cause
asbestos-related lung disease. These general allegations are often made against the Corporation without any apparent evidence or identification of a specific
product or premises of the Corporation. The Corporation has denied the allegations and raised numerous defenses in all of these asbestos cases. All asbestos
claims have been tendered to the Corporation’s insurance carriers for defense and indemnity. The financial statements reflect appropriate accruals for the
Corporation’s portion of the costs estimated to be incurred in connection with resolving these claims.
Contingency
One of the Corporation’s North American tissue mills has an agreement to provide its local utility company a specified amount of electric power for each of
the next 12 years. In the event that the mill was shut down, the Corporation would be required to continue to operate the power generation facility on behalf of its
owner, the local utility company. The net present value of the cost to fulfill this agreement as of December 31, 2004 is estimated to be approximately $120
million. Management considers the probability of closure of this mill to be remote.
Environmental Matters
The Corporation has been named a potentially responsible party under the provisions of the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act, or analogous state statutes, at a number of waste disposal sites, none of which, individually or in the aggregate, in management’s
opinion, is likely to have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
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New Accounting Standards
In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 151, Inventory Costs - an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4. SFAS 151 clarifies the accounting for
abnormal amounts of idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs, and spoilage. It also requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory be
based on the normal capacity of production facilities. SFAS 151 is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005.
Adoption of SFAS 151 will not have a material effect on the Corporation’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”), which revises SFAS 123, Accounting for StockBased Compensation. SFAS 123R also supersedes APB 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and amends SFAS 95, Statement of Cash Flows. In
general, the accounting required by SFAS 123R is similar to that of SFAS 123. However, SFAS 123 gave companies a choice to either recognize the fair value of
stock options in their income statements or to disclose the pro forma income statement effect of the fair value of stock options in the notes to the financial
statements. SFAS 123R eliminates that choice and requires the fair value of all share-based payments to employees, including the fair value of grants of employee
stock options, be recognized in the income statement, generally over the option vesting period. SFAS 123R must be adopted no later than July 1, 2005. Early
adoption is permitted.
SFAS 123R permits adoption of its requirements using one of two transition methods:
1. A modified prospective transition (“MPT”) method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) for all sharebased payments granted after the effective date and (b) for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date that remain unvested on the effective
date.
2. A modified retrospective transition (“MRT”) method which includes the requirements of the MPT method described above, but also permits
restatement of financial statements based on the amounts previously disclosed under SFAS 123’s pro forma disclosure requirements either for (a) all prior
periods presented or (b) prior interim periods of the year of adoption.
The Corporation is currently evaluating the timing and manner in which it will adopt SFAS 123R.
As permitted by SFAS 123, the Corporation currently accounts for share-based payments to employees using APB 25’s intrinsic value method and, as such,
has recognized no compensation cost for employee stock options. Accordingly, adoption of SFAS 123R’s fair value method will have a slight effect on results of
operations, although it will have no impact on overall financial position. The impact of adoption of SFAS 123R cannot be predicted at this time because it will
depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future. However, had SFAS 123R been adopted in prior periods, the effect would have approximated the
SFAS 123 pro forma net income and earnings per share disclosures shown in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
SFAS 123R also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an
operating cash flow as currently required, thereby reducing net operating cash flows and increasing net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. While
those amounts cannot be estimated for future periods (because they depend on, among other things, when employees will exercise the stock options and the
market price of the Corporation’s stock at the time of exercise), the amount of operating cash flows generated in prior periods for such excess tax deductions was
$30.9 million, $7.4 million and $9.9 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Business Outlook
For 2005, the Corporation is targeting sales growth of 3 to 5 percent, consistent with its long-term objective. Based on plans to drive innovation, the gain is
expected to come largely from improvement in sales volumes,
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with price, mix and currency assumed to be about flat. The Corporation is targeting to deliver $150 million in cost savings, which should help improve operating
profit margin by up to 20 basis points despite inflationary cost increases. The Corporation expects to deliver earnings of $3.70 to $3.85 per share for the year,
representing mid to high single-digit growth compared with net income from continuing operations of $3.55 in 2004.
Cash flow is expected to continue to be strong which will enable the Corporation to again return a significant amount of cash to shareholders in 2005.
Common share repurchases are currently targeted to be at least $1 billion during the year and dividends on common stock have been increased by 12.5 percent
effective with the April payment. Capital spending is estimated to be $800 million in 2005, which should be toward the low end of the Corporation’s long-term
target of 5 to 6 percent of net sales.
For the first quarter of 2005, earnings are expected to be in a range of 92 to 94 cents per share compared with earnings per share from continuing operations
of 88 cents in 2004. This would represent growth of approximately 5 to 7 percent, similar to the expected level of improvement for the full year. The Corporation
is planning to step up its marketing spending in the quarter compared with the prior year to support a very active schedule of product launches, including Huggies
toiletries, new Pull-Ups training pants with Wetness Indicators and Scott Extra Soft bathroom tissue. The Corporation also expects to face continued cost
increases in the first quarter, particularly for fiber as well as resin and other oil-based materials.
Information Concerning Forward-Looking Statements
Certain matters discussed in this report concerning, among other things, the business outlook, including new product introductions, cost savings,
anticipated financial and operating results, strategies, contingencies and contemplated transactions of the Corporation, constitute forward-looking statements and
are based upon management’s expectations and beliefs concerning future events impacting the Corporation. There can be no assurance that these events will
occur or that the Corporation’s results will be as estimated.
The assumptions used as a basis for the forward-looking statements include many estimates that, among other things, depend on the achievement of future
cost savings and projected volume increases. In addition, many factors outside the control of the Corporation, including the prices and availability of the
Corporation’s raw materials, potential competitive pressures on selling prices or advertising and promotion expenses for the Corporation’s products, and
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, as well as general economic conditions in the markets in which the Corporation does business, also could impact
the realization of such estimates.
For a description of these and other factors that could cause the Corporation’s future results to differ materially from those expressed in any such forwardlooking statements, see Item I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K entitled “Factors That May Affect Future Results.”
ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As a multinational enterprise, the Corporation is exposed to risks such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices.
A variety of practices are employed to manage these risks, including operating and financing activities and, where deemed appropriate, the use of derivative
instruments. Derivative instruments are used only for risk management purposes and not for speculation or trading. All foreign currency derivative instruments
are either exchange traded or are entered into with major financial institutions. The Corporation’s credit exposure under these arrangements is limited to these
agreements with a positive fair value at the reporting date. Credit risk with respect to the counterparties is considered minimal in view of the financial strength of
the counterparties.
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Presented below is a description of our most significant risks (foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity price risk) together with a sensitivity
analysis, performed annually, of each of these risks based on selected changes in market rates and prices. These analyses reflect our view of changes which are
reasonably possible to occur over a one-year period.
Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is managed by the systematic use of foreign currency forward, option and swap contracts. The use of these instruments allows
management of transactional exposure to exchange rate fluctuations because the gains or losses incurred on the derivative instruments will offset, in whole or in
part, losses or gains on the underlying foreign currency exposure. Prior to 2004, foreign currency risk was managed by the selective, rather than the systematic,
use of foreign currency forward, option and swap contracts. Management does not foresee or expect any significant change in its foreign currency risk exposures
or in the strategies it employs to manage them in the near future.
Foreign currency contracts and transactional exposures are sensitive to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We perform an annual test to quantify
the effects that possible changes in foreign currency exchange rates would have on our annual operating profit based on the foreign currency contracts and
transactional exposures of the Corporation and its foreign affiliates at the current year-end. The balance sheet effect is calculated by multiplying each affiliate’s
net monetary asset or liability position by a 10 percent change in the foreign currency exchange rate versus the U.S. dollar. The results of this sensitivity test are
presented in the following paragraph.
As of December 31, 2004, a 10 percent unfavorable change in the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar against the prevailing market rates of foreign currencies
involving balance sheet transactional exposures would have resulted in a net pretax loss of approximately $43 million. These hypothetical losses on transactional
exposures are based on the difference between the December 31, 2004 rates and the assumed rates. In the view of management, the above hypothetical losses
resulting from these assumed changes in foreign currency exchange rates are not material to the Corporation’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
The translation of the balance sheets of our non-U.S. operations from local currencies into U.S. dollars is also sensitive to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. Consequently, we perform an annual test to determine if changes in currency exchange rates would have a significant effect on the translation of
the balance sheets of our non-U.S. operations into U.S. dollars. These translation gains or losses are recorded as unrealized translation adjustments (“UTA”)
within stockholders’ equity. The hypothetical increase in UTA is calculated by multiplying the net assets of these non-U.S. operations by a 10 percent change in
the currency exchange rates. The results of this sensitivity test are presented in the following paragraph.
As of December 31, 2004, a 10 percent unfavorable change in the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar against the prevailing market rates of our foreign
currency translation exposures would have reduced stockholders’ equity by approximately $638 million. These hypothetical adjustments in UTA are based on the
difference between the December 31, 2004 exchange rates and the assumed rates. In the view of management, the above UTA adjustments resulting from these
assumed changes in foreign currency exchange rates are not material to the Corporation’s consolidated financial position.
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is managed through the maintenance of a portfolio of variable- and fixed-rate debt composed of short- and long-term instruments. The
objective is to maintain a cost-effective mix that management
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deems appropriate. At December 31, 2004, the debt portfolio was composed of approximately 35 percent variable-rate debt and 65 percent fixed-rate debt. The
strategy employed to manage exposure to interest rate fluctuations consists primarily of a target mix of fixed and floating rate debt. The Corporation’s target for
variable rate debt is 40 percent to 50 percent and is designed to balance the Corporation’s cost of financing with its interest rate risk.
We perform two separate tests to determine whether changes in interest rates would have a significant effect on our financial position or future results of
operations. Both tests are based on our consolidated debt levels at the time of the test. The first test estimates the effect of interest rate changes on our fixed-rate
debt. Interest rate changes would result in gains or losses in the market value of fixed-rate debt due to differences between the current market interest rates and the
rates governing these instruments. With respect to fixed-rate debt outstanding at December 31, 2004, a 10 percent decrease in interest rates would have increased
the fair value of fixed-rate debt by about $110 million. The second test estimates the potential effect on future pretax income that would result from increased
interest rates applied to our current level of variable-rate debt. With respect to commercial paper and other variable-rate debt, a 10 percent increase in interest
rates would not have had a material effect on the future results of operations or cash flows.
Commodity Price Risk
The Corporation is subject to commodity price risk, the most significant of which relates to the price of pulp. Selling prices of tissue products are
influenced, in part, by the market price for pulp, which is determined by industry supply and demand. On a worldwide basis prior to the Spin-off, the Corporation
supplied approximately 40 percent of its virgin fiber needs from internal pulp manufacturing operations. The Spin-off has reduced the internal pulp supply to
approximately 10 percent. As previously discussed under Factors That May Affect Future Results, increases in pulp prices could adversely affect earnings if
selling prices are not adjusted or if such adjustments significantly trail the increases in pulp prices. Derivative instruments have not been used to manage these
risks.
In addition, the Corporation is subject to price risk for utilities, primarily natural gas, which are used in its manufacturing operations. Derivative
instruments are used to hedge a portion of this risk when it is deemed prudent to do so by management.
Management does not believe that these risks are material to the Corporation’s business or its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.
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ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Year Ended December 31
2004

2003

2002

(Millions of dollars, except
per share amounts)

Net Sales
Cost of products sold

$ 15,083.2
10,014.7

$ 14,026.3
9,231.9

$ 13,231.5
8,537.7

Gross Profit
Marketing, research and general expenses
Other (income) expense, net

5,068.5
2,510.9
51.2

4,794.4
2,350.3
112.5

4,693.8
2,251.8
73.7

Operating Profit
Nonoperating expense
Interest income
Interest expense

2,506.4
(158.4)
17.9
(162.5)

2,331.6
(105.5)
18.0
(167.8)

2,368.3
—
15.7
(181.9)

Income Before Income Taxes, Equity Interests, Discontinued Operations and Cumulative Effect of
Accounting Change
Provision for income taxes
Share of net income of equity companies
Minority owners’ share of subsidiaries’ net income

2,203.4
(483.9)
124.8
(73.9)

2,076.3
(484.1)
107.0
(55.6)

2,202.1
(629.9)
113.3
(58.1)

Income From Continuing Operations
Income From Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes

1,770.4
29.8

1,643.6
50.6

1,627.4
58.6

Income Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of income taxes

1,800.2
—

1,694.2
—

1,686.0
(11.4)

Net Income

$ 1,800.2

$ 1,694.2

$ 1,674.6

Per Share Basis
Basic
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting change

$

3.58
.06
—

$

3.24
.10
—

$

3.15
.11
(.02)

$

3.64

$

3.34

$

3.24

$

3.55
.06
—

$

3.23
.10
—

$

3.13
.11
(.02)

$

3.61

$

3.33

$

3.22

Net income
Diluted
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Net income
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
December 31
2004

2003

(Millions of dollars)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets

$

Total Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment, net
Investments in Equity Companies
Goodwill
Other Assets

594.0
2,038.3
1,670.9
278.2
380.5

$

290.6
1,955.1
1,563.4
281.4
347.6

4,961.9
7,990.5
444.4
2,702.9
918.3

4,438.1
8,263.4
427.7
2,649.1
1,001.6

$ 17,018.0

$ 16,779.9

$ 1,214.7
983.2
265.5
1,431.6
448.0
194.2

$

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Debt payable within one year
Trade accounts payable
Other payables
Accrued expenses
Accrued income taxes
Dividends payable
Total Current Liabilities
Long-Term Debt
Noncurrent Employee Benefit and Other Obligations
Deferred Income Taxes
Minority Owners’ Interests in Subsidiaries
Preferred Securities of Subsidiary
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock—no par value—authorized 20.0 million shares, none issued
Common stock—$1.25 par value—authorized 1.2 billion shares; issued 568.6 million shares at December 31, 2004 and
2003
Additional paid-in capital
Common stock held in treasury, at cost—85.7 million and 67.0 million shares at December 31, 2004 and 2003
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Retained earnings
Unearned compensation on restricted stock
Total Stockholders’ Equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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4,537.2
2,298.0
1,621.7
840.3
368.4
722.9
—

864.3
857.9
283.5
1,374.7
367.2
171.1
3,918.7
2,733.7
1,614.4
880.6
298.3
567.9
—

710.8
348.6
(5,047.5)
(1,226.0)
11,865.9
(22.3)

710.8
406.9
(3,818.1)
(1,565.4)
11,059.2
(27.1)

6,629.5

6,766.3

$ 17,018.0

$ 16,779.9
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KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock
Issued

Balance at December 31, 2001
Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized translation
Minimum pension liability
Other

Shares

Amount

568,597
—

$ 710.8
—

—
—
—

Treasury Stock
Additional
Paid-in
Capital

$

—
—
—

415.6
—
—
—
—

Shares

Amount

Unearned
Compensation
on Restricted
Stock

Retained
Earnings

(Dollars in millions, shares in thousands)
47,587
$(2,748.2)
$
(34.6)
$ 8,999.5
—
—
—
1,674.6
—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

$

—
—
—

(1,696.2)
—
96.4
(555.7)
(2.2)

Total comprehensive income
Options exercised and other awards
Option and restricted share income tax benefits
Shares repurchased
Net issuance of restricted stock, less amortization
Dividends declared
Balance at December 31, 2002
Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized translation
Minimum pension liability
Other

Balance at December 31, 2003
Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized translation
Minimum pension liability
Other

—
—
—
—
—
568,597
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

(7.7)
9.9
—
1.2
—

710.8
—

419.0
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

(1,627)
—
11,980
(98)
—
57,842
—

76.6
—
(683.6)
4.6
—

—
—
—
9.4
—

(3,350.6)
—

—
—
—

(25.2)
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—
—
(620.1)

Balance at December 31, 2004

96.4
(555.7)
(2.2)

—
—
—
—
—

10,054.0
1,694.2

(2,157.7)
—

—
—
—

742.8
(146.2)
(4.3)

$ 1,694.2
742.8
(146.2)
(4.3)
$ 2,286.5

—
—
—
—
—
568,597
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

(18.0)
7.4
—
(1.5)
—

(988)
—
10,569
(415)
—

710.8
—

406.9
—

67,008
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

49.0
—
(537.1)
20.6
—

—
—
—
(1.9)
—

(3,818.1)
—

(27.1)
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—
—
(689.0)

—
—
—
—
—

11,059.2
1,800.2

(1,565.4)
—

—
—
—

415.8
(47.8)
(4.2)

Total comprehensive income
Options exercised and other awards
Option and restricted share income tax benefits
Shares repurchased
Net issuance of restricted stock, less amortization
Dividends declared
Spin-off of Neenah Paper, Inc.

$ 1,674.6

$ 1,213.1

Total comprehensive income
Options exercised and other awards
Option and restricted share income tax benefits
Shares repurchased
Net issuance of restricted stock, less amortization
Dividends declared

Comprehensive
Income

$ 1,800.2
415.8
(47.8)
(4.2)
$ 2,164.0

—
—
—
—
—
—
568,597

—
—
—
—
—
—
$ 710.8

$

(88.9)
30.9
—
(.3)
—
—

(6,239)
—
25,061
(136)
—
—

378.9
—
(1,617.3)
9.0
—
—

348.6

85,694

$(5,047.5)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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—
—
—
4.8
—
—
$

(22.3)

—
—
—
—
(791.0)
(202.5)
$11,865.9

—
—
—
—
—
(24.4)
$

(1,226.0)
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PART II
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KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Year Ended December 31
2004

2003

2002

(Millions of dollars)

Continuing Operations:
Operating Activities
Income from continuing operations
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income tax (benefit) provision
Net losses on asset dispositions
Equity companies’ earnings in excess of dividends paid
Minority owners’ share of subsidiaries’ net income
Decrease (increase) in operating working capital
Postretirement benefits
Other

$ 1,770.4
800.3
(19.4)
45.5
(30.1)
73.9
133.0
(54.4)
7.0

$ 1,643.6
745.3
(50.8)
35.0
(9.6)
55.6
118.2
(59.9)
74.8

$ 1,627.4
704.4
189.0
37.7
(8.2)
58.1
(197.8)
(118.5)
49.4

2,726.2

2,552.2

2,341.5

Cash Provided by Operations
Investing Activities
Capital spending
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired
Investments in marketable securities
Proceeds from sales of investments
Net increase in time deposits
Proceeds from dispositions of property
Other
Cash Used for Investing
Financing Activities
Cash dividends paid
Net decrease in short-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
Proceeds from preferred securities of subsidiary
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Acquisitions of common stock for the treasury
Other
Cash Used for Financing
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents

(535.0)
—
(11.5)
38.0
(22.9)
30.7
5.3

(872.9)
(258.5)
(10.8)
29.4
(149.0)
7.6
(5.9)

(861.3)
(410.8)
(9.0)
44.9
(36.9)
4.8
(19.0)

(495.4)

(1,260.1)

(1,287.3)

(767.9)
(54.7)
38.7
(199.0)
125.0
290.0
(1,598.0)
(9.0)

(671.9)
(424.2)
540.8
(481.6)
—
31.0
(546.7)
(18.3)

(612.7)
(423.9)
823.1
(154.6)
—
68.9
(680.7)
(34.9)

(2,174.9)

(1,570.9)

(1,014.8)

4.1

18.6

14.7

60.0

(260.2)

54.1

30.0
213.4

56.3
—

75.9
—

243.4

56.3

75.9

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

303.4

(203.9)

130.0

Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year

290.6

494.5

364.5

Cash Provided by (Used for) Continuing Operations
Discontinued Operations:
Cash provided by discontinued operations
Cash payment from Neenah Paper, Inc.
Cash Provided by Discontinued Operations

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year

$
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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594.0

$

290.6

$

494.5
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KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Kimberly-Clark Corporation and all subsidiaries in which it has a controlling financial
interest (the “Corporation”). All significant intercompany transactions and accounts are eliminated in consolidation. Certain reclassifications have been made to
conform prior year data to the current year presentation.
On November 30, 2004, the Corporation completed the spin-off of Neenah Paper, Inc. (“Neenah Paper”), a wholly-owned subsidiary that owned the
Corporation’s Canadian pulp business and its U.S. fine paper and technical paper businesses (the “Spin-off”). The Spin-off was accomplished by a distribution of
all of the shares of Neenah Paper’s common stock to the Corporation’s stockholders, and no gain or loss was recorded by the Corporation. Holders of common
stock received a divided of one share of Neenah Paper for every 33 shares of stock held. Based on a private letter ruling received from the Internal Revenue
Service, receipt of the Neenah Paper shares in the distribution was tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result of the Spin-off the Corporation’s
prior period Consolidated Income Statements and Cash Flow Statements and related disclosures present the fine paper and technical paper businesses as
discontinued operations, which is discussed in Note 2. The December 31, 2003 Consolidated Balance Sheet and prior period Consolidated Statements of
Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive Income and related disclosures are presented on their historic basis, and unless otherwise noted, the information
contained in the notes to the consolidated financial statements relates to the Corporation’s continuing operations.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of net sales and expenses
during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates, and changes in these estimates are recorded when known. Estimates are used in
accounting for, among other things, consumer and trade promotion and rebate accruals, pension benefits, retained insurable risks, excess and obsolete inventory,
allowance for doubtful accounts, useful lives for depreciation and amortization, future cash flows associated with impairment testing for goodwill and long-lived
assets, determining the primary beneficiary of variable interest entities, deferred tax assets and potential income tax assessments, and contingencies.
Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term investments with an original maturity date of three months or less.
Inventories and Distribution Costs
Most U.S. inventories are valued at the lower of cost, using the Last-In, First-Out (LIFO) method for financial reporting purposes, or market. The balance
of the U.S. inventories and inventories of consolidated operations outside the U.S. are valued at the lower of cost, using either the First-In, First-Out (FIFO) or
weighted-average cost methods, or market. Distribution costs are classified as cost of products sold.
Available-for-Sale Securities
Available-for-sale securities, consisting of debt securities issued by non-U.S. governments and unaffiliated corporations, are carried at market value.
Securities with maturity dates of one year or less are included in other
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current assets and were $6.6 million and $8.7 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Securities with maturity dates greater than one year are
included in other assets and were $13.0 million and $10.5 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The securities are held by the Corporation’s
consolidated foreign financing subsidiary described in Note 5. Unrealized holding gains or losses on these securities are recorded in other comprehensive income
until realized. No significant gains or losses were recognized in income for any of the three years ended December 31, 2004.
Property and Depreciation
For financial reporting purposes, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated principally on the straight-line method. Buildings are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives, primarily 40 years. Machinery and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives, primarily ranging
from 16 to 20 years. For income tax purposes, accelerated methods of depreciation are used. Purchases of computer software are capitalized. External costs and
certain internal costs (including payroll and payroll-related costs of employees) directly associated with developing significant computer software applications for
internal use are capitalized. Training and data conversion costs are expensed as incurred. Computer software costs are amortized on the straight-line method over
the estimated useful life of the software, which generally does not exceed five years.
Estimated useful lives are periodically reviewed and, when warranted, changes are made to them. Long-lived assets, including computer software, are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their cost may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized
when estimated undiscounted future cash flows from the use and eventual disposition of an asset group, which are identifiable and largely independent of other
assets groups, are less than the carrying amount of the asset group. Measurement of an impairment loss would be based on the excess of the carrying amount of
the asset over its fair value. Fair value is generally measured using discounted cash flows. When property is sold or retired, the cost of the property and the related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and any gain or loss on the transaction is included in income.
The cost of major maintenance performed on manufacturing facilities, composed of labor, materials and other incremental costs, is charged to operations as
incurred. Start-up costs for new or expanded facilities are expensed as incurred.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents costs in excess of fair values assigned to the underlying net assets of acquired businesses. Goodwill is not subject to systematic
amortization, but rather is tested for impairment annually and whenever events and circumstances indicate that an impairment may have occurred. Impairment
testing compares the carrying amount of the goodwill with its fair value. Fair value is estimated based on discounted cash flows. When the carrying amount of
goodwill exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge would be recorded. The Corporation has completed the required annual testing of goodwill for impairment
and has determined that none of its goodwill is impaired.
The Corporation has no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives and
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would
be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows from the use of the asset are less than its carrying amount. Measurement of an impairment loss
would be based on discounted future cash flows compared to the carrying amount of the asset.
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Investments in Equity Companies
Investments in companies over which the Corporation exercises significant influence and that, in general, are at least 20 percent owned are stated at cost
plus equity in undistributed net income. These investments are evaluated for impairment in accordance with the requirements of Accounting Principles Board
(“APB”) Opinion 18, The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock. An impairment loss would be recorded whenever a decline in value of
an equity investment below its carrying amount is determined to be other than temporary. In judging “other than temporary,” the Corporation would consider the
length of time and extent to which the fair value of the investment has been less than the carrying amount of the equity company, the near-term and longer-term
operating and financial prospects of the equity company, and its longer-term intent of retaining the investment in the equity company.
Revenue Recognition
Sales revenue for the Corporation and its reportable business segments is recognized at the time of product shipment or delivery, depending on when title
passes, to unaffiliated customers, and when all of the following have occurred: a firm sales agreement is in place, pricing is fixed or determinable, and collection
is reasonably assured. Sales are reported net of estimated returns, consumer and trade promotions, rebates and freight allowed.
Sales Incentives and Trade Promotion Allowances
The cost of promotion activities provided to customers is classified as a reduction in sales revenue. In addition, the estimated redemption value of consumer
coupons is recorded at the time the coupons are issued and classified as a reduction in sales revenue. On January 1, 2002, the Corporation adopted Emerging
Issues Task Force (“EITF”) 01-9, Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer or a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products. The adoption of EITF
01-9 did not change reported earnings for 2001 but did require the recording of a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in 2002, equal to an aftertax charge of approximately $.02 per share, which resulted from a change in the period for recognizing the costs of coupons.
Advertising Expense
Advertising costs are expensed in the year the related advertisement is first presented by the media. For interim reporting purposes, advertising expenses
are charged to operations as a percentage of sales based on estimated sales and related advertising expense for the full year.
Research Expense
Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred.
Environmental Expenditures
Environmental expenditures related to current operations that qualify as property, plant and equipment or which substantially increase the economic value
or extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized, and all other such expenditures are expensed as incurred. Environmental expenditures that relate to an existing
condition caused by past operations are expensed as incurred. Liabilities are recorded when environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable and
the costs can be reasonably estimated. Generally, the timing of these accruals coincides with completion of a feasibility study or a commitment to a formal plan of
action. At environmental sites in which more than one potentially responsible party has been identified, a liability is recorded for the estimated allocable share of
costs related to the Corporation’s involvement with the site as well
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as an estimated allocable share of costs related to the involvement of insolvent or unidentified parties. At environmental sites in which the Corporation is the only
responsible party, a liability for the total estimated costs of remediation is recorded. Liabilities for future expenditures for environmental remediation obligations
are not discounted and do not reflect any anticipated recoveries from insurers.
Foreign Currency Translation
The income statements of foreign operations, other than those in hyperinflationary economies, are translated into U.S. dollars at rates of exchange in effect
each month. The balance sheets of these operations are translated at period-end exchange rates, and the differences from historical exchange rates are reflected in
stockholders’ equity as unrealized translation adjustments.
The income statements and balance sheets of operations in hyperinflationary economies are translated into U.S. dollars using both current and historical
rates of exchange. The effect of exchange rates on monetary assets and liabilities is reflected in income. Operations in Turkey and Russia (prior to 2003) are
deemed to be hyperinflationary.
Derivative Instruments and Hedging
All derivative instruments are recorded as assets or liabilities on the balance sheet at fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are either recorded
in income or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. The gain or loss on derivatives designated as fair value hedges and the offsetting loss or gain on the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are included in current income in the period that changes in fair value occur. The gain or loss on derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges is included in other comprehensive income in the period that changes in fair value occur and is reclassified to income in the same period that
the hedged item affects income. The gain or loss on derivatives that have not been designated as hedging instruments is included in current income in the period
that changes in fair value occur.
Stock-Based Employee Compensation
The Corporation’s stock-based employee compensation plan is described in Note 12. The Corporation continues to account for stock-based compensation
using the intrinsic-value method permitted by APB Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. No employee compensation for stock options has been
charged to earnings because the exercise prices of all stock options granted under this plan have been equal to the market value of the Corporation’s common
stock at the date of grant. The following presents information about net income and earnings per share (“EPS”) as if the Corporation had applied the fair value
expense recognition requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to all employee
stock options granted under the plan.
Year Ended December 31
2004

2003

2002

(Millions of dollars)

Net income, as reported
Less: Stock-based employee compensation determined under the fair value requirements of SFAS 123, net of income
tax benefits

$ 1,800.2

$ 1,694.2

$ 1,674.6

38.6

55.6

70.2

Pro forma net income

$ 1,761.6

$ 1,638.6

$ 1,604.4
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Year Ended December 31
2004

2003

2002

Basic—as reported

$ 3.64

$ 3.34

$ 3.24

Basic—pro forma

$ 3.56

$ 3.23

$ 3.10

Diluted—as reported

$ 3.61

$ 3.33

$ 3.22

Diluted—pro forma

$ 3.53

$ 3.22

$ 3.09

Earnings per share

Pursuant to the requirements of SFAS 123, the weighted-average fair value of the individual employee stock options granted during 2004, 2003 and 2002
have been estimated as $15.49, $9.09 and $16.57, respectively, on the date of grant. The fair values were determined using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model
using the following assumptions:
2004

Dividend yield
Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life—years

2.49%
26.45%
3.83%
5.9

2003

3.05%
26.49%
2.83%
5.8

2002

1.97%
26.91%
4.30%
5.8

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”), which revises SFAS 123, Accounting for StockBased Compensation. SFAS 123R also supersedes APB 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and amends SFAS 95, Statement of Cash Flows. In
general, the accounting required by SFAS 123R is similar to that of SFAS 123. However, SFAS 123 gave companies a choice to either recognize the fair value of
stock options in their income statements or to disclose the pro forma income statement effect of the fair value of stock options in the notes to the financial
statements. SFAS 123R eliminates that choice and requires the fair value of all share-based payments to employees, including the fair value of grants of employee
stock options, be recognized in the income statement, generally over the option vesting period. SFAS 123R must be adopted no later than July 1, 2005. Early
adoption is permitted.
SFAS 123R permits adoption of its requirements using one of two transition methods:
1. A modified prospective transition (“MPT”) method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) for all sharebased payments granted after the effective date and (b) for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date that remain unvested on the effective
date.
2. A modified retrospective transition (“MRT”) method which includes the requirements of the MPT method described above, but also permits
restatement of financial statements based on the amounts previously disclosed under SFAS 123’s pro forma disclosure requirements either for (a) all prior
periods presented or (b) prior interim periods of the year of adoption.
The Corporation is currently evaluating the timing and manner in which it will adopt SFAS 123R.
As permitted by SFAS 123, the Corporation currently accounts for share-based payments to employees using APB 25’s intrinsic value method and, as such,
has recognized no compensation cost for employee stock options. Accordingly, adoption of SFAS 123R’s fair value method will have a slight effect on results of
operations, although it will have no impact on overall financial position. The impact of adoption of SFAS 123R cannot be predicted at this time because it will
depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future.
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However, had SFAS 123R been adopted in prior periods, the effect would have approximated the SFAS 123 pro forma net income and earnings per share
disclosures as shown above.
SFAS 123R also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an
operating cash flow as currently required, thereby reducing net operating cash flows and increasing net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. While
those amounts cannot be estimated for future periods (because they depend on, among other things, when employees will exercise the stock options and the
market price of the Corporation’s stock at the time of exercise), the amount of operating cash flows generated in prior periods for such excess tax deductions was
$30.9 million, $7.4 million and $9.9 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Accounting Standards Changes
On January 1, 2003, the Corporation adopted SFAS 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. SFAS 143 addresses the accounting and reporting
for the retirement of long-lived assets and related retirement costs. Adoption of SFAS 143 did not have a material effect on the Corporation’s financial statements.
On January 1, 2003, the Corporation adopted SFAS 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS 146 addresses financial
accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullified EITF 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination
Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). Adoption of SFAS 146 had no effect on the Corporation’s
financial statements.
On January 1, 2003, the Corporation adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation (“FIN”) 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. FIN 45 requires disclosure of guarantees. It also requires
liability recognition for the fair value of guarantees made after December 31, 2002. Adoption of FIN 45 did not have a material effect on the Corporation’s
financial statements.
In May 2003, FASB issued SFAS 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity. SFAS 150
requires that certain instruments classified as part of stockholders’ equity or between stockholders’ equity and liabilities be classified as liabilities. The
Corporation has no instruments that would be affected by SFAS 150.
In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46 (Revised December 2003), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB 51, (“FIN
46R”). FIN 46R requires consolidation of entities in which the Corporation is the primary beneficiary, despite not having voting control. Likewise, it does not
permit consolidation of entities in which the Corporation has voting control but is not the primary beneficiary. The Corporation has adopted FIN 46R for all of its
applicable variable interest entities – its financing entities in 2003, and its real estate entities and synthetic fuel partnerships in 2004. The adoption of FIN 46R did
not have a material effect on the Corporation’s financial statements.
In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS 132 (revised 2003), Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits, (“SFAS 132R”).
SFAS 132R revises the disclosures for pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans. The Corporation has adopted these disclosure requirements.
Effective April 1, 2004, the Corporation adopted FASB Staff Position 106-2 (“FSP 106-2”), Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003. See Note 11.
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Note 2. Discontinued Operations
In connection with the Spin-off discussed in Note 1, the Corporation received a $213.4 million cash payment from Neenah Paper. The Consolidated Income
Statements, Cash Flow Statements and related disclosures present the results of Neenah Paper’s fine paper and technical paper businesses, which were previously
included in the Business-to-Business segment, as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Prior to the Spin-off, the Corporation internally consumed
approximately 90 percent of the pulp produced by the Canadian pulp business. In connection with the Spin-off, the Corporation entered into a long-term pulp
supply agreement with Neenah Paper (as discussed in Note 9), whereby the Corporation will continue to consume a substantial portion of the pulp produced by
Neenah Paper. Because the Corporation will continue to incur pulp costs in its continuing operations, the results of Neenah Paper’s Canadian pulp business are
not included in discontinued operations.
Summarized financial information for discontinued operations is presented below:
2004(a)

2003

2002

(Millions of dollars)

Net sales
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Income from discontinued operations
(a)

$317.7
59.2
(29.4)
29.8

$321.7
80.7
(30.1)
50.6

$334.8
95.3
(36.7)
58.6

Includes operations through November 30, 2004; also included are transaction costs related to the Spin-off.

A summary of the assets, liabilities and accumulated other comprehensive income of Neenah Paper that were spun off is presented below:
November 30, 2004
(Millions of dollars)

Assets
Current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Timberlands
Other assets

$

191.3
375.4
5.3
45.7
617.7

Liabilities and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Current liabilities
Long-Term Debt
Noncurrent employee benefits and other obligations
Deferred income taxes and other liabilities
Accumulated other comprehensive income

67.3
225.0
57.2
41.3
24.4
415.2

Total Distribution Charged to Retained Earnings

$
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Note 3. Acquisitions and Intangible Assets
Acquisitions
During the first quarter of 2003, the Corporation purchased the Klucze tissue business in Poland. This acquisition was consistent with the Corporation’s
strategy of growing its global consumer tissue business and provides it with a strong platform to expand its business. The allocation of the purchase price to the
fair value of assets and liabilities acquired was completed in 2003 and resulted in recognition of goodwill and other intangible assets of approximately $20
million.
During the third quarter of 2003, the Corporation acquired an additional 49 percent interest in Kimberly-Clark Peru S.A. and the remaining 50 percent
interest in its tissue joint venture in Brazil (Klabin Kimberly S.A.). The cost of these acquisitions totaled approximately $200 million. These acquisitions were a
result of the partners in each of the ventures exercising their options to sell their ownership interest to the Corporation. The allocation of the purchase price to the
fair value of assets and liabilities acquired was completed in 2004 and resulted in recognition of goodwill and other intangible assets of approximately $140
million.
Prior to 2001, the Corporation and its joint venture partner, Amcor Limited (“Amcor”), held a 50/50 ownership interest in Kimberly-Clark Australia Pty.
Ltd (“KCA”). In July 2001, the Corporation purchased an additional 5 percent ownership interest in KCA for A$77.5 million (approximately $39 million), and
exchanged options with Amcor for the purchase by the Corporation of the remaining 45 percent ownership interest. In June 2002, the option was exercised, and
the Corporation purchased the remaining 45 percent interest from Amcor for A$697.5 million (approximately $390 million). The acquisition of KCA reflects the
Corporation’s strategy to expand its three business segments within Australia. As a result of these transactions, KCA became a consolidated subsidiary effective
July 1, 2001 and a wholly-owned subsidiary on June 30, 2002. The Corporation recognized total goodwill on this series of transactions of approximately $350
million, reflecting the Corporation’s expectation of continued growth and profitability of KCA.
The costs of other acquisitions relating primarily to increased ownership and expansion outside North America in 2003 and 2002 were $3.0 million and
$16.2 million, respectively. The Corporation recognized goodwill on these other acquisitions of $1.2 million in 2003 and $8.9 million in 2002.
Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by business segment are as follows:
BusinesstoBusiness

Personal
Care

Consumer
Tissue

$ 425.4
1.8
87.6

$ 339.7
143.4
111.0

$1,489.8
24.1
26.3

$2,254.9
169.3
224.9

Balance at December 31, 2003
Currency and other

514.8
28.3

594.1
16.4

1,540.2
9.1

2,649.1
53.8

Balance at December 31, 2004

$ 543.1

$ 610.5

$1,549.3

$2,702.9

Total

(Millions of dollars)

Balance at January 1, 2003
Acquisitions
Currency and other
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Other Intangible Assets
Intangible assets subject to amortization are included in Other Assets and consist of the following at December 31:
2004
Gross
Carrying
Amount

2003
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Accumulated
Amortization

(Millions of dollars)

Trademarks
Patents
Other

$ 213.5
40.8
21.5

$

60.7
24.6
6.0

$ 204.8
40.4
21.5

$

50.0
20.6
4.2

Total

$ 275.8

$

91.3

$ 266.7

$

74.8

Amortization expense for intangible assets was approximately $14 million in 2004, $13 million in 2003 and $12 million in 2002. Amortization expense is
estimated to be approximately $14 million in 2005, $13 million in 2006 and 2007, $11 million in 2008 and $9 million in 2009.
Note 4. Debt
Long-term debt is composed of the following:
WeightedAverage
Interest
Rate

December 31
Maturities

2004

2003

(Millions of dollars)

Notes and debentures
5.77%
Industrial development revenue bonds
2.58%
Bank loans and other financings in various currencies
7.22%
Total long-term debt
Less current portion
Long-term portion

2005 –
2038
2006 –
2037
2005 –
2031

$2,309.8

$2,342.9

300.7

381.3

272.9

194.9

2,883.4
585.4

2,919.1
185.4

$2,298.0

$2,733.7

Fair value of total long-term debt, based on quoted market prices for the same or similar debt issues, was approximately $3.0 billion and $3.1 billion at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Scheduled maturities of long-term debt for the next five years are $585.4 million in 2005, $64.8 million in 2006,
$336.7 million in 2007, $19.7 million in 2008 and $5.1 million in 2009.
At December 31, 2004, the Corporation had $1.2 billion of revolving credit facilities. These facilities, unused at December 31, 2004, permit borrowing at
competitive interest rates and are available for general corporate purposes, including backup for commercial paper borrowings. The Corporation pays
commitment fees on the unused portion but may cancel the facilities without penalty at any time prior to their expiration. Of these facilities, $600 million expires
in September 2005 and the balance expires in November 2009.
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Debt payable within one year is as follows:
December 31
2004

2003

(Millions of dollars)

Commercial paper
Current portion of long-term debt
Other short-term debt
Total

$ 526.3
585.4
103.0

$ 533.5
185.4
145.4

$ 1,214.7

$ 864.3

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the weighted-average interest rate for commercial paper was 2.3 percent and 1.0 percent, respectively.
Note 5. Preferred Securities of Subsidiary
In February 2001, the Corporation formed a Luxembourg-based financing subsidiary. The subsidiary issued 1 million shares of voting-preferred securities
(the “Securities”) with an aggregate par value of $520 million to a nonaffiliated entity for cash proceeds of $516.5 million. The Securities are entitled to a 98
percent vote and pay no dividend but accrue a fixed annual rate of return of 4.56 percent. Prior to September 2003, the Securities accrued a variable rate of return.
The Securities are in substance perpetual and are callable by the subsidiary at par value plus any accrued but unpaid return on the Securities in November 2008
and each 20-year anniversary thereafter. The subsidiary also issued voting-preferred and common securities to the Corporation for total cash proceeds of $500
million. These securities are entitled to a combined two percent vote and the common securities are entitled to all of the residual equity after satisfaction of the
preferred interests. Approximately 97 percent of the subsidiary’s funds have been loaned to the Corporation. These long-term loans bear fixed annual interest
rates. The remaining funds are invested in other financial assets. Prior to September 2003, the loans accrued interest at a variable rate. The Corporation is the
primary beneficiary of the subsidiary and, accordingly, consolidates the subsidiary in the accompanying financial statements. The preferred and common
securities of the subsidiary held by the Corporation and the intercompany loans have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. The return on the
Securities is included in minority owners’ share of subsidiaries’ net income in the Corporation’s consolidated income statement. The Securities are shown as
Preferred Securities of Subsidiary on the consolidated balance sheet.
In June 2004, the nonaffiliated entity invested an additional $125 million, thereby increasing the aggregate par value of the Securities that it held. In
conjunction with this transaction, the fixed annual rate of return on the Securities was increased from 4.47 to 4.56 percent. The subsidiary loaned these funds to
the Corporation, which used them to reduce its outstanding commercial paper.
Note 6.

Stockholders’ Equity

Stockholders’ Equity
On June 21, 1988, the board of directors of the Corporation adopted a shareholder rights plan by declaring a distribution of one preferred share purchase
right for each outstanding share of the Corporation’s common stock. On November 19, 2004, the board terminated the shareholder rights plan by accelerating the
expiration date of the rights from June 8, 2005 to November 19, 2004.
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Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
The changes in the components of other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:
Year Ended December 31
2004

2003

Pretax
Amount

Tax
Effect

SpinOff

Net
Amount

Pretax
Amount

Unrealized translation
Minimum pension liability
Deferred losses on cash flow hedges
Unrealized holding losses on securities

$415.8
(75.6)
(5.8)
(.2)

$—
27.8
1.8
—

$ (60.1)
36.3
(.6)
—

$355.7
(11.5)
(4.6)
(.2)

$ 742.8
(231.8)
(5.5)
(.1)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

$334.2

$29.6

$ (24.4)

$339.4

$ 505.4

Tax
Effect

2002
Net
Amount

Pretax
Amount

Tax
Effect

Net
Amount

$—
85.6
1.3
—

$ 742.8
(146.2)
(4.2)
(.1)

$ 96.4
(869.2)
(2.6)
(.2)

$ —
313.5
.6
—

$ 96.4
(555.7)
(2.0)
(.2)

$86.9

$ 592.3

$(775.6)

$314.1

$(461.5)

(Millions of dollars)

Accumulated balances of other comprehensive income (loss), net of applicable income taxes are as follows:
December 31
2004

2003

(Millions of dollars)

Unrealized translation
Minimum pension liability
Deferred losses on cash flow hedges
Unrealized holding losses on securities

$ (385.3)
(829.6)
(10.9)
(.2)

$ (741.0)
(818.1)
(6.3)
—

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

$(1,226.0)

$(1,565.4)

At December 31, 2004, unremitted net income of equity companies included in consolidated retained earnings was about $812 million.
Note 7.

Risk Management

As a multinational enterprise, the Corporation is exposed to risks such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices.
A variety of practices are employed to manage these risks, including operating and financing activities and, where deemed appropriate, the use of derivative
instruments. Derivative instruments, including some that are not designated as either fair value or cash flow hedges, are used only for risk management purposes
and not for speculation or trading. All foreign currency derivative instruments are either exchange traded or are entered into with major financial institutions. The
Corporation’s credit exposure under these arrangements is limited to those agreements with a positive fair value at the reporting date. Credit risk with respect to
the counterparties is considered minimal in view of the financial strength of the counterparties.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
Foreign currency exchange risk is managed by the systematic use of foreign currency forward, option and swap contracts. The use of these instruments
allows management of transactional exposure to exchange rate fluctuations because the gains or losses incurred on the derivative instruments will offset, in whole
or in part,
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losses or gains on the underlying foreign currency exposure. Prior to 2004, foreign currency risk was managed by the selective, rather than the systematic, use of
foreign currency forward, option and swap contracts. Management does not foresee or expect any significant change in such exposures in the near future or in the
strategies it employs to manage them.
Foreign Currency Translation Risk
Translation adjustments result from translating foreign entities’ financial statements to U.S. dollars from their functional currencies. Translation exposure,
which results from possible changes in translation rates between functional currencies and the U.S. dollar, is not hedged. The risk to any particular entity’s net
assets is minimized to the extent that the entity is financed with local currency borrowing. In addition, many of the Corporation’s non-U.S. operations buy the
majority of their inputs and sell the majority of their outputs in their local currency, thereby minimizing the effect of currency rate changes on their local operating
profit margins.
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is managed through the maintenance of a portfolio of variable- and fixed-rate debt composed of short- and long-term instruments. The
objective is to maintain a cost-effective mix that management deems appropriate. Management does not foresee or expect any significant changes in its exposure
to interest rate fluctuations in the near future or in the strategies it employs to manage them.
Commodity Price Risk
The Corporation is subject to commodity price risk, the most significant of which relates to the price of pulp. Selling prices of tissue products are
influenced, in part, by the market price for pulp, which is determined by industry supply and demand. On a worldwide basis prior to the Spin-off, the Corporation
supplied approximately 40 percent of its virgin fiber needs from internal pulp manufacturing operations. The Spin-off has reduced the internal pulp supply to
approximately 10 percent, and this reduction in pulp integration could increase the Corporation’s commodity price risk. Specifically, increases in pulp prices
could adversely affect earnings if selling prices are not adjusted or if such adjustments significantly trail the increases in pulp prices. Derivative instruments have
not been used to manage these risks.
In addition, the Corporation is subject to price risk for utilities, primarily natural gas, which are used in its manufacturing operations. Derivative
instruments are used to hedge a portion of this risk when it is deemed prudent to do so by management.
Effect of Derivative Instruments on Results of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income
Fair Value Hedges
The Corporation’s fair value hedges were effective in 2004, 2003 and 2002 and consequently resulted in no income effect. In addition, during these years,
all of the Corporation’s designated derivatives for firm commitments continued to qualify for fair value hedge accounting.
Cash Flow Hedges
The Corporation’s cash flow hedges were effective in 2004, 2003 and 2002 and consequently resulted in no net income effect. During the same period in
which the hedged forecasted transactions affected earnings, the Corporation reclassified $9.0 million, $9.9 million and $5.4 million, respectively, of after-tax
losses from
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accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings. At December 31, 2004, the Corporation expects to reclassify $13.8 million of after-tax losses from
accumulated other comprehensive income primarily to cost of sales during the next twelve months, consistent with the timing of the underlying hedged
transactions. The maximum maturity of cash flow derivatives in place at December 31, 2004 is December 31, 2005.
Other
In 2001, the Corporation entered into forward contracts to purchase Australian dollars related to the acquisition of the remaining 45 percent ownership
interest in KCA for A$697.5 million (approximately $390 million). These contracts were settled in conjunction with the completion of this acquisition in June
2002. These forward contracts did not qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS 133 and were marked to market each period with the resulting gains or losses
included in other (income) expense, net. During 2002, net gains on these contracts were approximately $17 million.
Note 8. Variable Interest Entities
The Corporation has variable interests in the following financing and real estate entities and synthetic fuel partnerships described in Note 13.
Financing Entities
The Corporation holds a significant variable interest in two financing entities that were used to monetize long-term notes received from the sale of certain
nonstrategic timberlands and related assets, which were sold in 1999 and 1989 to nonaffiliated buyers. These transactions qualified for the installment method of
accounting for income tax purposes and met the criteria for immediate profit recognition for financial reporting purposes contained in SFAS 66, Accounting for
Sales of Real Estate. These sales involved notes receivable with an aggregate face value of $617 million and a fair value of approximately $593 million at the date
of sale. The notes receivable are backed by irrevocable standby letters of credit issued by money center banks, which aggregated $617 million at December 31,
2004.
Because the Corporation desired to monetize the $617 million of notes receivable and continue the deferral of current income taxes on the gains, in 1999
the Corporation transferred the notes received from the 1999 sale to a noncontrolled financing entity, and in 2000 it transferred the notes received from the 1989
sale to another noncontrolled financing entity. The Corporation has minority voting interests in each of the financing entities (collectively, the “Financing
Entities”). The transfers of the notes and certain other assets to the Financing Entities were made at fair value, were accounted for as asset sales and resulted in no
gain or loss. In conjunction with the transfer of the notes and other assets, the Financing Entities became obligated for $617 million in third-party debt financing.
A nonaffiliated financial institution has made substantive capital investments in each of the Financing Entities, has majority voting control over them and has
substantive risks and rewards of ownership of the assets in the Financing Entities. The Corporation also contributed intercompany notes receivable aggregating
$662 million and intercompany preferred stock of $50 million to the Financing Entities, which serve as secondary collateral for the third-party lending
arrangements. In the unlikely event of default by both of the money center banks that provided the irrevocable standby letters of credit, the Corporation could
experience a maximum loss of $617 million under these arrangements.
The Corporation has not consolidated the Financing Entities because it is not the primary beneficiary of either entity. Rather, it will continue to account for
its ownership interests in these entities using the equity method of accounting. The Corporation retains equity interests in the Financing Entities for which the
legal right of offset exists against the intercompany notes. As a result, the intercompany notes payable have been offset against the Corporation’s equity interests
in the Financing Entities for financial reporting purposes.
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See Note 5 for a description of the Corporation’s Luxembourg-based financing subsidiary, which is consolidated because the Corporation is the primary
beneficiary of the entity.
Real Estate Entities
Effective March 31, 2004, the Corporation adopted FIN 46R for its real estate entities described below. In 1994, the Corporation began participating in the
U.S. affordable and historic renovation real estate markets. Investments in these markets are encouraged by laws enacted by the United States Congress and
related federal income tax rules and regulations. Accordingly, these investments generate income tax credits and tax losses that are used to reduce the
Corporation’s income tax liabilities. The Corporation has invested in these markets through (i) partnership arrangements in which it is a limited partner, (ii)
limited liability companies (“LLCs”) in which it is a nonmanaging member and (iii) investments in various funds in which the Corporation is one of many
noncontrolling investors. These entities borrow money from third parties generally on a nonrecourse basis and invest in and own various real estate projects.
Adoption of FIN 46R required the Corporation to consolidate ten apartment projects and two hotels because it was the primary beneficiary of each of these
real estate ventures. The carrying amount of the assets that serve as collateral for $98.4 million of obligations of these ventures was $147.5 million at December
31, 2004, and these assets are classified as property, plant and equipment on the consolidated balance sheet. The Corporation also has guaranteed $14.6 million of
the obligations of these ventures.
The Corporation accounts for its interests in real estate entities that are not consolidated under FIN 46R by the equity method of accounting or by the
effective yield method, as appropriate, and has accounted for the related income tax credits and other tax benefits as a reduction in its income tax provision. As of
December 31, 2004, the Corporation had a net equity of $21.2 million in its nonconsolidated real estate entities. The Corporation has earned income tax credits
totaling approximately $71.8 million, $59.3 million and $49.9 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. As of December 31, 2004, total permanent financing
debt for the nonconsolidated entities was $221.9 million. A total of $7.6 million of the permanent financing debt is guaranteed by the Corporation and the
remainder of this debt is not supported or guaranteed by the Corporation. Except for the guaranteed portion, permanent financing debt is secured solely by the
properties and is nonrecourse to the Corporation. From time to time, temporary interim financing is guaranteed by the Corporation. In general, the Corporation’s
interim financing guarantees are eliminated at the time permanent financing is obtained. At December 31, 2004, $27.9 million of temporary interim financing
associated with these nonconsolidated real estate entities was guaranteed by the Corporation.
If the Corporation’s investments in its nonconsolidated real estate entities were to be disposed of at their carrying amounts, a portion of the tax credits may
be recaptured and may result in a charge to earnings. As of December 31, 2004, this recapture risk is estimated to be $31.1 million. The Corporation has no
current intention of disposing of these investments during the recapture period, nor does it anticipate the need to do so in the foreseeable future in order to satisfy
any anticipated liquidity need. Accordingly, the recapture risk is considered to be remote.
At December 31, 2004, the Corporation’s maximum loss exposure for its nonconsolidated real estate entities is estimated to be $87.8 million and was
comprised of its net equity in these entities of $21.2 million, its permanent financing guarantees of $7.6 million, its interim financing guarantees of $27.9 million
and the income tax credit recapture risk of $31.1 million.
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Note 9.

Leases and Commitments

Leases
The future minimum obligations under operating leases having a noncancelable term in excess of one year as of December 31, 2004, are as follows:
Amount
(Millions of dollars)

Year Ending December 31:
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter
Future minimum obligations

$

75.7
56.9
31.6
22.5
16.9
36.1

$

239.7

Operating lease obligations have been reduced by approximately $4 million for rental income from noncancelable sublease agreements.
Consolidated rental expense under operating leases was $195.9 million, $186.7 million and $166.3 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Purchase Commitments
In conjunction with the Spin-off, the Corporation entered into a long-term pulp supply agreement with Neenah Paper. Under the agreement, the
Corporation has agreed to purchase annually declining specified minimum tonnages of pulp. Minimum commitments under the agreement are estimated to be
approximately $301 million in 2005, $244 million in 2006, $235 million in 2007 and $174 million in 2008. These commitments represent approximately 20, 16,
15 and 11 percent, respectively, of the Corporation’s total requirements for virgin pulp in 2004. The Corporation purchased approximately $21 million under that
agreement in 2004.
Under the agreement, the prices for pulp will be based on published industry index prices, subject to certain minimum and maximum prices, less agreedupon discounts. The commitments are structured as supply-or-pay and take-or-pay arrangements. Accordingly, if the Corporation does not purchase the specified
minimums, it must pay for the shortfall based on the difference between the contract price and any lower price Neenah Paper obtains for the pulp, plus ten percent
of the difference. If Neenah Paper does not supply the specified minimums, it must pay for the shortfall based on the difference between the contract price and
any higher price that the Corporation pays to purchase the pulp, plus ten percent of that difference. Either party can elect a two-year phase-down period for the
agreement, to begin no earlier than January 1, 2009 under which the minimum commitments would be approximately $135 million in the first year and $90
million in the second year. Either party may terminate the pulp supply agreement for certain events specified in the agreement.
The Corporation has entered into other long-term contracts for the purchase of raw materials, principally pulp, and utilities, principally electricity. The
minimum purchase commitments extend beyond 2009. Commitments under these contracts are approximately $187 million in 2005, $120 million in 2006, $77
million in 2007, $68 million in 2008 and $65 million in 2009. Total commitments beyond the year 2009 are $328 million.
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Although the Corporation is primarily liable for payments on the above-mentioned leases and purchase commitments, management believes the
Corporation’s exposure to losses, if any, under these arrangements is not material.
Note 10.

Contingencies and Legal Matters

Litigation
The following is a brief description of certain legal and administrative proceedings to which the Corporation or its subsidiaries is a party or to which the
Corporation’s or its subsidiaries’ properties are subject. In management’s opinion, none of the legal and administrative proceedings described below, individually
or in the aggregate, is expected to have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
As of December 31, 2004, the Corporation, along with many other nonaffiliated companies, was a party to lawsuits with allegations of personal injury
resulting from asbestos exposure on the defendants’ premises and allegations that the defendants manufactured, sold, distributed or installed products which cause
asbestos-related lung disease. These general allegations are often made against the Corporation without any apparent evidence or identification of a specific
product or premises of the Corporation. The Corporation has denied the allegations and raised numerous defenses in all of these asbestos cases. All asbestos
claims have been tendered to the Corporation’s insurance carriers for defense and indemnity. The financial statements reflect appropriate accruals for the
Corporation’s portion of the costs estimated to be incurred in connection with resolving these claims.
Contingency
One of the Corporation’s North American tissue mills has an agreement to provide its local utility company a specified amount of electric power for each of
the next 12 years. In the event that the mill was shut down, the Corporation would be required to continue to operate the power generation facility on behalf of its
owner, the local utility company. The net present value of the cost to fulfill this agreement as of December 31, 2004 is estimated to be approximately $120
million. Management considers the probability of closure of this mill to be remote.
Environmental Matters
The Corporation has been named a potentially responsible party under the provisions of the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act, or analogous state statutes, at a number of waste disposal sites, none of which, individually or in the aggregate, in management’s
opinion, is likely to have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
Note 11.

Postretirement and Other Benefits

Pension Plans
Substantially all regular employees in North America and the United Kingdom are covered by defined benefit pension plans (the “Principal Plans”) and/or
defined contribution retirement plans. Certain other subsidiaries have defined benefit pension plans or, in certain countries, termination pay plans covering
substantially all regular employees. The funding policy for the qualified defined benefit plans in North America and the defined benefit plans in the United
Kingdom is to contribute assets to fully fund the accumulated benefit obligation (“ABO”). Subject to regulatory and tax deductibility limits, any funding shortfall
will be eliminated
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over a reasonable number of years. Nonqualified U.S. plans providing pension benefits in excess of limitations imposed by the U.S. income tax code are not
funded. Funding for the remaining defined benefit plans outside the U.S. is based on legal requirements, tax considerations, investment opportunities, and
customary business practices in such countries.
In accordance with SFAS 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions, the Corporation recorded a minimum pension liability for underfunded plans
representing the excess of the unfunded ABO over previously recorded net pension liabilities. The minimum pension liability is included in noncurrent employee
benefit and other obligations on the balance sheet. An offsetting charge is included as an intangible asset to the extent of unrecognized prior service cost, and the
balance is included in accumulated other comprehensive income. The principal cause of the increase in additional minimum pension liability in 2004 was a
decrease in the discount rates used to estimate the ABO.
Information about the minimum pension liability follows:
December 31
2004

2003

(Millions of dollars)

Minimum pension liability
Less intangible asset
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

$ 1,341.6
52.8

$ 1,325.4
56.1

$ 1,288.8

$ 1,269.3

Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
Substantially all North American retirees and employees are covered by health care and life insurance benefit plans. Certain benefits are based on years of
service and/or age at retirement. The plans are principally noncontributory for employees who were eligible to retire before 1993 and contributory for most
employees who retire after 1992, except that the Corporation provides no subsidized benefits to most employees hired after 2003.
On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”) became law. Among other things, the Act
provides a prescription drug benefit under Medicare (Medicare Part D) and a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a
prescription drug benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. Effective April 1, 2004, the Corporation adopted FSP 106-2, which reduced the
Corporation’s accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by approximately $72 million and resulted in an unrecognized actuarial gain of a similar amount.
Adoption resulted in a reduction in postretirement benefits cost of $5.8 million in 2004.
Prior to 2004, certain U.S. plans limited the Corporation’s cost of future annual per capita retiree medical benefits to no more than 200 percent of the 1992
annual per capita cost. These plans reached this limitation (the “Cap”) and were amended during 2003. Among other things, the amendments index the Cap by 3
percent annually beginning in 2005 for certain employees retiring on or before April 1, 2004 and limit the Corporation’s future cost for retiree health care benefits
to a defined fixed per capita cost for certain employees retiring after April 1, 2004. The consolidated weighted-average health care cost trend rate is expected to
be 8.45 percent in 2005, 7.67 percent in 2006 and to decrease to 5.67 percent in 2011 and thereafter.
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Summarized financial information about postretirement plans, excluding defined contribution retirement plans, is presented below.
Pension Benefits

Other Benefits

Year Ended December 31
2004

2003

2004

2003

(Millions of dollars)

Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial loss
Currency and other
Benefit payments from plans
Direct benefit payments
Spin-off of Neenah Paper

$ 5,233.8
87.4
296.2
182.3
155.9
(296.3)
(21.4)
(367.3)

$ 4,392.5
76.1
288.0
500.8
289.8
(283.7)
(29.7)
—

$ 852.6
17.8
48.2
33.5
10.4
(67.8)
—
(49.4)

$ 751.4
16.2
48.9
87.2
33.5
(84.6)
—
—

Benefit obligation at end of year

5,270.6

5,233.8

845.3

852.6

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual gain on plan assets
Employer contributions
Currency and other
Benefit payments
Spin-off of Neenah Paper

4,027.9
332.8
200.0
103.1
(296.3)
(323.3)

3,406.6
491.0
181.9
232.1
(283.7)
—

—
—
59.4
8.4
(67.8)
—

—
—
77.8
6.8
(84.6)
—

Fair value of plan assets at end of year

4,044.2

4,027.9

—

—

(1,226.4)
1,650.6
48.0

(1,205.9)
1,635.1
51.6

(845.3)
163.8
11.2

(852.6)
148.7
6.9

$(670.3)

$(697.0)

$

$

Funded Status
Benefit obligation in excess of plan assets
Unrecognized net actuarial loss and transition amount
Unrecognized prior service cost
Net amount recognized
Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheet
Prepaid benefit cost
Accrued benefit cost
Intangible asset
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Net amount recognized
The Corporation uses December 31 as the measurement date for all of its postretirement plans.
62

$

472.2

$

480.8

$

25.3
(894.7)
52.8
1,288.8

$

19.0
(863.6)
56.1
1,269.3

$

472.2

$

480.8

—
(670.3)
—
—

$(670.3)

—
(697.0)
—
—

$(697.0)
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Information for the Principal Plans and All Other Pension Plans
Principal Plans

All Other
Pension Plans

Total

Year Ended December 31
2004

2003

2004

2003

$ 4,882.1
4,558.9
3,794.2

$ 4,904.3
4,562.9
3,804.3

$ 388.5
361.6
250.0

2004

2003

(Millions of dollars)

Projected benefit obligation (“PBO”)
ABO
Fair value of plan assets

$ 329.5
301.8
223.6

$

5,270.6
4,920.5
4,044.2

$

5,233.8
4,864.7
4,027.9

Information for Pension Plans With an ABO in Excess of Plan Assets
December 31
2004

2003

(Millions of dollars)

PBO
ABO
Fair value of plan assets

$ 5,120.3
4,780.4
3,890.0

$ 5,133.0
4,774.4
3,917.0

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Pension Benefits

Other Benefits

Year Ended December 31
2004

2003

2002

2004

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets(a)
Amortization of prior service cost (benefit) and transition amount
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain)
Other

$ 87.4
296.2
(324.0)
7.3
83.3
4.6

$ 76.1
288.0
(286.3)
8.7
74.0
5.4

$ 67.7
272.1
(330.7)
5.8
14.4
2.4

Net periodic benefit cost

$ 154.8

$ 165.9

$ 31.7

2003

2002

$17.8
48.2
—
(.7)
4.0
(1.5)

$16.2
48.9
—
(1.5)
1.9
—

$12.5
49.7
—
(2.1)
(2.7)
—

$67.8

$65.5

$57.4

(Millions of dollars)

(a)

The expected return on plan assets is determined by multiplying the fair value of plan assets at the prior year-end (adjusted for estimated current year cash benefit payments and contributions) by the
expected long-term rate of return.

Weighted-Average Assumptions used to determine Benefit Obligations at December 31
Pension Benefits

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
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Other Benefits

2004

2003

2004

2003

5.68%
3.67%

5.92%
3.51%

5.85%
—

6.01%
—
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Weighted-Average Assumptions used to determine Net Cost for years ended December 31
Pension Benefits

Discount rate
Expected long-term return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

Other Benefits

2004

2003

2002

2004

2003

2002

5.92%
8.32%
3.51%

6.62%
8.42%
3.56%

6.98%
9.19%
3.90%

6.01%
—
—

6.76%
—
—

7.24%
—
—

Expected Long-Term Rate of Return and Investment Strategies for the Principal Plans
The expected long-term rate of return on pension fund assets was determined based on several factors, including input from pension investment consultants
and projected long-term returns of broad equity and bond indices. The Corporation also considered the U.S. plan’s historical 10-year and 15-year compounded
annual returns of 10.92 percent and 9.66 percent, respectively, which have been in excess of these broad equity and bond benchmark indices. The Corporation
anticipates that on average the investment managers for each of the plans comprising the Principal Plans will generate annual long-term rates of return of at least
8.5 percent. The Corporation’s expected long-term rate of return on the assets in the Principal Plans is based on an asset allocation assumption of about 70 percent
with equity managers, with expected long-term rates of return of approximately 10 percent, and 30 percent with fixed income managers, with an expected longterm rate of return of about 6 percent. The Corporation regularly reviews its actual asset allocation and periodically rebalances its investments to the targeted
allocation when considered appropriate. Also, when deemed appropriate, the Corporation executes hedging strategies using index options and futures to limit the
downside exposure of certain investments by trading off upside potential above an acceptable level. The Corporation executed such hedging strategies in 2003
and 2002. No hedging instruments are currently in place. The Corporation will continue to evaluate its long-term rate of return assumptions at least annually and
will adjust them as necessary.
Plan Assets
The Corporation’s pension plan asset allocations for its Principal Plans are as follows:

Target
Allocation
2005

Asset Category

Percentage of
Plan Assets
at December 31
2004

2003

Equity securities
Debt securities

70%
30

73%
27

72%
28

Total

100%

100%

100%

The plan assets did not include a significant amount of the Corporation’s common stock.
Cash Flows
While the Corporation is not required to make a contribution in 2005 to the U.S. plan, the benefit of a contribution will be evaluated. About $38 million
will be contributed to plans outside the U.S. in 2005.
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are anticipated to be paid:
Pension Benefits

Other Benefits

(Millions of dollars)

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Years 2010 – 2014

$

313
311
314
322
327
1,812

$

80
81
82
82
83
455

Health Care Cost Trends
Assumed health care cost trend rates affect the amounts reported for postretirement health care benefit plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed
health care trend rates would have the following effects on 2004 data:
One-Percentage-Point
Increase

Decrease

(Millions of dollars)

Effect on total of service and interest cost components
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation

$

2.9
42.7

$

2.4
35.6

Defined Contribution Retirement Plans
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are primarily based on the age and compensation of covered employees. The Corporation’s
contributions, all of which were charged to expense, were $47.6 million, $44.9 million and $41.7 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Investment Plans
Voluntary contribution investment plans are provided to substantially all North American and most European employees. Under the plans, the Corporation
matches a portion of employee contributions. Costs charged to expense under the plans were $30.8 million, $32.3 million and $29.2 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.
Note 12.

Stock Compensation Plans

The Corporation’s Equity Participation Plans and its Outside Directors’ Compensation Plan (the “Plans”) provide for awards of stock options and restricted
stock to employees and outside directors, and (prior to 1999) participation shares to employees of the Corporation. As of December 31, 2004, the number of
shares of common stock available for stock option and restricted share awards under the Plans aggregated 34.4 million shares.
Stock Options
Stock options granted to outside directors, executives and other key employees are granted at not less than the market value at the date of grant, expire 10
years after the date of grant and generally become exercisable over three years.
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In connection with the Spin-off, the number and exercise prices of outstanding options were proportionately adjusted to maintain the aggregate intrinsic
value of the options before and after the Spin-off. As a result of the adjustment, the number of outstanding options increased by .5 million shares and the average
exercise price decreased by approximately $.83. In addition, certain stock options previously granted to Neenah Paper employees were converted to Neenah Paper
options with terms and amounts that maintained the aggregate intrinsic value of the options. None of the information for 2003, 2002, the options outstanding at
the beginning of 2004 nor grants for 2004 reflect adjustments made in connection with the Spin-off.
Data concerning stock option activity follows (options in thousands):
2004

2003

Number
of
Options

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Number
of
Options

Outstanding—Beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Canceled, forfeited or converted (a)
Neenah Paper spin-off adjustment

34,374
3,933
(6,238)
(863)
514

$ 53.73
64.21
46.49
58.08
55.39

30,308
5,612
(988)
(558)
—

Outstanding—End of year(b)

31,720

55.45

Exercisable—End of year

22,493

55.57

(a)

Includes .4 million options that were converted into Neenah Paper options.

(b)

Data concerning stock options at December 31, 2004 follows (options in thousands):

2002

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

$

Number
of
Options

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

54.77
44.56
31.27
57.32
—

26,665
5,742
(1,627)
(472)
—

34,374

53.73

30,308

54.77

23,516

53.52

18,671

49.98

Options Outstanding

$

52.73
60.99
42.34
58.24
—

Options Exercisable

Exercise Price Range

Number
Of
Options

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Number
of
Options

WeightedAverage
Price

$15.56 – $ 41.27
42.42 – 46.53
47.51 – 50.64
52.00 – 57.41
58.25 – 60.99
61.90 – 69.75
84.84 – 185.40

1,043
4,924
4,587
6,546
5,354
9,219
47

$ 36.19
43.82
48.13
53.00
59.99
66.27
117.75

.9
8.0
3.3
4.2
6.5
7.1
3.4

1,043
1,405
4,576
6,546
3,542
5,334
47

36.19
43.80
48.13
53.00
59.98
68.53
117.75

31,720

55.45

5.8

22,493

55.57

Restricted Stock Awards
The Plans provide for restricted stock awards (shares or share equivalents) not to exceed 18.0 million shares. All restricted stock awards vest and become
unrestricted shares in three to 10 years from the date of grant. Although participants are entitled to cash dividends and may vote such awarded shares, the sale or
transfer of such shares is limited during the restricted period.
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Data concerning restricted stock awards follows:
2004

2003

2002

(Shares in thousands)

Number of shares awarded
Weighted-average price per share

645
$64.21

526
$44.54

80
$59.79

The value of restricted stock awards is based on the market value of the Corporation’s common stock at date of grant and recorded at the date of the award
as unearned compensation on restricted stock in a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Unearned compensation is amortized to compensation expense
over the periods of restriction. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, $19.4 million, $18.2 million and $16.8 million, respectively, was charged to compensation expense
under the Plans. The tax effect of differences between compensation expense for financial statement and income tax purposes is recorded as additional paid-in
capital.
Participation Shares
Prior to 1999, key employees were awarded participation shares that were payable in cash at the end of the vesting period. The amount of cash paid to
participants was based on the increase in the book value of the Corporation’s common stock during the award period. Participants did not receive dividends on the
participation shares, but their accounts were credited with dividend shares payable in cash at the maturity of the award. Neither participation nor dividend shares
were shares of common stock. Amounts expensed related to participation shares were $11.1 million and $13.1 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Final
payments for matured shares were made in February 2004.
Note 13.

Synthetic Fuel Partnerships

In April 2003, the Corporation acquired a 49.5 percent minority interest in a synthetic fuel partnership. In October 2004, the Corporation acquired a 49
percent minority interest in an additional synthetic fuel partnership. These partnerships are variable interest entities that are subject to the requirements of FIN
46R. Although these partnerships are variable interest entities, the Corporation is not the primary beneficiary, and the entities have not been consolidated.
Synthetic fuel produced by the partnerships is eligible for synthetic fuel tax credits through 2007.
The production of synthetic fuel results in pretax losses. In 2004 and 2003, these pretax losses totaled $158.4 million and $105.5 million, respectively, and
are reported as nonoperating expense on the Corporation’s income statement. The synthetic fuel tax credits, as well as tax deductions for the nonoperating losses,
reduce the Corporation’s income tax expense. In 2004 and 2003, the Corporation’s participation in the synthetic fuel partnership resulted in $144.4 million and
$94.1 million of tax credits, respectively, and the nonoperating losses generated an additional $55.4 million and $37.2 million, respectively, of tax benefits, which
combined to reduce the Corporation’s income tax provision by $199.8 million and $131.3 million, respectively. The effect of these benefits increased net income
by $41.4 million, $.08 per share in 2004 and $25.8 million, $.05 per share in 2003. The effects of these tax credits are shown separately in the Corporation’s
reconciliation of the U.S. statutory rate to its effective income tax rate in Note 14.
Because the partnerships have received favorable private letter rulings from the IRS and because the partnerships’ test procedures conform to IRS
guidance, the Corporation’s loss exposure under the synthetic fuel partnerships is minimal. Application of FIN 46R to these entities did not have any effect on the
Corporation’s consolidated financial statements.
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Note 14.

Income Taxes

An analysis of the provision for income taxes for income from continuing operations follows:
Year Ended December 31
2004

2003

2002

(Millions of dollars)

Current income taxes:
United States
State
Other countries

$192.0
35.4
275.9

$302.6
37.7
194.6

$233.6
13.6
193.7

503.3

534.9

440.9

30.8
(20.7)
(29.5)

1.5
(33.9)
(18.4)

174.4
6.0
8.6

(19.4)

(50.8)

189.0

Total
Deferred income taxes:
United States
State
Other countries
Total
Total provision for income taxes

$483.9

$484.1

$629.9

Income from continuing operations before income taxes is earned in the following tax jurisdictions:
Year Ended December 31
2004

2003

2002

(Millions of dollars)

United States
Other countries

$ 1,578.1
625.3

$ 1,571.2
505.1

$ 1,662.9
539.2

Total income before income taxes

$ 2,203.4

$ 2,076.3

$ 2,202.1
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Deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are composed of the following:
December 31
2004

2003

(Millions of dollars)

Net current deferred income tax asset attributable to:
Pension, postretirement and other employee benefits
Other accrued expenses
Prepaid royalties
Other
Valuation allowances

$

86.9
162.0
27.2
9.5
(7.4)

$

105.6
127.5
27.2
28.2
(7.1)

$

278.2

$

281.4

$

32.6
304.1
67.6
37.3
71.5
(219.7)

$

(15.2)
333.7
57.0
28.5
44.5
(218.3)

Net noncurrent deferred income tax asset included in other assets

$

293.4

$

230.2

Net noncurrent deferred income tax liability attributable to:
Accumulated depreciation
Pension, postretirement and other employee benefits
Installment sales
Foreign tax credits and loss carryforwards
Prepaid royalties
Other
Valuation allowances

$(1,312.7)
521.9
(188.1)
160.1
—
3.8
(25.3)

$(1,318.3)
531.5
(188.1)
83.2
27.2
6.4
(22.5)

Net noncurrent deferred income tax liability

$ (840.3)

$ (880.6)

Net current deferred income tax asset
Net noncurrent deferred income tax asset attributable to:
Accumulated depreciation
Income tax loss carryforwards
State tax credits
Pension and other postretirement benefits
Other
Valuation allowances

Valuation allowances increased $4.5 million and $7.3 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. Valuation allowances at the end of 2004 primarily relate to
the portion of income tax loss carryforwards of $1,083.6 million, that potentially are not usable primarily in jurisdictions outside the United States. If not utilized
against taxable income, $440.4 million of the loss carryforwards will expire from 2005 through 2024. The remaining $643.2 million has no expiration date.
Realization of income tax loss carryforwards is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income prior to expiration of these carryforwards. Although
realization is not assured, management believes it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax assets, net of applicable valuation allowances, will be
realized. The amount of the deferred tax assets considered realizable could be reduced or increased if estimates of future taxable income change during the
carryforward period.
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Presented below is a reconciliation of the income tax provision computed at the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to the provision for income taxes.
Year Ended December 31
2004
Amount

2003
Percent

Amount

2002
Percent

Amount

Percent

(Millions of dollars)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes

$2,203.4

Tax at U.S. statutory rate applied to income from continuing operations
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit
Synthetic fuel credits
Net operating losses realized
Other—net(a)

$ 771.2
9.6
(144.4)
(9.2)
(143.3)

35.0%
.4
(6.6)
(.4)
(6.4)

$ 726.7
2.5
(94.1)
(16.7)
(134.3)

35.0%
.1
(4.5)
(.8)
(6.5)

$ 770.7
12.7
—
(14.8)
(138.7)

35.0%
.6
—
(.7)
(6.3)

Provision for income taxes

$ 483.9

22.0%

$ 484.1

23.3%

$ 629.9

28.6%

(a)

$2,076.3

$2,202.1

Other —net is comprised of numerous items, none of which is greater than 1.6 percent of income from continuing operations.

At December 31, 2004, U.S. income taxes have not been provided on approximately $4.0 billion of unremitted earnings of subsidiaries operating outside
the U.S. These earnings, which are considered to be invested indefinitely, would become subject to income tax if they were remitted as dividends, were lent to the
Corporation or a U.S. affiliate, or if the Corporation were to sell its stock in the subsidiaries.
The American Jobs Creation Act (the “Act”) provides, among other things, a special one-time deduction for certain earnings from outside the U.S. that are
repatriated (as defined in the Act) on or before December 31, 2005. The Act also extends the foreign tax credit carryover period from 5 to 10 years, and the
Corporation has reflected this in its income tax provision. The Corporation currently is evaluating the effect of the Act on the unremitted earnings of its non-U.S.
subsidiaries and expects to complete that evaluation by June 30, 2005.
Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability on these unremitted earnings is not practicable. Because the Corporation
has not yet completed its evaluation of the effect of the Act on unremitted earnings, at this time it is not possible to reasonably estimate the amount of unremitted
earnings that may be repatriated and the income tax effects of such repatriation.
The Corporation records liabilities in current income taxes for potential assessments. The accruals relate to uncertain tax positions in a variety of taxing
jurisdictions and are based on what management believes will be the ultimate resolution of these positions. These liabilities may be affected by changing
interpretations of laws, rulings by tax authorities, or the expiration of the statute of limitations. The Corporation’s U.S. federal income tax returns have been
audited through 2001. IRS assessments of additional taxes have been paid through 1998. Refund actions are pending in Federal District Court or the IRS Appeals
Office for the years 1987 through 1998. Management currently believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not
have a material effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
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Note 15.

Earnings Per Share

A reconciliation of the average number of common shares outstanding used in the basic and diluted EPS computations follows:
Average Common Shares
Outstanding
2004

2003

2002

(Millions)

Basic
Dilutive effect of stock options
Dilutive effect of restricted stock awards
Diluted

495.2
3.4
.6

507.0
1.2
.4

517.2
2.5
.3

499.2

508.6

520.0

Options outstanding that were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because their exercise price was greater than the average market price of the
common shares are summarized below:
Description

2004

Average number of share equivalents (millions)
Weighted-average exercise price
Expiration date of options
Options outstanding at year-end

5.4
$70.13
2007 to 2012
5.4

2003

20.5
$60.19
2006 to 2013
20.2

2002

10.7
$65.89
2006 to 2012
11.4

The number of common shares outstanding as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was 482.9 million, 501.6 million and 510.8 million, respectively.
Note 16.

Business Segment and Geographic Data Information

The Corporation is organized into operating segments based on product groupings. These operating segments have been aggregated into three reportable
global business segments: Personal Care; Consumer Tissue; and Business-to-Business. Each reportable segment is headed by an executive officer who reports to
the Chief Executive Officer and is responsible for the development and execution of global strategies to drive growth and profitability of the Corporation’s
worldwide personal care, consumer tissue and business-to-business operations. These strategies include global plans for branding and product positioning,
technology, research and development programs, cost reductions including supply chain management, and capacity and capital investments for each of these
businesses. The principal sources of revenue in each global business segment are described below. The accounting policies of our reportable segments are the
same as those described in Note 1.
•

The Personal Care segment manufactures and markets disposable diapers, training and youth pants and swimpants; baby wipes; feminine and
incontinence care products; and related products. Products in this segment are primarily for household use and are sold under a variety of brand
names, including Huggies, Pull-Ups, Little Swimmers, GoodNites, Kotex, Lightdays, Depend, Poise and other brand names.

•

The Consumer Tissue segment manufactures and markets facial and bathroom tissue, paper towels, napkins and related products for household use.
Products in this segment are sold under the Kleenex, Scott, Cottonelle, Viva, Andrex, Scottex, Hakle, Page and other brand names.

•

The Business-to-Business segment manufactures and markets disposable, single-use, health and hygiene products to the away-from-home
marketplace. These products include facial and bathroom tissue, paper towels, napkins, wipers, surgical gowns, drapes, infection control products,
sterilization wrap, disposable face masks and exam gloves, respiratory products, other disposable medical products and other products. Products in
this segment are sold under the Kimberly-Clark, Kleenex, Scott, Kimwipes, WypAll, Surpass, Safeskin, Tecnol, Ballard and other brand names.
71

Table of Contents
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
Approximately 13 percent of net sales were to Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. in 2004, 2003 and 2002, primarily in the Personal Care and Consumer Tissue
businesses.
Information concerning consolidated operations by business segment and geographic area, as well as data for equity companies, is presented in the
following tables:
Consolidated Operations by Business Segment
Personal
Care

Consumer
Tissue

BusinesstoBusiness

Intersegment
Sales

All
Other

Consolidated
Total

(Millions of dollars)

Net Sales
2004
2003
2002
Operating Profit(a)
2004
2003
2002
Depreciation and Amortization
2004
2003
2002
Assets(b)
2004
2003
2002
Capital Spending
2004
2003
2002

$ 5,975.1
5,652.9
5,485.5

$ 5,343.0
5,046.7
4,635.2

$ 3,957.9
3,477.7
3,256.7

1,253.2
1,221.0
1,157.1

803.1
728.2
807.3

656.6
602.8
574.9

—
—
—

286.9
264.4
259.4

310.7
300.2
273.3

194.0
178.2
169.5

—
—
—

8.7
2.5
2.2

800.3
745.3
704.4

4,813.3
4,781.9
4,381.8

5,881.5
5,796.5
4,965.4

4,745.2
4,850.1
4,768.6

—
—
—

1,578.0
1,351.4
1,523.8

17,018.0
16,779.9
15,639.6

242.5
344.4
323.2

202.3
366.6
306.9

89.4
141.0
227.1

—
—
—

.8
20.9
4.1

535.0
872.9
861.3

(a)

Segment operating profit excludes other income (expense), net and income and expenses not associated with the business segments.

(b)

Data for 2003 and 2002 does not reflect the Spin-off. Segment assets exclude assets not allocated to business segments.

$

(192.8)
(151.0)
(145.9)

$

—
—
—

$ 15,083.2
14,026.3
13,231.5

(206.5)
(220.4)
(171.0)

2,506.4
2,331.6
2,368.3

Sales of Principal Products
2004

2003

2002

(Billions of dollars)

Consumer tissue products
Diapers
Away-from-home professional products
All other
Consolidated
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$ 5.3
3.2
2.3
4.3

$ 4.8
3.0
2.1
4.1

$ 4.4
3.0
1.9
3.9

$15.1

$14.0

$13.2
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Consolidated Operations by Geographic Area
United
States

Canada

Intergeographic
Items(a)

Total
North
America

Asia,
Latin
America
& Other

Europe

Intergeographic
Items

All
Other

Consolidated
Total

—
—
—

$ 15,083.2
14,026.3
13,231.5

(Millions of dollars)

Net Sales
2004
2003
2002

$8,683.5
8,335.8
8,314.4

$ 911.0
801.8
831.4

Operating Profit (b)
2004
2003
2002

1,953.1
1,862.7
1,923.8

122.0
131.7
100.5

Net Property (c)
2004
2003
2002

4,256.2
4,458.3
4,525.1

25.1
269.8
215.2

$ (554.4)
(515.6)
(601.2)

$9,040.1
8,622.0
8,544.6

$3,098.3
2,892.5
2,482.8

$3,488.8
3,061.6
2,751.5

$ (544.0)
(549.8)
(547.4)

—
—
—

2,075.1
1,994.4
2,024.3

221.0
202.9
191.0

416.8
354.7
324.0

—
—
—

(206.5)
(220.4)
(171.0)

2,506.4
2,331.6
2,368.3

—
—
—

4,281.3
4,728.1
4,740.3

1,875.2
1,809.3
1,534.0

1,834.0
1,726.0
1,345.1

—
—
—

—
—
—

7,990.5
8,263.4
7,619.4

(a)

Intergeographic net sales include $368.0 million, $345.4 million and $387.4 million by operations in Canada to the U.S. in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

(b)

Geographic operating profit excludes other income (expense), net and income and expenses not associated with geographic areas.

(c)

Data for 2003 and 2002 does not reflect the Spin-off.

$

Equity Companies’ Data by Geographic Area
Net
Sales

Gross
Profit

Operating
Profit

Net
Income

Corporation’s
Share of
Net Income

(Millions of dollars)

For the year ended:
December 31, 2004
Latin America
Asia and Middle East
Total

For the year ended:
December 31, 2003
Latin America(a)
Asia and Middle East
Total

For the year ended:
December 31, 2002
Latin America
Asia and Middle East
Total

(a)

As of August 2003, the Corporation consolidated Klabin-Kimberly S.A., its Brazilian affiliate.
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$1,756.8
66.2

$ 611.4
23.7

$ 423.2
10.1

$251.1
10.0

$

119.8
5.0

$1,823.0

$635.1

$ 433.3

$261.1

$

124.8

$1,687.8
62.3

$608.4
21.9

$ 378.2
10.1

$214.3
10.1

$

102.0
5.0

$1,750.1

$630.3

$ 388.3

$224.4

$

107.0

$1,824.2
54.2

$690.6
19.5

$ 435.2
9.2

$229.8
8.9

$

108.9
4.4

$1,878.4

$710.1

$ 444.4

$238.7

$

113.3
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Current
Assets

NonCurrent
Assets

Current
Liabilities

NonCurrent
Liabilities

Stockholders’
Equity

(Millions of dollars)

December 31, 2004
Latin America
Asia and Middle East
Total

December 31, 2003
Latin America
Asia and Middle East
Total

December 31, 2002
Latin America
Asia and Middle East
Total

$784.2
37.5

$ 891.1
40.0

$ 505.8
19.7

$ 475.2
.3

$694.3
57.6

$821.7

$ 931.1

$ 525.5

$ 475.5

$751.9

$685.7
31.0

$ 887.1
38.6

$ 368.0
18.7

$ 530.7
.9

$674.2
50.0

$716.7

$ 925.7

$ 386.7

$ 531.6

$724.2

$745.4
28.9

$1,109.6
30.7

$ 598.9
17.9

$ 358.0
.7

$898.1
41.0

$774.3

$1,140.3

$ 616.8

$ 358.7

$939.1

Equity companies are principally engaged in operations in the Personal Care and Consumer Tissue businesses.
At December 31, 2004, the Corporation’s equity companies and ownership interest were as follows: Kimberly-Clark Lever, Ltd. (India) (50%), KimberlyClark de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. and subsidiaries (47.9%), Olayan Kimberly-Clark Arabia (49%), Olayan Kimberly-Clark (Bahrain) WLL (49%) and Tecnosur
S.A. (Colombia) (34.3%).
Kimberly-Clark de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. is partially owned by the public and its stock is publicly traded in Mexico. At December 31, 2004, the
Corporation’s investment in this equity company was $381.5 million, and the estimated fair value of the investment was $1.9 billion based on the market price of
publicly traded shares.
Note 17.

Supplemental Data (Millions of dollars)

Supplemental Income Statement Data
December 31
Summary of Advertising and Research Expenses

Advertising expense
Research expense
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2004

2003

2002

$421.3
279.7

$401.9
279.1

$400.2
287.4
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Supplemental Balance Sheet Data
December 31
Summary of Accounts Receivable, net

Accounts Receivable:
From customers
Other
Less allowance for doubtful accounts and sales discounts
Total

2004

2003

$ 1,905.4
195.5
(62.6)

$ 1,815.1
207.6
(67.6)

$ 2,038.3

$ 1,955.1

Accounts receivable are carried at amounts that approximate fair value.
December 31
Summary of Inventories

2004

Inventories by Major Class:
At the lower of cost determined on the FIFO or weighted-average cost methods or market:
Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods
Supplies and other

$

2003

332.7
225.9
1,044.6
235.4

$

353.8
186.8
935.2
238.1

1,838.6
Excess of FIFO or weighted-average cost over LIFO cost

1,713.9

(167.7)

Total

$ 1,670.9

(150.5)
$ 1,563.4

FIFO or weighted-average value of total inventories determined on the LIFO method were $768.5 million and $663.8 million at December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2003, respectively.
December 31
Summary of Property, Plant and Equipment, net

2004

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Land
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Construction in Progress

$

Less accumulated depreciation
Total

2003

279.6
2,437.9
11,770.6
335.0

$

276.5
2,272.4
12,061.7
568.9

14,823.1

15,179.5

(6,832.6)

(6,916.1)

$ 7,990.5

$ 8,263.4

December 31
Summary of Accrued Expenses

2004

Accrued advertising and promotion
Accrued salaries and wages
Other

$

Total

286.3
389.6
755.7

$ 1,431.6
75

2003

$

240.6
374.1
760.0

$ 1,374.7
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Supplemental Cash Flow Statement Data(a)
Year Ended December 31
Summary of Cash Flow Effects of Decrease (Increase) in
Operating Working Capital (b)

2004

2003

2002

Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Trade accounts payable
Other payables
Accrued expenses
Accrued income taxes
Currency

$(135.9)
(192.9)
27.0
99.4
(22.5)
115.9
163.9
78.1

$ (63.3)
(109.8)
(14.8)
(9.4)
32.0
(.4)
140.0
143.9

$(129.6)
66.2
(14.5)
88.5
(8.3)
(22.0)
(219.1)
41.0

Decrease (increase) in operating working capital

$ 133.0

$ 118.2

$(197.8)

Year Ended December 31
Other Cash Flow Data

2004

2003

2002

Interest paid
Income taxes paid

$175.3
368.7

$178.1
410.4

$183.3
621.4

Year Ended December 31
Interest Expense

2004

2003

2002

Gross interest cost
Capitalized interest on major construction projects

$169.0
(6.5)

$180.3
(12.5)

$192.9
(11.0)

Interest expense

$162.5

$167.8

$181.9

(a)

Excludes the effects of the Spin-off.

(b)

Excludes the effects of acquisitions and dispositions.
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Note 18.

Unaudited Quarterly Data
2004

2003

Fourth

Third

Second

First

Fourth(a)

$3,901.4
1,318.9
641.4

$3,783.0
1,239.1
616.9

$3,687.3
1,254.8
624.7

$3,711.5
1,255.7
623.4

$3,623.1
1,247.7
601.2

433.9
7.4
441.3

442.9
11.4
454.3

443.8
15.5
459.3

.92
—
.92

.88
.02
.90

.89
.02
.91

.92
(.01)
.91
.40

.87
.02
.89
.40
69.00
62.58
64.59

Third

Second

First

$3,562.3
1,188.4
584.0

$3,464.2
1,180.5
586.2

$3,376.7
1,177.8
560.2

446.4
13.1
459.5

407.2
12.5
419.7

404.2
13.1
417.3

385.8
11.9
397.7

.88
.04
.92

.89
.02
.91

.80
.03
.83

.80
.02
.82

.76
.02
.78

.88
.02
.90
.40

.88
.03
.91
.40

.88
.03
.91
.34

.80
.03
.83
.34

.79
.03
.82
.34

.75
.03
.78
.34

66.98
62.34
65.88

65.16
56.19
63.10

59.30
50.75
59.09

52.95
47.04
51.32

54.33
45.18
52.14

47.91
42.92
45.46

(Millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

Net sales
Gross profit
Operating profit
Income (loss) from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Net income
Per share basis:
Basic
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income
Diluted
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income
Cash dividends declared per share
Market price per share:(b)
High
Low
Close

449.8
(4.5)
445.3

66.20
58.74
65.81

(a)

During the fourth quarter, the Corporation recorded the acquisition of a 49.5 percent minority interest in a synthetic fuel partnership. The tax benefits and credits related to the operation of the partnership
increased fourth quarter net income by $25.8 million, or $.05 per share. See Note 13.

(b)

Historical market prices do not reflect any adjustment for the Spin-off.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Kimberly-Clark Corporation:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kimberly-Clark Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and
the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. Our audits
also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of
the Corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Kimberly-Clark Corporation and
subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Corporation changed its method of accounting for customer
coupons.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of the
Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 22, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on
management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the
Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Dallas, Texas
February 22, 2005
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLSAND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of December 31, 2004, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of the Corporation’s management, including the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures.
Based on that evaluation, the Corporation’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that the Corporation’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2004.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management’s Report on the Financial Statements
Kimberly-Clark Corporation’s management is responsible for all aspects of the business, including the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using generally accepted accounting principles considered appropriate in the
circumstances to present fairly the Corporation’s consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows on a consistent basis. Management also has
prepared the other information in this annual report and is responsible for its accuracy and consistency with the consolidated financial statements.
As can be expected in a complex and dynamic business environment, some financial statement amounts are based on estimates and judgments. Even
though estimates and judgments are used, measures have been taken to provide reasonable assurance of the integrity and reliability of the financial information
contained in this annual report. These measures include an effective control-oriented environment in which the internal audit function plays an important role and
an Audit Committee of the board of directors that oversees the financial reporting process.
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by the independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP. During their audits,
Deloitte & Touche LLP was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of stockholders and the board of
directors and all committees of the board. Management believes that all representations made to the independent registered public accountants during their audits
were valid and appropriate.
Audit Committee Oversight and the Corporation’s Code of Conduct
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is composed solely of independent directors, assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibility for
oversight of the quality and integrity of the accounting, auditing and financial reporting practices of the Corporation; the audits of its consolidated financial
statements; and internal control over financial reporting. The Audit Committee reviews with the auditors any relationships that may affect their objectivity and
independence. The Audit Committee also reviews with management, the internal auditors and the independent registered public accounting firm the quality and
adequacy of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting, including compliance matters related to the Corporation’s code of conduct, and the results
of the internal and external audits. The Audit Committee has reviewed and recommended that the audited consolidated financial statements included in this report
be included in Form 10-K for filing with the SEC.
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The Corporation’s code of conduct, among other things, contains policies for conducting business affairs in a lawful and ethical manner everywhere it does
business, for avoiding potential conflicts of interest and for preserving confidentiality of information and business ideas. Internal controls have been implemented
to provide reasonable assurance that the code of conduct is followed.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial reporting, including safeguarding of
assets against unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition. This system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to management and the board of directors
regarding preparation of reliable published financial statements and safeguarding of the Corporation’s assets. This system is supported with written policies and
procedures, contains self-monitoring mechanisms and is audited by the internal audit function. Appropriate actions are taken by management to correct
deficiencies as they are identified. All internal control systems have inherent limitations, including the possibility of circumvention and overriding of controls,
and, therefore, can provide only reasonable assurance as to the reliability of financial statement preparation and such asset safeguarding.
The Corporation has assessed the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, it used
the criteria described in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
Based on this assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2004, the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting is effective.
Deloitte & Touche LLP has issued its report on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial
reporting. That report appears below.
/s/ Thomas J. Falk
Thomas J. Falk
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Mark A. Buthman
Mark A. Buthman
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

February 22, 2005
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Kimberly-Clark Corporation:
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that
Kimberly-Clark Corporation and Subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Corporation’s management
is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and principal
financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness
of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is
fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
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We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule of the Corporation as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004 and our report dated February 22, 2005 expressed
an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule and included an explanatory paragraph regarding a change in the
Corporation’s method of accounting for customer coupons.
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Dallas, Texas
February 22, 2005
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation described above in
“Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” that occurred during the Corporation’s fourth fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The section of the 2005 Proxy Statement captioned “Certain Information Regarding Directors and Nominees” under “Proposal 1. Election of Directors”
identifies members of the board of directors of the Corporation and nominees, and is incorporated in this Item 10 by reference.
Item 4A of this Form 10-K identifies executive officers of the Corporation and is incorporated in this Item 10 by reference.
The section of the 2005 Proxy Statement captioned “Corporate Governance—Board of Directors and Board Committees—Audit Committee” under
“Proposal 1. Election of Directors” identifies members of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and an audit committee financial expert, and is
incorporated in this Item 10 by reference.
The section of the 2005 Proxy Statement captioned “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” is incorporated in this Item 10 by
reference.
The section of the 2005 Proxy Statement captioned “Corporate Governance—Other Corporate Governance Policies—Corporate Governance Policies”
identifies how stockholders may obtain a copy of the Corporation’s Corporate Governance Policies without charge and is incorporated in this Item 10 by
reference.
The section of the 2005 Proxy Statement captioned “Corporate Governance—Other Corporate Governance Policies—Code of Conduct” identifies how
stockholders may obtain a copy of the Corporation’s Code of Conduct without charge and is incorporated in this Item 10 by reference.
The section of the 2005 Proxy Statement captioned “Corporate Governance—Board of Directors and Board Committees” identifies how stockholders may
obtain a copy of charters of the Audit, Management Development and Compensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees of the Board of
Directors without charge and is incorporated in this Item 10 by reference.
ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information in the section of the 2005 Proxy Statement captioned “Executive Compensation” is incorporated in this Item 11 by reference.
ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information in the section of the 2005 Proxy Statement captioned “Security Ownership of Management” is incorporated in this Item 12 by reference.
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The following table gives information about the Corporation’s common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options, warrants and rights under all
of the Corporation’s equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2004.

Plan category

Number of securities
to be issued upon
exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights
(in millions)
(a)

Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders
(1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by
stockholders (4)

31.5(2)

(5)

$

.2(5)

Total

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding
options, warrants
and rights
(b)

31.7

55.36
71.37(5)

$

55.45

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding
securities reflected in
column (a))
(in millions)
(c)

33.6(3)
.8
34.4

Includes the 1992 Equity Participation Plan and 2001 Equity Participation Plan.
Does not include .7 million restricted share units granted under the 2001 Equity Participation Plan. Upon vesting, a share of the Corporation’s common stock is issued for each restricted share unit.
Includes 16.4 million shares that may be granted as restricted shares or restricted share units under the 2001 Equity Participation Plan.
Includes the 1999 Restricted Stock Plan, Outside Directors’ Compensation Plan and certain acquired equity compensation plans. See below for descriptions of the 1999 Restricted Stock Plan and Outside
Directors’ Compensation Plan.
Includes .1 million options at a weighted-average exercise price of $92.21 granted under equity compensation plans assumed by the Corporation in connection with acquisitions to honor existing
obligations of acquired entities. The Corporation will not make any additional grants or awards under such plans, although the terms of one acquired deferred compensation plan provide for issuance of a
de minimus number of shares of the Corporation’s common stock for reinvested dividends on deferred amounts.

1999 Restricted Stock Plan. In 1999, the Corporation’s Board of Directors approved the 1999 Restricted Stock Plan under which certain key employees
could be granted, in the aggregate, up to 2,500,000 shares of the Corporation’s common stock or awards of restricted stock units. These restricted stock awards
vest and become unrestricted shares in three to ten years from the date of grant. Although plan participants are entitled to cash dividends and may vote such
awarded shares, the sale or transfer of such shares is limited during the restricted period. The market value of the Corporation’s stock at the date of grant
determines the value of the restricted stock award. Although no additional awards can be granted under this plan, unvested restricted share units are credited with
dividends that are converted to additional restricted share units.
Outside Directors’ Compensation Plan. In 2001, the Corporation’s Board of Directors approved the Outside Directors’ Compensation Plan. A maximum of
1,000,000 shares of the Corporation’s common stock is available for grant under this plan. The Corporation’s Board of Directors may grant awards in the form of
stock, stock appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted share units, or any combination of cash, options, stock, stock appreciation rights, restricted shares or
restricted share units under this plan.
ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information in the section of the 2005 Proxy Statement captioned “Certain Transactions and Business Relationships” is incorporated in this Item 13 by
reference.
ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information in the sections of the 2005 Proxy Statement captioned “Principal Accounting Firm Fees” and “Audit Committee Approval of Audit and
Non-Audit Services” under “Proposal 2. Approval of Auditors” is incorporated in this Item 14 by reference.
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ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)

Documents filed as part of this report.

1.

Financial statements.
The financial statements are set forth under Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K.

2.

Financial statement schedules.
The following information is filed as part of this Form 10-K and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements contained in Item 8:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Schedule for Kimberly-Clark Corporation and Subsidiaries:
Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
All other schedules have been omitted because they were not applicable or because the required information has been included in the financial
statements or notes thereto.

3.

Exhibits.

Exhibit No. (3)a.

Restated Certificate of Incorporation, dated June 12, 1997, and Certificate Eliminating Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock, dated November 19, 2004, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (3)b.

By-Laws, as amended April 24, 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (3)b of the Corporation’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

Exhibit No. (4).

Copies of instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission on request.

Exhibit No. (10)a.

Management Achievement Award Program, as amended and restated, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)a of the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997.

Exhibit No. (10)b.

Executive Severance Plan, as amended and restated, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)b of the Corporation’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)c.

Fourth Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)c of the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996.

Exhibit No. (10)d.

Executive Officer Achievement Award Program, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)d of the Corporation’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)e.

1992 Equity Participation Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)e of the Corporation’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Exhibit No. (10)f.

Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)f of the Corporation’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)g.

Outside Directors’ Stock Compensation Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)g of the Corporation’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.
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Exhibit No. (10)h.

Supplemental Benefit Plan to the Kimberly-Clark Corporation Pension Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
No. (10)h of the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)i.

Second Supplemental Benefit Plan to the Kimberly-Clark Corporation Pension Plan, as amended and restated, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit No. (10)i of the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)j.

Retirement Contribution Excess Benefit Program, as amended and restated, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)j of
the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Exhibit No. (10)k.

1999 Restricted Stock Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)k of the Corporation’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Exhibit No. (10)l.

Outside Directors’ Compensation Plan, as amended and restated, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)l of the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)m.

2001 Equity Participation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)m of the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Exhibit No. (10)n.

Form of Award Agreements under 2001 Equity Participation Plan, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (10)o.

Summary of Outside Directors’ 2005 Compensation pursuant to the Outside Directors’ Compensation Plan, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (12).

Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the five years ended December 31, 2004, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (21).

Subsidiaries of the Corporation, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (23).

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (24).

Powers of Attorney, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (31)a.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”), filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (31)b.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (32)a.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Exchange Act and Section 1350
of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, furnished herewith.

Exhibit No. (32)b.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Exchange Act and Section 1350
of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION
February 22, 2005

By:

/s/

MARK A. BUTHMAN
Mark A. Buthman
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ THOMAS J. FALK

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and
Director (principal executive officer)

February 22, 2005

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

February 22, 2005

Vice President and Controller
(principal accounting officer)

February 22, 2005

Thomas J. Falk

/s/

MARK A. BUTHMAN
Mark A. Buthman

/s/

RANDY J. VEST
Randy J. Vest

Directors
Dennis R. Beresford
John F. Bergstrom
Pastora San Juan Cafferty
Robert W. Decherd
Thomas J. Falk

By:

/s/

Claudio X. Gonzalez
Mae C. Jemison
Linda Johnson Rice
Marc J. Shapiro
G. Craig Sullivan

RONALD D. MC CRAY

February 22, 2005

Ronald D. Mc Cray
Attorney-in-Fact
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KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 AND 2002
(Millions of dollars)
Additions

Description

December 31, 2004
Allowances deducted from assets
to which they apply
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowances for sales discounts
December 31, 2003
Allowances deducted from assets
to which they apply
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowances for sales discounts
December 31, 2002
Allowances deducted from assets
to which they apply
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowances for sales discounts

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

Deductions
Charged to
Other
Accounts(a)

Write-Offs
and
Reclassifications

Balance
at End
of
Period

$

47.9
19.7

$

8.8
233.1

$

4.0
.1

$

18.2(b)(c)
232.8(d)

$ 42.5
20.1

$

48.4
19.2

$

11.9
228.2

$

6.5
1.6

$

18.9(b)
229.3(d)

$ 47.9
19.7

$

49.8
20.0

$

10.4
218.8

$

.2
.6

$

12.0(b)
220.2(d)

$ 48.4
19.2

(a)

Includes bad debt recoveries and the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Also includes the beginning balances resulting from acquisitions
made during the year and from the consolidation of Klabin Kimberly S.A., the Corporation’s Brazilian affiliate in 2003.

(b)

Primarily uncollectible receivables written off.

(c)

Includes $4.6 million of Neenah Paper balances spun off in November 2004.

(d)

Sales discounts allowed.
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KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 AND 2002
(Millions of dollars)
Additions
Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

Charged
to Other
Accounts

Deductions(a)

Balance
at End of
Period

December 31, 2004
Deferred Taxes
Valuation Allowance

$ 247.9

$

(12.4)

$

—

$

(16.9)

$ 252.4

December 31, 2003
Deferred Taxes
Valuation Allowance

$ 240.6

$

15.1

$

—

$

7.8

$ 247.9

December 31, 2002
Deferred Taxes
Valuation Allowance

$ 177.2

$

55.3

$

—

$

(8.1)

$ 240.6

Description

(a)

Includes the net currency effects of translating valuation allowances at current rates under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 52 of $(18.4) million in 2004, $(9.3) million in 2003 and $1.5
million in 2002.

89

Table of Contents
Exhibit Index
Exhibit No. (3)a.

Restated Certificate of Incorporation, dated June 12, 1997, and Certificate Eliminating Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock, dated November 19, 2004, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (3)b.

By-Laws, as amended April 24, 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (3)b of the Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

Exhibit No. (4).

Copies of instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission
on request.

Exhibit No. (10)a.

Management Achievement Award Program, as amended and restated, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)a of the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997.

Exhibit No. (10)b.

Executive Severance Plan, as amended and restated, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)b of the Corporation’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)c.

Fourth Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)c of the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996.

Exhibit No. (10)d.

Executive Officer Achievement Award Program, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)d of the Corporation’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)e.

1992 Equity Participation Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)e of the Corporation’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Table of Contents
Exhibit No. (10)f.

Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)f of the Corporation’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)g.

Outside Directors’ Stock Compensation Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No.
(10)g of the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)h.

Supplemental Benefit Plan to the Kimberly-Clark Corporation Pension Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No.
(10)h of the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)i.

Second Supplemental Benefit Plan to the Kimberly-Clark Corporation Pension Plan, as amended and restated, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit No. (10)i of the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)j.

Retirement Contribution Excess Benefit Program, as amended and restated, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)j of the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Exhibit No. (10)k.

1999 Restricted Stock Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)k of the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Exhibit No. (10)l.

Outside Directors’ Compensation Plan, as amended and restated, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)l of the Corporation’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Exhibit No. (10)m.

2001 Equity Participation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. (10)m of the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2001.

Exhibit No. (10)n.

Form of Award Agreements under 2001 Equity Participation Plan, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (10)o.

Summary of Outside Directors’ 2005 Compensation pursuant to the Outside Directors’ Compensation Plan, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (12).

Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the five years ended December 31, 2004, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (21).

Subsidiaries of the Corporation, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (23).

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (24).

Powers of Attorney, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (31)a.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”), filed herewith.
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Exhibit No. (31)b.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act, filed herewith.

Exhibit No. (32)a.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Exchange Act and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, furnished herewith.

Exhibit No. (32)b.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Exchange Act and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, furnished herewith.

Exhibit No (3)a
RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION
JUNE 12, 1997

RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION
The date of filing of the original certificate of incorporation of this Corporation with the Secretary of State was June 29, 1928.
ARTICLE I
The name of this Corporation is KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION.
ARTICLE II
Its registered office in the State of Delaware is located at Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle.
The name and address of its registered agent is The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801.
ARTICLE III
The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of
Delaware. The Corporation shall possess and may exercise all powers and privileges necessary or convenient to effect such purpose and all powers and privileges
now or hereafter conferred by the laws of Delaware upon corporations formed under the General Corporation Law of Delaware.
ARTICLE IV
The total number of shares of all classes of capital stock which the Corporation shall have the authority to issue is one billion, two hundred and twenty
million (1,220,000,000) shares which shall be divided into two classes as follows:
(a)

Twenty million (20,000,000) shares of Preferred Stock without par value; and

(b)

One billion, two hundred million (1,200,000,000) shares of Common Stock of the par value of One Dollar and Twenty-five Cents ($1.25) per Share.
ARTICLE V

A statement of the voting powers and of the designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and the qualifications,
limitations and restrictions thereof, of each class of stock of the Corporation, is as follows:
(1)

In General

No holders of shares of this Corporation of any class, or of bonds, debentures or other securities convertible into stock of any class, shall be entitled
as of right to subscribe for, purchase, or receive any stock of any class whether now or hereafter authorized, or any bonds, debentures or other securities
whether now or hereafter authorized, convertible into stock of any class, or any stock into which said bonds, debentures or other securities may be
convertible, and all such additional shares of stock, debentures or other securities, together with the stock into which the same may be converted, may be
issued and disposed of by the Board of Directors to such persons and on such terms and for such consideration (as far as may be permitted by law) as the
Board of Directors in their absolute discretion may deem advisable.
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All persons who shall acquire stock in the Corporation shall acquire the same subject to the provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation.
(2) Preferred Stock
The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series, with such distinctive serial designations as may be stated or expressed in
the resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of such stock adopted from time to time by the Board of Directors; and in such resolution or resolutions
providing for the issue of shares of each particular series, the Board of Directors is also expressly authorized to fix: the consideration for which the shares
of such series are to be issued; the number of shares constituting such series; the rate of dividends upon which and the times at which dividends on shares
of such series shall be payable and the preference, if any, which such dividends shall have relative to dividends on shares of any other class or classes or
any other series of stock of the Corporation; whether such dividends shall be cumulative or noncumulative, and if cumulative, the date or dates from which
dividends on shares of such series shall be cumulative; the voting rights, if any, to be provided for shares of such series; the rights, if any, which the holders
of shares of such series shall have in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation; the
rights, if any, which the holders of shares of such series shall have to convert such shares into or exchange such shares for shares of any other class or
classes or any other series of stock of the Corporation and the terms and conditions, including price and rate of exchange, of such conversion or exchange;
the redemption price or prices and other terms of redemption, if any, for shares of such series; and any and all other preferences and relative, participating,
optional or other special rights and qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof pertaining to shares of such series.
(3) Common Stock
(a) Subject to preferences and rights to which holders of stock other than the Common Stock may have become entitled by resolution or resolutions
of the Board of Directors as hereinbefore provided, such dividends (payable in cash, stock, or otherwise) as may be determined by the Board of Directors
may be declared and paid out of funds legally available therefor upon the Common Stock from time to time.
(b) In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation, the holders of the Common Stock shall be entitled to
share ratably in all assets available for distribution to the shareholders, subject to preferences and rights to which the holders of stock other than the
Common Stock may have become entitled by resolution or resolutions of the Board of Directors as hereinbefore provided.
(c) The holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each of the shares held by them of record at the time for determining holders
thereof entitled to vote.
(4) Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock
Pursuant to authority conferred by this Article V upon the Board of Directors of the Corporation, the Board of Directors created a series of 2,000,000
shares of Preferred Stock designated as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock by filing an Amended Certificate of Designations of the Corporation
with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on July 12, 1995, and the voting powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating and other
special rights, and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof of the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the Corporation are as set
forth in Annex 1 hereto and are incorporated herein by reference.
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ARTICLE VI
(1) The following corporate action shall require the approval, given at a stockholders’ meeting or by consent in writing, of the holders of at least two-thirds
of the stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereon:
(a) the dissolution of the Corporation, or
(b) the sale, lease, exchange or conveyance of all or substantially all of the property and assets of the Corporation, or
(c) the adoption of an agreement of merger or consolidation, but no stockholder approval shall be required for any merger or consolidation which,
under the Laws of Delaware, need not be approved by the stockholders of the Corporation.
(2) The number of authorized shares of any class or classes of stock may be increased or decreased by the approval of the holders of a majority of all of the
stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon, except to the extent that, in the resolution or resolutions providing for the issuance of a class or series of stock,
the Board of Directors shall specify that approval of the holders of one or more classes or series of stock shall be required to increase or decrease the number of
authorized shares of one or more classes or series of stock.
(3) Any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the Corporation must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of
stockholders of the Corporation and may not be effected by any consent in writing by such stockholders, except for stockholder approvals required by Section (1)
of this Article VI.
(4) Meetings of stockholders of the Corporation may be called only by the Board of Directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a
majority of the entire Board of Directors, by the Chairman of the Board, or by the Chief Executive Officer.
ARTICLE VII
The private property of the stockholders of the Corporation shall not be subject to the payment of corporate debts to any extent whatever.
ARTICLE VIII
(1) Power of the Board of Directors. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed under the direction of its Board of Directors. In
furtherance, and not in limitation, of the powers conferred by the Laws of the State of Delaware, the Board of Directors is expressly authorized:
(a) to make, alter, amend or repeal the By-Laws of the Corporation; provided, however, that no By-Laws hereafter adopted shall invalidate any prior
act of the Directors that would have been valid if such By-Laws had not been adopted;
(b) to determine the rights, powers, duties, rules and procedures that affect the power of the Board of Directors to direct the business and affairs of
the Corporation, including the power to designate and empower committees of the Board of Directors, to elect, appoint and empower the officers and other
agents of the Corporation, and to determine the time and place of, and the notice requirements for, Board meetings, as well as quorum and voting
requirements (except as otherwise provided in this Certificate of Incorporation) for, and the manner of taking, Board action; and
(c) to exercise all such powers and do all such acts as may be exercised by the Corporation, subject to the provisions of the laws of the State of
Delaware, this Certificate of Incorporation, and any By-Laws of the Corporation.
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(2) Number of Directors. The number of Directors constituting the entire Board of Directors shall be not less than 11 nor more than 25. The specific
number of Directors constituting the entire Board of Directors shall be as authorized from time to time exclusively by the affirmative vote of a majority of the
entire Board of Directors. As used in this Certificate of Incorporation, the term “entire Board of Directors” means the total authorized number of Directors that
the Corporation would have if there were no vacancies.
(3) Classified Board. At the 1986 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the Directors shall be divided into three classes, with respect to the time that they
severally hold office, as nearly equal in number as possible, with the initial term of office of the first class of Directors to expire at the 1987 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, the initial term of office of the second class of Directors to expire at the 1988 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and the initial term of office of the
third class of Directors to expire at the 1989 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Commencing with the 1987 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, Directors elected to
succeed those Directors whose terms have thereupon expired shall be elected for a term of office to expire at the third succeeding Annual Meeting of
Stockholders after their election, and upon the election and qualification of their successors. A person elected as a Director shall be deemed a Director as of the
time of such election. If the number of Directors is changed, any increase or decrease shall be apportioned among the classes so as to maintain or attain, if
possible, an equal number of Directors in each class, but in no case will a decrease in the number of Directors shorten the term of any incumbent Director. If such
equality is not possible, the increase or decrease shall be apportioned among the classes in such a way that the difference in the number of Directors in any two
classes shall not exceed one.
(4) Nominations. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock or any other class of capital stock of the Corporation (other than the
Common Stock) then outstanding, nominations for the election of Directors may be made by the affirmative vote of a majority of the entire Board of Directors or
by any stockholder of record entitled to vote generally in the election of Directors. However, any stockholder of record entitled to vote generally in the election of
Directors may nominate one or more persons for election as Directors at a meeting only if a written notice of such stockholder’s intent to make such nomination
or nominations, meeting the requirements described below, has been given, either by personal delivery or by United States mail, postage prepaid, to the Secretary
of the Corporation, and received by the Corporation, not less than 50 days nor more than 75 days prior to the meeting; provided, however, that in the event that
less than 60 days’ notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the meeting is given or made to stockholders, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so
received not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which such notice of the date of meeting was mailed or such public disclosure
was made, whichever first occurs. Each such notice to the Secretary shall set forth: (i) the name and address of record of the stockholder who intends to make the
nomination; (ii) a representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of shares of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and intends to appear in
person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person or persons specified in the notice; (iii) the name, age, business and residence addresses, and principal
occupation or employment of each nominee; (iv) a description of all arrangements or understandings between the stockholder and each nominee and any other
person or persons (naming such person or persons) pursuant to which the nomination or nominations are to be made by the stockholder; (v) such other
information regarding each nominee proposed by such stockholder as would be required to be included in a proxy statement filed pursuant to the proxy rules of
the Securities and Exchange Commission; and (vi) the consent of each nominee to serve as a Director of the Corporation if so elected. The Corporation may
require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information as may reasonably be required by the Corporation to determine the eligibility of such proposed
nominee to serve as a Director of the Corporation. The presiding officer of the meeting may, if the facts warrant, determine that a nomination was not made in
accordance with the foregoing procedure, and if he should so determine, he shall so declare to the meeting and the defective nomination shall be disregarded.
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(5) Vacancies. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock or any other class of capital stock of the Corporation (other than the
Common Stock) then outstanding, any vacancies in the Board of Directors for any reason and any newly created Directorships resulting by reason of any increase
in the number of Directors may, if occurring prior to the expiration of the term of office of the class in which such vacancy or increase occurs, be filled only by
the Board of Directors, acting by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining Directors then in office, although less than a quorum, and any Directors so
elected shall hold office until the next election of the class for which such Directors have been elected and until their successors are elected and qualified.
(6) Removal of Directors. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock or any other class of capital stock of the Corporation (other
than the Common Stock) then outstanding, (i) any Director, or the entire Board of Directors, may be removed from office at any time prior to the expiration of his
or their term of office, but only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of record of outstanding shares representing at least eighty percent (80%)
of the voting power of all of the shares of capital stock of the Corporation then entitled to vote generally in the election of Directors, voting together as a single
class, and (ii) any Director may be removed from office by the affirmative vote of a majority of the entire Board of Directors, at any time prior to the expiration of
his term of office, but only for cause.
ARTICLE IX
Whenever a compromise or arrangement is proposed between this Corporation and its creditors or any class of them and/or between this Corporation and
its stockholders or any class of them, any court of equitable jurisdiction within the State of Delaware may, on the application in a summary way of this
Corporation or of any creditor or stockholder thereof, or on the application of any receiver or receivers appointed for this Corporation under the provisions of
section 291 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code or on the application of trustees in dissolution or of any receiver or receivers appointed for this Corporation under the
provisions of section 279 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code order a meeting of the creditors or class of creditors, and/or of the stockholders or class of stockholders
of this Corporation, as the case may be, to be summoned in such manner as the said Court directs. If a majority in number representing three-fourths in value of
the creditors or class of creditors, and/or of the stockholders or class of stockholders of this Corporation, as the case may be, agree to any compromise or
arrangement and to any reorganization of this Corporation as a consequence of such compromise or arrangement, the said compromise or arrangement and the
said reorganization shall, if sanctioned by the Court to which the said application has been made, be binding on all the creditors or class of creditors, and/or on all
the stockholders or class of stockholders, of this Corporation, as the case may be, and also on this Corporation.
ARTICLE X
(1) Certain Definitions. For the purposes of this Article X and the second proviso of Article XI:
A. “Business Combination” means:
(i) any merger or consolidation of the Corporation or any Subsidiary with (a) an Interested Stockholder or (b) any other Person (whether or not
itself an Interested Stockholder) which is, or after such merger or consolidation would be, an Affiliate or Associate of an Interested Stockholder; or
(ii) any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition (in one transaction or a series of transactions) to or with, or
proposed by or on behalf of, an Interested Stockholder or an Affiliate or Associate of an Interested Stockholder of any assets of the Corporation or
any Subsidiary having an aggregate Fair Market Value of not less than one percent (1%) of the total assets of the Corporation as reported in the
consolidated balance sheet of the Corporation as of the end of the most recent quarter with respect to which such balance sheet has been prepared; or
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(iii) the issuance or transfer by the Corporation or any Subsidiary (in one transaction or a series of transactions) of any securities of the
Corporation or any Subsidiary to, or proposed by or on behalf of, an Interested Stockholder or an Affiliate or Associate of an Interested Stockholder
in exchange for cash, securities or other property (or a combination thereof) having an aggregate Fair Market Value of not less than one percent (1%)
of the total assets of the Corporation as reported in the consolidated balance sheet of the Corporation as of the end of the most recent quarter with
respect to which such balance sheet has been prepared; or
(iv) the adoption of any plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of the Corporation, or any spin-off or split-up of any kind of the
Corporation or any Subsidiary, proposed by or on behalf of an Interested Stockholder or an Affiliate or Associate of an Interested Stockholder; or
(v) any reclassification of securities (including any reverse stock split), or recapitalization of the Corporation, or any merger or consolidation of
the Corporation with any Subsidiary or any other transaction (whether or not with or into or otherwise involving an Interested Stockholder) which
has the effect, directly or indirectly, of increasing the percentage of the outstanding shares of (a) any class of equity securities of the Corporation or
any Subsidiary or (b) any class of securities of the Corporation or any Subsidiary convertible into equity securities of the Corporation or any
Subsidiary, represented by securities of such class which are directly or indirectly owned by an Interested Stockholder and all of its Affiliates and
Associates; or
(vi) any agreement, contract or other arrangement providing for anyone or more of the actions specified in clauses (i) through (v) of this
Section (1) A.
B. “Affiliate” or “Associate” have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in Rule 12b-2 of the General Rules and Regulations under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act” ), as in effect on January 1, 1986.
C. “Beneficial Owner” has the meaning ascribed to such term in Rule 13d-3 of the General Rules and Regulations under the Exchange Act, as in
effect on January 1, 1986.
D. “Continuing Director” means: (i) any member of the Board of Directors of the Corporation who (a) is neither the Interested Stockholder involved
in the Business Combination as to which a vote of Continuing Directors is provided hereunder, nor an Affiliate, Associate, employee, agent, or nominee of
such Interested Stockholder, or the relative of any of the foregoing, and (b) was a member of the Board of Directors of the Corporation prior to the time that
such Interested Stockholder became an Interested Stockholder; and (ii) any successor of a Continuing Director described in clause (i) who is recommended
or elected to succeed a Continuing Director by the affirmative vote of a majority of Continuing Directors then on the Board of Directors of the Corporation.
E. “Fair Market Value” means: (i) in the case of stock, the highest closing sale price during the 30-day period immediately preceding the date in
question of a share of such stock on the Composite Tape for New York Stock Exchange-Listed Stocks, or, if such stock is not reported on the Composite
Tape, on the New York Stock Exchange, or, if such stock is not listed on such Exchange, on the principal United States securities exchange registered under
the Exchange Act on which such stock is listed, or, if such stock is not listed on any such exchange, the highest closing bid quotation with respect to a share
of such stock during the 30-day period preceding the date in question on the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Automated Quotations System
or any similar interdealer quotation system then in use, or, if no such quotation is available, the fair market value on the date in question of a share of such
stock as determined by a majority of the Continuing Directors in good faith; and (ii) in the case of property other than cash or stock, the fair market value
of such property on the date in question as determined by a majority of the Continuing Directors in good faith.
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F. “Interested Stockholder” means any Person (other than the Corporation or any Subsidiary, any employee benefit plan maintained by the Company
or any Subsidiary or any trustee or fiduciary with respect to any such plan when acting in such capacity) who or which:
(i) is, or was at any time within the two-year period immediately prior to the date in question, the Beneficial Owner of five percent (5%) or
more of the voting power of the then outstanding Voting Stock of the Corporation; or
(ii) is an assignee of, or has otherwise succeeded to, any shares of Voting Stock of the Corporation of which an Interested Stockholder was the
Beneficial Owner at any time within the two-year period immediately prior to the date in question, if such assignment or succession shall have
occurred in the course of a transaction, or series of transactions, not involving a public offering within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended.
For the purpose of determining whether a Person is an Interested Stockholder, the outstanding Voting Stock of the Corporation shall include unissued
shares of Voting Stock of the Corporation of which the Interested Stockholder is the Beneficial Owner but shall not include any other shares of Voting
Stock of the Corporation which may be issuable pursuant to any agreement, arrangement or understanding, or upon the exercise of conversion rights,
warrants or options, or otherwise, to any Person who is not the Interested Stockholder.
G. A “Person” means any individual, partnership, firm, corporation, association, trust, unincorporated organization or other entity, as well as any
syndicate or group deemed to be a person under Section 14 (d) (2) of the Exchange Act.
H. “Subsidiary” means any corporation of which the Corporation owns, directly or indirectly, (i) a majority of the outstanding shares of equity
securities of such corporation, or (ii) shares having a majority of the voting power represented by all of the outstanding shares of Voting Stock of such
corporation. For the purpose of determining whether a corporation is a Subsidiary, the outstanding Voting Stock and shares of equity securities thereof shall
include unissued shares of which the Corporation is the Beneficial Owner but shall not include any other shares of Voting Stock of the corporation which
may be issuable pursuant to any agreement, arrangement or understanding, or upon the exercise of conversion rights, warrants or options, or otherwise, to
any Person who is not the corporation.
I. “Voting Stock” means outstanding shares of capital stock of the relevant corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of Directors.
(2) Higher Vote for Business Combinations. In addition to any affirmative vote required by law or by this Certificate of Incorporation, and except as
otherwise expressly provided in Section (3) of this Article, any Business Combination shall require the affirmative vote of the holders of record of outstanding
shares representing at least eighty percent (80%) of the voting power of the then outstanding shares of the Voting Stock of the Corporation, voting together as a
single class, voting at a stockholders’ meeting and not by consent in writing. Such affirmative vote shall be required notwithstanding the fact that no vote may be
required, or that a lesser percentage may be specified, by law or in any agreement with any national securities exchange or otherwise.
(3) When Higher Vote Is Not Required. The provisions of Section (2) of this Article shall not be applicable to any particular Business Combination, and
such Business Combination shall require only such affirmative vote, if any, of the stockholders as is required by law and any other provision of this Certificate of
Incorporation, if the conditions specified in either of the following paragraphs A and B are met.
A. Approval by Continuing Directors. The Business Combination shall have been approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Continuing
Directors, even if the Continuing Directors do not constitute a quorum of the entire Board of Directors.
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B. Form of Consideration, Price and Procedure Requirements. All of the following conditions shall have been met:
(i) With respect to each share of each class of Voting Stock of the Corporation (including Common Stock), the holder thereof shall be entitled
to receive on or before the date of the consummation of the Business Combination (the “Consummation Date”), consideration, in the form specified
in subsection (3) (B) (ii) hereof, with an aggregate Fair Market Value as of the Consummation Date at least equal to the highest of the following:
(a) the highest per share price (including any brokerage commissions, transfer taxes and soliciting dealers’ fees) paid by the Interested
Stockholder to which the Business Combination relates, or by any Affiliate or Associate of such Interested Stockholder, for any shares of
such class of Voting Stock acquired by it (1) within the two-year period immediately prior to the first public announcement of the proposal of
the Business Combination (the “Announcement Date”) or (2) in the transaction in which it became an Interested Stockholder, whichever is
higher;
(b) the Fair Market Value per share of such class of Voting Stock of the Corporation on the Announcement Date; and
(c) the highest preferential amount per share, if any, to which the holders of shares of such class of Voting Stock of the Corporation are
entitled in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation.
(ii) The consideration to be received by holders of a particular class of outstanding Voting Stock of the Corporation (including Common Stock)
as described in subsection (3)(B)(i) hereof shall be in cash or if the consideration previously paid by or on behalf of the Interested Stockholder in
connection with its acquisition of beneficial ownership of shares of such class of Voting Stock consisted in whole or in part of consideration other
than cash, then in the same form as such consideration. If such payment for shares of any class of Voting Stock of the Corporation has been made in
varying forms of consideration, the form of consideration for such class of Voting Stock shall be either cash or the form used to acquire the beneficial
ownership of the largest number of shares of such class of Voting Stock previously acquired by the Interested Stockholder.
(iii) After such Interested Stockholder has become an Interested Stockholder and prior to the Consummation Date: (a) except as approved by
the affirmative vote of a majority of the Continuing Directors, there shall have been no failure to declare and pay at the regular date therefor any full
quarterly dividends (whether or not cumulative) on the outstanding Preferred Stock of the Corporation, if any; (b) there shall have been (1) no
reduction in the annual rate of dividends paid on the Common Stock of the Corporation (except as necessary to reflect any subdivision of the
Common Stock), except as approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Continuing Directors, and (2) an increase in such annual rate of
dividends as necessary to reflect any reclassification (including any reverse stock split), recapitalization, reorganization or any similar transaction
which has the effect of reducing the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock, unless the failure so to increase such annual rate is approved
by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Continuing Directors; and (c) such Interested Stockholder shall not have become the Beneficial Owner of
any additional shares of Voting Stock of the Corporation except as part of the transaction which results in such Interested Stockholder becoming an
Interested Stockholder.
(iv) After such Interested Stockholder has become an Interested Stockholder, neither such Interested Stockholder nor any Affiliate or Associate
thereof shall have received the benefit, directly or indirectly (except proportionately as a stockholder of the Corporation), of any loans, advances,
guarantees, pledges or other financial assistance or any tax credits or other tax advantages provided by the Corporation.
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(v) A proxy or information statement describing the proposed Business Combination and complying with the requirements of the Exchange
Act and the General Rules and Regulations thereunder (or any subsequent provisions replacing such Act, rules or regulations) shall be mailed to the
stockholders of the Corporation at least 45 days prior to the consummation of such Business Combination (whether or not such proxy or information
statement is required to be mailed pursuant to such Act or subsequent provisions thereof).
(4) Powers of Continuing Directors. A majority of the Continuing Directors shall have the power and duty to determine, on the basis of information known
to them after reasonable inquiry, all facts necessary to determine compliance with this Article, including, without limitation, (A) whether a Person is an Interested
Stockholder, (B) the number of shares of Voting Stock of the Corporation beneficially owned by any Person, (C) whether a Person is an Affiliate or Associate of
another, (D) whether the requirements of paragraph B of Section (3) have been met with respect to any Business Combination, and (E) whether the assets which
are the subject of any Business Combination have, or the consideration to be received for the issuance or transfer of securities by the Corporation or any
Subsidiary in any Business Combination has, an aggregate Fair Market Value of not less than one percent (1%) of the total assets of the Corporation as reported in
the consolidated balance sheet of the Corporation as of the end of the most recent quarter with respect to which such balance sheet has been prepared; and the
good faith determination of a majority of the Continuing Directors on such matters shall be conclusive and binding for all the purposes of this Article.
(5) No Effect on Fiduciary Obligations.
A. Nothing contained in this Article shall be construed to relieve the members of the Board of Directors or an Interested Stockholder from any
fiduciary obligation imposed by law.
B. The fact that any Business Combination complies with the provisions of Section (3) of this Article shall not be construed to impose any fiduciary
duty, obligation or responsibility on the Board of Directors, or any member thereof, to approve such Business Combination or recommend its adoption or
approval to the stockholders of the Corporation, nor shall such compliance limit, prohibit or otherwise restrict in any manner the Board of Directors, or any
member thereof, with respect to evaluations of or actions and responses taken with respect to such Business Combination.
(6) Effect on Other Provisions. The provisions of this Article X are in addition to, and shall not alter or amend, the provisions of Section (1) of Article VI of
this Certificate of Incorporation.
ARTICLE XI
The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation in the manner now or
hereafter prescribed by law, and all rights and powers conferred herein on stockholders, directors and officers are subject to this reserved power; provided that,
notwithstanding the fact that a lesser percentage may be specified by the General Corporation Law of Delaware, the affirmative vote of the holders of record of
outstanding shares representing at least eighty percent (80%) of the voting power of all of the shares of capital stock of the Corporation then entitled to vote
generally in the election of Directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to amend, alter, change, repeal, or adopt any provision or provisions
inconsistent with, Section (2) of Article V, Sections (3) and (4) of Article VI, and Articles VIII and XI (except for the second proviso of this Article XI) of this
Certificate of Incorporation unless such amendment, alteration, change, repeal or adoption of any inconsistent provision or provisions is declared advisable by the
Board of Directors by the affirmative vote of at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the entire Board of Directors; and provided further that, notwithstanding the
fact that a lesser percentage may be specified by the General Corporation Law of Delaware, the affirmative vote of the holders of record of outstanding shares
representing at least eighty percent (80%) of the voting power of all the outstanding Voting Stock of the Corporation, voting together as a Single class, shall be
required to amend, alter or repeal, or adopt any provision or provisions inconsistent with, any provision of Article X or this proviso of this Article XI, unless such
amendment, alteration, repeal, or adoption of any inconsistent provision or provisions is declared advisable by the Board of Directors
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by the affirmative vote of at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the entire Board of Directors and by a majority of the Continuing Directors.
ARTICLE XII
No Director shall be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty by such Director as a
Director. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Director shall be liable to the extent provided by applicable law (i) for breach of the Director’s duty of loyalty to the
Corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) pursuant to
Section 174 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware or (iv) for any transaction from which the Director derived an improper personal benefit.
No amendment to or repeal of these provisions shall apply to or have any effect on the liability or alleged liability of any Director of the Corporation for or with
respect to any acts or omissions of such Director occurring prior to such amendment or repeal.
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ANNEX 1
AMENDED
CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS
of
SERIES A JUNIOR PARTICIPATING PREFERRED STOCK
of
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION
(Pursuant to Section 151 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law)
Kimberly-Clark Corporation, a corporation organized and existing under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (hereinafter called the
“Corporation”), hereby certifies that (i) a Certificate of Designations for the Series A Participating Preferred Stock of the Corporation (the “Preferred Stock”) was
filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on July 1, 1988, (ii) no shares of the Preferred Stock have been issued or are outstanding, and (iii) the
Board of Directors of the Corporation adopted the following resolution amending in their entireties the voting powers, preferences and relative, participating,
optional and other special rights of the Preferred Stock as the following resolution was adopted by the Board of Directors of the Corporation as required by
Section 151 of the General Corporation Law at a meeting duly called and held on June 8, 1995:
RESOLVED, that pursuant to the authority granted to and vested in the Board of Directors of this Corporation (hereinafter called the “Board of Directors”
or the “Board”) in accordance with the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of Directors hereby amends the provisions of the Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock of the Corporation to state the designation and number of shares, and to fix the relative rights, preferences, and limitations thereof as
follows:
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock:
Section 1. Designation and Amount. The shares of such series shall be designated as “Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock” (the “Series A
Preferred Stock”) and the number of shares constituting the Series A Preferred Stock shall be 2,000,000. Such number of shares may be increased or decreased by
resolution of the Board of Directors; provided, that no decrease shall reduce the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock to a number less than the number of
shares then outstanding plus the number of shares reserved for issuance upon the exercise of outstanding options, rights or warrants or upon the conversion of any
outstanding securities issued by the Corporation convertible into Series A Preferred Stock.
Section 2. Dividends and Distributions.
(A) Subject to the rights of the holders of any shares of any series of Preferred Stock (or any similar stock) ranking prior and superior to the Series A
Preferred Stock with respect to dividends, the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, in preference to the holders of Common Stock, par value $1.25
per share (the “Common Stock”), of the Corporation, and of any other junior stock, shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of
Directors out of funds legally available for the purpose. quarterly dividends payable in cash on the first day of March, June, September and December in
each year (each such date being referred to herein as a “Quarterly Dividend Payment Date”), commencing on the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date
after the first issuance of a share or fraction of a share of Series A Preferred Stock, in an amount per share (rounded to the nearest cent) equal to the greater
of (a) $1 or (b) subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, 100 times the aggregate per share amount of all cash dividends, and 100 times
the aggregate per share amount (payable in kind) of all non-cash dividends or other distributions, other than a dividend payable in shares of Common Stock
or a subdivision of the Outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise ), declared on the Common Stock since the immediately
preceding Quarterly Dividend Payment Date or, with respect to the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, since the first issuance of any
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share or fraction of a share of Series A Preferred Stock. In the event the Corporation shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on the Common Stock
payable in shares of Common Stock, or effect a subdivision or combination or consolidation of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by
reclassification or otherwise than by payment of a dividend in shares of Common Stock) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, then
in each such case the amount to which holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock were entitled immediately prior to such event under clause (b) of the
preceding sentence shall be adjusted by multiplying such amount by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock
outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior
to such event.
(B) The Corporation shall declare a dividend or distribution on the Series A Preferred Stock as provided in paragraph (A) of this Section immediately
after it declares a dividend or distribution on the Common Stock (other than a dividend payable in shares of Common Stock); provided that, in the event no
dividend or distribution shall have been declared on the Common Stock during the period between any Quarterly Dividend Payment Date and the next
subsequent Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, a dividend of $1 per share on the Series A Preferred Stock shall nevertheless be payable on such subsequent
Quarterly Dividend Payment Date.
(C) Dividends shall begin to accrue and be cumulative on outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock from the Quarterly Dividend Payment Date
next preceding the date of issue of such shares, unless the date of issue of such shares is prior to the record date for the first Quarterly Dividend Payment
Date, in which case dividends on such shares shall begin to accrue from the date of issue of such shares, or unless the date of issue is a Quarterly Dividend
Payment Date or is a date after the record date for the determination of holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock entitled to receive a quarterly dividend
and before such Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, in either of which events such dividends shall begin to accrue and be cumulative from such Quarterly
Dividend Payment Date. Accrued but unpaid dividends shall not bear interest. Dividends paid on the shares of Series A Preferred Stock in an amount less
than the total amount of such dividends at the time accrued and payable in such shares shall be allocated pro rata on a share-by-share basis among all such
shares at the time outstanding. The Board of Directors may fix a record date for the determination of holders of Shares of Series A Preferred Stock entitled
to receive payment of a dividend or distribution declared thereon, which record date shall be not more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for the payment
thereof.
Section 3. Voting Rights. The holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall have the following voting rights:
(A) Subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, each share of Series A Preferred Stock shall entitle the holder thereof to 100 votes
on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders of the Corporation. In the event the Corporation shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on the
Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, or effect a subdivision or combination or consolidation of the outstanding shares of Common Stock
(by reclassification or otherwise than by payment of a dividend in Shares of Common Stock) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock,
then in each such case the number of votes per share to which holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock were entitled immediately prior to such event
shall be adjusted by multiplying such number by a fraction. the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately
after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.
(B) Except as otherwise provided herein, in any other Certificate of Designations creating a series of Preferred Stock or any similar stock, or by law,
the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock and the holders of shares of Common Stock and any other capital stock of the Corporation having general
voting rights shall vote together as one class on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders of the Corporation.
(C) Except as set forth herein, or as otherwise provided by law, holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall have no special voting rights and their
consent shall not be required (except to the extent they are entitled to vote with holders of Common Stock as set forth herein) for taking any corporate
action.
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Section 4. Certain Restrictions.
(A) Whenever quarterly dividends or other dividends or distributions payable on the Series A Preferred Stock as provided in Section 2 are in arrears,
thereafter and until all accrued and unpaid dividends and distributions, whether or not declared, on shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding shall
have been paid in full, the Corporation shall not:
(i) declare or pay dividends, or make any other distributions, on any shares of stock ranking junior (either as to dividends or upon liquidation,
dissolution or winding up) to the Series A Preferred Stock;
(ii) declare or pay dividends, or make any other distributions, on any shares of stock ranking on a parity (either as to dividends or upon
liquidation, dissolution or winding up) with the Series A Preferred Stock, except dividends paid ratably on the Series A Preferred Stock and all such
parity stock on which dividends are payable or in arrears in proportion to the total amounts to which the holders of all such shares are then entitled;
(iii) redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration shares of any stock ranking junior (either as to dividends or upon liquidation,
dissolution or winding up) to the Series A Preferred Stock, provided that the Corporation may at any time redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire
shares of any such junior stock in exchange for shares of any stock of the Corporation ranking junior (either as to dividends or upon dissolution,
liquidation or winding up) to the Series A Preferred Stock; or
(iv) redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares of Series A Preferred Stock, or any shares of stock ranking on a
parity with the Series A Preferred Stock, except in accordance with a purchase offer made in writing or by publication (as determined by the Board
of Directors) to all holders of such shares upon such terms as the Board of Directors, after consideration of the respective annual dividend rates and
other relative rights and preferences of the respective series and classes, shall determine in good faith will result in fair and equitable treatment
among the respective series or classes.
(B) The Corporation shall not permit any subsidiary of the Corporation to purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares of stock of the
Corporation unless the Corporation could, under paragraph (A) of this Section 4, purchase or otherwise acquire such shares at such time and in such
manner.
Section 5. Reacquired Shares. Any shares of Series A Preferred Stock purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation in any manner whatsoever shall
be retired and cancelled promptly after the acquisition thereof. All such shares shall upon their cancellation become authorized but unissued shares of Preferred
Stock and may be reissued as part of a new series of Preferred Stock subject to the conditions and restrictions on issuance set forth herein, in the Certificate of
Incorporation, or in any other Certificate of Designations creating a series of Preferred Stock or any similar stock or as otherwise required by law.
Section 6. Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding Up. Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, no distribution shall be made (1) to
the holders of shares of stock ranking junior (either as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) to the Series A Preferred Stock unless, prior
thereto, the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall have received $100 per share, plus an amount equal to accrued and unpaid dividends and
distributions thereon, whether or not declared, to the date of such payment, provided that the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to
receive an aggregate amount per share, subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, equal to 100 times the aggregate amount to be distributed per
share to holders of shares of Common Stock, or (2) to the holders of shares of stock ranking on a parity (either as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or
winding up) with the Series A Preferred Stock, except distributions made ratably on the Series A Preferred Stock and all such parity stock in proportion to the
total amounts to which the holders of all such shares are entitled upon such liquidation, dissolution or winding up. In the event the Corporation shall at any time
declare or pay any dividend on the Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, or effect a subdivision or combination or consolidation of the outstanding
shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise than by payment of a dividend in shares of Common Stock) into a greater or lesser number of shares of
Common Stock, then in each such case the aggregate amount to which holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock were entitled immediately prior to such event
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under the provision in clause (1) of the preceding sentence shall be adjusted by multiplying such amount by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of
shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were
outstanding immediately prior to such event.
Section 7. Consolidation, Merger, Etc. In case the Corporation shall enter into any consolidation, merger, combination or other transaction in which the
shares of Common Stock are exchanged for or changed into other stock or securities, cash and/or any other property, then in any such case each share of Series A
Preferred Stock shall at the same time be similarly exchanged or changed into an amount per share, subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth,
equal to 100 times the aggregate amount of stock, securities, cash and in or any other property (payable in kind), as the case may be, into which or to which each
share of Common Stock is changed or exchanged. In the event the Corporation shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on the Common Stock payable in
shares of Common Stock, or effect a subdivision or combination or consolidation of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise
than by payment of a dividend in shares of Common Stock) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, then in each such case the amount set
forth in the preceding sentence with respect to the exchange or change of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall be adjusted by multiplying such amount by a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number
of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.
Section 8. No Redemption. The shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall not be redeemable.
Section 9. Rank. The Series A Preferred Stock shall rank, with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets, junior to all series of any
other class of the Corporation’s Preferred Stock.
Section 10. Amendment. The Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation shall not be amended in any manner which would materially alter or change
the powers, preferences or special rights of the Series A Preferred Stock so as to affect them adversely without the affirmative vote of the holders of at least twothirds of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class.
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CERTIFICATE ELIMINATING
SERIES A JUNIOR PARTICIPATING PREFERRED STOCK
OF
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION
The undersigned, Timothy C. Everett, does hereby certify that:
1. The undersigned is the duly elected and acting Vice President and Secretary of Kimberly-Clark Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Corporation”).
2. Pursuant to authority conferred by the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation upon the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board”), the
Board on November 16, 2004 adopted the following resolutions which relate to the previously-issued dividend of one right (each, a “Right” and collectively, the
“Rights”) in respect of each share of Common Stock, par value $1.25 per share, of the Corporation to purchase shares of Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock, without par value, of the Corporation (“Series A Preferred Stock”) pursuant to an Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, dated as of June 21, 1988, as
amended and restated on June 8, 1995 and as further amended on November 19, 2004 (the “Rights Agreement”), between the Corporation and First National
Bank of Boston, a national banking association, each such Right representing the right to purchase one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock upon
the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Rights Agreement:
WHEREAS, none of the authorized shares of the Corporation’s Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock”)
issuable under the Rights Agreement upon the exercise of the Rights are outstanding, and none of the authorized shares of Series A Preferred Stock
issuable upon the exercise of the Rights will be issued pursuant to that certain Certificate of Designations of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series A
Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the Corporation filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, as amended on July 12, 1995 and
February 18, 2000 (the “Certificate of Designations”); and
WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it would be desirable and in the best interests of the Corporation and its stockholders to eliminate the
Series A Preferred Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Rights.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT
RESOLVED, that the Corporation be, and hereby is, authorized and directed to file with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware a certificate
containing these resolutions, with the effect under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware of eliminating from the Certificate of
Incorporation of this Corporation all matters set forth in the Certificate of Designations with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock.

RESOLVED, that the Chief Executive Officer, the Senior Vice President – Law and Government Affairs and the Vice President and Secretary of the
Corporation be, and each of them hereby is, authorized and directed, jointly and severally, for and on behalf of the Corporation, to execute and deliver any
and all certificates, agreements, instruments and other documents, and to take any and all steps and do any and all things which they may deem necessary
or advisable in order to effectuate the purposes of each and all of the foregoing resolutions.
3. I further declare under penalty of perjury that the matters set forth in this Certificate are true and correct of my own knowledge.
This Certificate was executed in Dallas, Texas on November 19, 2004.
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION
By: /s/ Timothy C. Everett
Name: Timothy C. Everett
Title: Vice President and Secretary
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Exhibit (10)n
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION
2001 EQUITY PARTICIPATION PLAN
AWARD AGREEMENT
This Award, granted this
day of
, by Kimberly-Clark Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Corporation”), to
(the
“Employee”) subject to the terms and conditions of the 2001 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”), and the applicable Attachment to this Award Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed as follows:
1.

Number of Performance-Vested Restricted Share Units Granted. The Corporation hereby grants to the Employee Performance-Vested Restricted Share
Units at a target level of
(the “Target Level”), subject to Attachments A-1 and A-2 and the Corporation’s attainment of the Performance Goals
established by the Committee. The actual number of Restricted Share Units earned by the Employee at the end of the Restricted Period may range from 0 to
% of the Target Level. During the Restricted Period, the Employee may not sell, assign, transfer, or otherwise dispose of, or mortgage, pledge or
otherwise encumber the Award.

2.

Number of Time-Vested Restricted Share Units Granted. The Corporation hereby grants to the Employee the right to receive
Restricted Share
Units of the $1.25 par value common stock of the Corporation, subject to the terms and conditions of Attachment B. During the Restricted Period, the
Employee may not sell, assign, transfer, or otherwise dispose of, or mortgage, pledge or otherwise encumber the Restricted Share Units. The Restricted
Share Units shall be subject to forfeiture until the Employee becomes vested in such Awards according to the following schedule:
33% of the Restricted Share Units shall vest on
33% of the Restricted Share Units shall vest on
34% of the Restricted Share Units shall vest on

3.

,
,
,

Number of Shares Optioned; Option Price. The Corporation grants to the Employee the right and option to purchase in his own name, subject to the terms
and conditions of Attachment C, all or any part of an aggregate of
shares of the $1.25 par value common stock of the Corporation at a purchase
price of $
per share. This option shall not be an incentive stock option within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”). This option shall be subject to forfeiture until the Employee becomes vested in such Awards according to the following schedule:
30% of the Restricted Share Units shall vest on
30% of the Restricted Share Units shall vest on
40% of the Restricted Share Units shall vest on

,
,
,

4.

Defined Terms. Terms which are capitalized are defined herein or in the Plan and have the same meaning set forth herein or in the Plan, unless the context
indicates otherwise.

5.

Noncompete. Employee has until the end of the one hundred twenty (120) day period beginning from the date of grant of this option to sign and return both
this Award Agreement and the attached Noncompete Agreement. If Employee does not sign and return both this Award Agreement and the attached
Noncompete Agreement on or before the end of such one hundred twenty (120) day period then this Agreement shall not be binding on and shall be
voidable by the Corporation, in which case it shall have no further force or effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this Award to be executed in its behalf by its Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive
Officer, and to be sealed with its corporate seal and attested by its Secretary or Assistant Secretary, as of the day and year first above written, which is the date of
this Award.
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION
By:
Title: Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer
I acknowledge receipt of a copy of the Plan and the Attachments to this Agreement, a copy of which was annexed hereto, and represent that I am familiar with the
terms and provisions thereof. I hereby accept this Award subject to all the terms and provisions of the Plan and this Agreement including its Attachments. I hereby
agree to accept as binding, conclusive, and final all decisions and interpretations of the Board of Directors and the Committee, upon any questions arising under
the Plan. I acknowledge that I have no future rights to Award grants under this or any plans offered by the employer, including but not limited to, upon
termination of the Plan or upon severance of my employment. As a condition of this Award, I authorize the Corporation to withhold and pay over to governmental
taxing authorities in accordance with applicable federal, state or local laws any taxes required to be withheld as a result of this Award.

(Employee)

Attachment A-1
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION
PERFORMANCE RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT
AWARD AGREEMENT
This Award, granted this
day of
, by Kimberly-Clark Corporation, a Delaware corporation (hereinafter called the “Corporation”), subject to the
terms and conditions of the 2001 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) and the Award Agreement.
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Corporation has adopted the 2001 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) to encourage those employees who materially contribute, by
managerial, scientific or other innovative means, to the success of the Corporation or of an Affiliate, to acquire an ownership interest in the Corporation, thereby
increasing their motivation for and interest in the Corporation’s or the Affiliate’s long-term success;
NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed as follows:
1.

Number of Share Units Granted. The Corporation hereby grants to the Employee Performance Restricted Stock Units (“PRSUs”) at a target level set forth
in the Award Agreement (the “Target Level”), subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth herein and in the Plan, and the Corporation’s
attainment of the Performance Goals established by the Committee. The actual number of PRSUs earned by the Employee at the end of the Restricted
Period may range from 0 to
% of the Target Level.

2.

Transferability Restrictions.
(a)

Restricted Period. During the Restricted Period, the Employee may not sell, assign, transfer, or otherwise dispose of, or mortgage, pledge or
otherwise encumber the Award. The Award shall be subject to forfeiture until the end of the Restricted Period on
. Employee becomes
100% vested in the number of PRSUs earned based on attainment of the Performance Goal at the end of the Restricted Period as approved and
authorized by the Committee.
The Restricted Period shall begin on the date of the granting of this Award, and shall end upon the vesting of the Award under this paragraph 2.
Holders of Awards shall have none of the rights of a shareholder with respect to such shares including, but not limited to, any right to receive
dividends in cash or other property or other distribution or rights in respect of such shares except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, nor to
vote such shares as the record owner thereof.
During the Restricted Period, the Employee will be paid in cash within 60 days an amount equal to any dividends and other distributions which
would have been paid on shares of Common Stock, based on the Target Level of PRSUs

granted under this Award. The amount equal to any dividends and other distributions on the Award shall be paid to the Employee if, as and when
dividends are declared and paid by the Corporation with respect to its outstanding shares of Common Stock. In the case of dividends paid in property
other than cash, the amount of the dividend shall be deemed to be the fair market value of the property at the time of the payment of the dividend, as
determined in good faith by the Corporation. The Corporation shall not be required to segregate any cash or other property of the Corporation. Any
amounts which become payable to an Employee shall be paid from the general assets of the Corporation.
(b)

Termination of Employment. Employee shall forfeit any unvested Award upon termination of employment unless such termination (i) is due to a
Qualified Termination of Employment, or (ii) if more than six months after the date of grant, due to death, Retirement, Total and Permanent
Disability, or the shutdown or divestiture of a business unit. An authorized leave of absence shall not be deemed to be a termination of employment.
A termination of employment with the Corporation or an Affiliate to accept immediate reemployment with the Corporation or an Affiliate likewise
shall not be deemed to be a termination of employment.

(c)

Death, Retirement, or Total and Permanent Disability. In the event that more than six months after the date of grant the Employee’s termination of
employment is due to death, Retirement, or Total and Permanent Disability, it shall result in pro rata vesting, as determined by the Committee, and
the number of shares that are considered to vest shall be determined at the end of the Restricted Period, prorated for the number of full months of
employment during the Restricted Period prior to the Participant’s termination of employment, and shall be paid within 90 days following the end of
the Restricted Period.

(d)

Shutdown or Divestiture. In the event that more than six months after the date of grant the Employee’s termination of employment is due to the
shutdown or divestiture of the Corporation’s or its Affiliate’s business it shall result in pro rata vesting, as determined by the Committee, and the
number of shares that are considered to vest shall be determined at the end of the Restricted Period, prorated for the number of full years of
employment during the Restricted Period prior to the Participant’s termination of employment, and shall be paid within 90 days following the end of
the Restricted Period.

(e)

Qualified Termination of Employment. In the event of a Qualified Termination of Employment all restrictions will lapse and the shares will become
fully vested and the number of shares that shall be considered to vest shall be the greater of the Target Level or the number of shares which would
have vested based on the attainment of the Performance Goal as of the end of the prior calendar year and shall be paid within 10 days following the
last day of employment of the Employee with the Corporation.

(f)

Payment of Awards. The payment of the Award shall be made in shares of Common Stock. Except as may otherwise be provided in subparagraph
2(e), the payment of an Award shall be made within 90 days following the date of vesting of the Award under the previous subparagraphs unless the
Employee elects to defer payment under paragraph 3.

(g)

Payment of Withholding Taxes. No shares of Common Stock, nor any cash payment, may be delivered under this Award, unless prior to or
simultaneously with such issuance, the Employee or, in the event of his death, the person succeeding to his rights hereunder, shall pay to the
Corporation such amount as the Corporation advises is required under applicable federal, state or local laws to withhold and pay over to
governmental taxing authorities by reason of the delivery of such shares of Common Stock and any cash payment pursuant to this Award. The
Corporation may, in its discretion, withhold payment of required withholding taxes with cash or shares of Common Stock which otherwise would be
delivered following the date of vesting of the Award under this paragraph 2.

3.

Deferral of Award. An Employee may elect to defer payment of his Award. Except as may otherwise be determined by the Committee such election shall:
(i) be in writing; (ii) be delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation prior to December 31 of the calendar year preceding the date of vesting of the Award;
(iii) specify the year of payment of the Award which is no more than five years after the date of vesting of the Award and (iv) be irrevocable in all respects
after December 31 of the calendar year preceding the date of vesting of the Award with respect to which the election relates. The Retirement Trust
Committee of the Corporation may, in its sole and absolute discretion, grant the Employee’s request to defer payment of his Award. In the event of
termination of employment prior to the date elected to pay the Award due to any reason other than Retirement, the payment of an Award shall be made
within 90 days following the date of termination of employment. In the event of termination of employment due to Retirement, the payment of an Award
shall be made as specified in the Employee’s deferral request. Except as may otherwise be determined by the Committee whenever an Award has been
deferred the Employee will be paid in cash an amount equal to any dividends and other distributions which would have been declared and paid with respect
to the shares of Common Stock if delivery had not been deferred. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such election, revocation or modification of a deferral
election may be made within six months of another such election, revocation or modification if the exemption afforded by Rule 16b-3 under Section 16
would not be available as a result thereof.

4.

Nontransferability. Neither the Award nor the Employee’s right to receive payment for vested Awards may be assigned or transferred except upon the death
of the Employee (i) by will, (ii) by the laws of descent and distribution or (iii) pursuant to a designation by the Employee of a beneficiary or beneficiaries,
provided that no such designation shall be effective unless filed with the Committee prior to the death of such Employee.

5.

Compliance with Law. No payment may be made under this Award, unless prior to the issuance thereof, the Corporation shall have received an opinion of
counsel to the effect that this Award by the Corporation to the Employee will not constitute a violation of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. As a
condition of this Award, the Employee

shall, if requested by the Corporation, submit a written statement in form satisfactory to counsel for the Corporation, to the effect that any shares received
under this Award shall be for investment and not with a view to the distribution thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
the Corporation shall have the right, in its discretion, to cause the certificates representing shares hereunder to be appropriately legended to refer to such
undertaking or to any legal restrictions imposed upon the transferability thereof by reason of such undertaking.
The Award granted hereby is subject to the condition that if the listing, registration or qualification of the shares subject hereto on any securities exchange
or under any state or federal law, or if the consent or approval of any regulatory body shall be necessary as a condition of, or in connection with, the
granting of the Award or the delivery of shares thereunder, such shares may not be delivered unless and until such listing, registration, qualification,
consent or approval shall have been effected or obtained. The Corporation agrees to use its best efforts to obtain any such requisite listing, registration,
qualification, consent or approval.
The Employee is solely responsible for obtaining/providing whatever exchange control approvals, permits, licenses, or notices, which may be necessary for
the Employee to hold the Award, or to receive any payment of cash or shares or to hold or sell the shares subject to the Award, if any. Neither KimberlyClark nor its Affiliates will be responsible for obtaining any such approvals, licenses or permits, or for making any such notices, nor will the Corporation
nor its Affiliates be liable for any fines or penalties the Employee may incur for failure to obtain any required approvals, permits or licenses or to make any
required notices.
6.

No Right of Continued Employment. The granting of this Award does not confer upon the Employee any legal right to be continued in the employ of the
Corporation or its Affiliates, and the Corporation and its Affiliates reserve the right to discharge the Employee whenever the interest of the Corporation or
its Affiliates may so require without liability to the Corporation or its Affiliates, the Board of Directors of the Corporation or its Affiliates, or the
Committee, except as to any rights which may be expressly conferred on the Employee under this Award.

7.

Discretion of the Corporation, Board of Directors and the Committee. Any decision made or action taken by the Corporation or by the Board of Directors
of the Corporation or by the Committee arising out of or in connection with the construction, administration, interpretation and effect of this Award shall be
within the absolute discretion of the Corporation, the Board of Directors of the Corporation or the Committee, as the case may be, and shall be conclusive
and binding upon all persons.

8.

Inalienability of Benefits and Interest. This Award and the rights and privileges conferred hereby shall not be subject in any manner to anticipation,
alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance or charge, and any such attempted action shall be void and no such benefit or interest shall be in
any manner liable for or subject to debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements, or torts of the Employee.

9.

Delaware Law to Govern. The Plan is governed by and subject to the laws of the United States of America. All questions pertaining to the construction,
interpretation,

regulation, validity and effect of the provisions of this Award and any rights under the Plan shall be determined in accordance with the laws of the State of
Delaware.
10.

Purchase of Common Stock. The Corporation and its Affiliates may, but shall not be required to, purchase shares of Common Stock of the Corporation for
purposes of satisfying the requirements of this Award. The Corporation and its Affiliates shall have no obligation to retain and shall have the unlimited right
to sell or otherwise deal with for their own account, any shares of common stock of the Corporation purchased for satisfying the requirements of this
Award.

11.

Notices. Any notice to be given to the Corporation under this Award shall be addressed to the Corporation in care of its Director of Compensation located
at the World Headquarters, and any notice to be given to the Employee under the terms of this Award may be addressed to him at his address as it appears
on the Corporation’s records, or at such other address as either party may hereafter designate in writing to the other. Any such notice shall be deemed to
have been duly given if and when enclosed in a properly sealed envelope or wrapper addressed as aforesaid, registered and deposited, postage and registry
fee prepaid, in a post office or branch post office regularly maintained by the United States Government.

12.

Changes in Capitalization. In the event there are any changes in the common stock or the capitalization of the Corporation through a corporate transaction,
such as any merger, any acquisition through the issuance of capital stock of the Corporation, any consolidation, any separation of the Corporation
(including a spin-off or other distribution of stock of the Corporation), any reorganization of the Corporation (whether or not such reorganization comes
within the definition of such term in section 368 of the Code), or any partial or complete liquidation by the Corporation, recapitalization, stock dividend,
stock split or other change in the corporate structure, appropriate adjustments and changes shall be made by the Committee in (a) the number of shares
subject to this Award, and (b) such other provisions of this Award as may be necessary and equitable to carry out the foregoing purposes.

13.

Effect on Other Plans. All benefits under this Award shall constitute special compensation and shall not affect the level of benefits provided to or received
by the Employee (or the Employee’s estate or beneficiaries) as part of any employee benefit plan of the Corporation or an Affiliates. This Award shall not
be construed to affect in any way the Employee’s rights and obligations under any other plan maintained by the Corporation or an Affiliate on behalf of
employees.

14.

Discretionary Nature of Award. The grant of an Award is a one-time benefit and does not create any contractual or other right to receive a grant of Awards
or benefits in lieu of Awards in the future. Future grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of Kimberly-Clark, including, but not limited to, the timing of
any grant, the number of PRSUs and vesting provisions. The value of the Award is an extraordinary item of compensation outside the scope of the
Employee’s employment contract, if any. As such, the Award is not part of normal or expected compensation for purposes of calculating any severance,
resignation, redundancy, end of service payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement benefits or similar payments.

15.

Data Privacy. The Employee hereby authorizes their employer to furnish Kimberly-Clark (and any agent of Kimberly-Clark administering the Plan or
providing Plan recordkeeping services) with such information and data as it shall request in order to facilitate the grant of Awards and administration of the
Plan and the Employee waives any data privacy rights such Employee might otherwise have with respect to such information.

16.

Conflict with Plan. This Award is awarded pursuant to and subject to the Plan. This Agreement is intended to supplement and carry out the terms of the
Plan. It is subject to all terms and provisions of the Plan and, in the event of a conflict, the Plan shall prevail.

17.

Successors. This Award shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any successor or successors of the Corporation.

18.

Amendments. The Committee may at any time alter or amend this Award to the extent (1) permitted by law, (2) permitted by the rules of any stock
exchange on which the common stock or any other security of the Corporation is listed, and (3) permitted under applicable provisions of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (including rule 16b-3 thereof).

19.

Defined Terms. Terms which are capitalized are defined herein or in the Plan and have the same meaning set forth in the Plan, unless the context indicates
otherwise.

Attachment A-2
Performance Goal for Kimberly-Clark Corporation
Performance Restricted Stock Unit Awards
Granted
[Performance Goal as determined by Compensation Committee
at time of grant to be set forth on this Attachment A-2]

Attachment B
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION
TIME-VESTED RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT
AWARD AGREEMENT
This Award, granted this
day of
, by Kimberly-Clark Corporation, a Delaware corporation (hereinafter called the “Corporation”), subject to the
terms and conditions of the 2001 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) and the Award Agreement.
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Corporation has adopted the 2001 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) to encourage those employees who materially contribute, by
managerial, scientific or other innovative means, to the success of the Corporation or of an Affiliate, to acquire an ownership interest in the Corporation, thereby
increasing their motivation for and interest in the Corporation’s or the Affiliate’s long-term success;
NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed as follows:
1.

Number of Share Units Granted. The Corporation hereby grants to the Employee the right to receive the number of Time-Vested Restricted Share Units of
the $1.25 par value common stock of the Corporation set forth in the Award Agreement, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth herein and
in the Plan.

2.

Transferability Restrictions.
(a)

Restricted Period. During the Restricted Period, the Employee may not sell, assign, transfer, or otherwise dispose of, or mortgage, pledge or
otherwise encumber the Award. The Restricted Share Units shall be subject to forfeiture until the Employee becomes vested in such Award according
to the schedule set forth in the Award Agreement.
The Restricted Period shall begin on the date of the granting of this Award, and shall end upon the vesting of the Award according to the schedule set
forth in the Award Agreement. Holders of Awards shall have none of the rights of a shareholder with respect to such shares including, but not limited
to, any right to receive dividends in cash or other property or other distribution or rights in respect of such shares except as otherwise provided in this
Agreement, nor to vote such shares as the record owner thereof.
During the Restricted Period, the Employee will be paid in cash within 60 days an amount equal to any dividends and other distributions which
would have been paid on shares of Common Stock, based on the Restricted Share Units granted under this Award. The amount equal to any
dividends and other distributions on the Award shall be paid to the Employee if, as and when dividends are declared and paid by the Corporation
with respect to its outstanding shares of Common Stock. In the case of dividends paid in

property other than cash, the amount of the dividend shall be deemed to be the fair market value of the property at the time of the payment of the
dividend, as determined in good faith by the Corporation. The Corporation shall not be required to segregate any cash or other property of the
Corporation. Any amounts which become payable to an Employee shall be paid from the general assets of the Corporation.
(b)

Termination of Employment. Employee shall forfeit any unvested Award upon termination of employment unless such termination (i) is due to a
Qualified Termination of Employment, or (ii) if more than six months after the date of grant, due to death, Retirement, Total and Permanent
Disability, or the shutdown or divestiture of a business unit. An authorized leave of absence shall not be deemed to be a termination of employment.
A termination of employment with the Corporation or an Affiliate to accept immediate reemployment with the Corporation or an Affiliate likewise
shall not be deemed to be a termination of employment.

(c)

Death, Retirement, or Total and Permanent Disability. In the event that more than six months after the date of grant the Employee’s termination of
employment is due to death, Retirement, or Total and Permanent Disability, it shall result in pro rata vesting, as determined by the Committee, and
the number of shares that are considered to vest shall be prorated for the number of full months of employment during the Restricted Period prior to
the Participant’s termination of employment, and shall be paid within 90 days following the Participant’s termination of employment.

(d)

Shutdown or Divestiture. In the event that more than six months after the date of grant the Employee’s termination of employment is due to the
shutdown or divestiture of the Corporation’s or its Affiliate’s business it shall result in pro rata vesting, as determined by the Committee, and the
number of shares that are considered to vest shall be determined at the end of the Restricted Period, prorated for the number of full years of
employment during the Restricted Period prior to the Participant’s termination of employment, and shall be paid within 90 days following the end of
the Restricted Period.

(e)

Qualified Termination of Employment. In the event of a Qualified Termination of Employment all restrictions will lapse and the shares will become
fully vested and shall be paid within 10 days following the last day of employment of the Employee with the Corporation.

(f)

Payment of Awards. The payment of the Award shall be made in shares of Common Stock. Except as may otherwise be provided in subparagraph
2(e), the payment of an Award shall be made within 90 days following the date of vesting of the Award under the previous subparagraphs unless the
Employee elects to defer payment under paragraph 3.

(g)

Payment of Withholding Taxes. No shares of Common Stock, nor any cash payment, may be delivered under this Award, unless prior to or
simultaneously with such issuance, the Employee or, in the event of his death, the person

succeeding to his rights hereunder, shall pay to the Corporation such amount as the Corporation advises is required under applicable federal, state or
local laws to withhold and pay over to governmental taxing authorities by reason of the delivery of such shares of Common Stock and any cash
payment pursuant to this Award. The Corporation may, in its discretion, withhold payment of required withholding taxes with cash or shares of
Common Stock which otherwise would be delivered following the date of vesting of the Award under this paragraph 2.
3.

Deferral of Award. An Employee may elect to defer payment of his Award. Except as may otherwise be determined by the Committee such election shall:
(i) be in writing; (ii) be delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation prior to December 31 of the calendar year preceding the date of vesting of the Award;
(iii) specify the year of payment of the Award which is no more than five years after the date of vesting of the Award and (iv) be irrevocable in all respects
after December 31 of the calendar year preceding the date of vesting of the Award with respect to which the election relates. The Retirement Trust
Committee of the Corporation may, in its sole and absolute discretion, grant the Employee’s request to defer payment of his Award. In the event of
termination of employment prior to the date elected to pay the Award due to any reason other than Retirement, the payment of an Award shall be made
within 90 days following the date of termination of employment. In the event of termination of employment due to Retirement, the payment of an Award
shall be made as specified in the Employee’s deferral request. Except as may otherwise be determined by the Committee whenever an Award has been
deferred the Employee will be paid in cash an amount equal to any dividends and other distributions which would have been declared and paid with respect
to the shares of Common Stock if delivery had not been deferred. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such election, revocation or modification of a deferral
election may be made within six months of another such election, revocation or modification if the exemption afforded by Rule 16b-3 under Section 16
would not be available as a result thereof.

4.

Nontransferability. Neither the Award nor the Employee’s right to receive payment for vested Awards may be assigned or transferred except upon the death
of the Employee (i) by will, (ii) by the laws of descent and distribution or (iii) pursuant to a designation by the Employee of a beneficiary or beneficiaries,
provided that no such designation shall be effective unless filed with the Committee prior to the death of such Employee.

5.

Compliance with Law. No payment may be made under this Award, unless prior to the issuance thereof, the Corporation shall have received an opinion of
counsel to the effect that this Award by the Corporation to the Employee will not constitute a violation of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. As a
condition of this Award, the Employee shall, if requested by the Corporation, submit a written statement in form satisfactory to counsel for the Corporation,
to the effect that any shares received under this Award shall be for investment and not with a view to the distribution thereof within the meaning of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Corporation shall have the right, in its discretion, to cause the certificates representing shares hereunder to be
appropriately legended to refer to such undertaking or to any legal restrictions imposed upon the transferability thereof by reason of such undertaking.

The Award granted hereby is subject to the condition that if the listing, registration or qualification of the shares subject hereto on any securities exchange
or under any state or federal law, or if the consent or approval of any regulatory body shall be necessary as a condition of, or in connection with, the
granting of the Award or the delivery of shares thereunder, such shares may not be delivered unless and until such listing, registration, qualification,
consent or approval shall have been effected or obtained. The Corporation agrees to use its best efforts to obtain any such requisite listing, registration,
qualification, consent or approval.
The Employee is solely responsible for obtaining/providing whatever exchange control approvals, permits, licenses, or notices, which may be necessary for
the Employee to hold the Award, or to receive any payment of cash or shares or to hold or sell the shares subject to the Award, if any. Neither KimberlyClark nor its Affiliates will be responsible for obtaining any such approvals, licenses or permits, or for making any such notices, nor will the Corporation
nor its Affiliates be liable for any fines or penalties the Employee may incur for failure to obtain any required approvals, permits or licenses or to make any
required notices.
6.

No Right of Continued Employment. The granting of this Award does not confer upon the Employee any legal right to be continued in the employ of the
Corporation or its Affiliates, and the Corporation and its Affiliates reserve the right to discharge the Employee whenever the interest of the Corporation or
its Affiliates may so require without liability to the Corporation or its Affiliates, the Board of Directors of the Corporation or its Affiliates, or the
Committee, except as to any rights which may be expressly conferred on the Employee under this Award.

7.

Discretion of the Corporation, Board of Directors and the Committee. Any decision made or action taken by the Corporation or by the Board of Directors
of the Corporation or by the Committee arising out of or in connection with the construction, administration, interpretation and effect of this Award shall be
within the absolute discretion of the Corporation, the Board of Directors of the Corporation or the Committee, as the case may be, and shall be conclusive
and binding upon all persons.

8.

Inalienability of Benefits and Interest. This Award and the rights and privileges conferred hereby shall not be subject in any manner to anticipation,
alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance or charge, and any such attempted action shall be void and no such benefit or interest shall be in
any manner liable for or subject to debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements, or torts of the Employee.

9.

Delaware Law to Govern. The Plan is governed by and subject to the laws of the United States of America. All questions pertaining to the construction,
interpretation, regulation, validity and effect of the provisions of this Award and any rights under the Plan shall be determined in accordance with the laws
of the State of Delaware.

10.

Purchase of Common Stock. The Corporation and its Affiliates may, but shall not be required to, purchase shares of Common Stock of the Corporation for
purposes of satisfying the requirements of this Award. The Corporation and its Affiliates shall have no obligation to retain and shall have the unlimited right
to sell or otherwise deal with for their own account, any shares of common stock of the Corporation purchased for satisfying the requirements of this
Award.

11.

Notices. Any notice to be given to the Corporation under this Award shall be addressed to the Corporation in care of its Director of Compensation located
at the World Headquarters, and any notice to be given to the Employee under the terms of this Award may be addressed to him at his address as it appears
on the Corporation’s records, or at such other address as either party may hereafter designate in writing to the other. Any such notice shall be deemed to
have been duly given if and when enclosed in a properly sealed envelope or wrapper addressed as aforesaid, registered and deposited, postage and registry
fee prepaid, in a post office or branch post office regularly maintained by the United States Government.

12.

Changes in Capitalization. In the event there are any changes in the common stock or the capitalization of the Corporation through a corporate transaction,
such as any merger, any acquisition through the issuance of capital stock of the Corporation, any consolidation, any separation of the Corporation
(including a spin-off or other distribution of stock of the Corporation), any reorganization of the Corporation (whether or not such reorganization comes
within the definition of such term in section 368 of the Code), or any partial or complete liquidation by the Corporation, recapitalization, stock dividend,
stock split or other change in the corporate structure, appropriate adjustments and changes shall be made by the Committee in (a) the number of shares
subject to this Award, and (b) such other provisions of this Award as may be necessary and equitable to carry out the foregoing purposes.

13.

Effect on Other Plans. All benefits under this Award shall constitute special compensation and shall not affect the level of benefits provided to or received
by the Employee (or the Employee’s estate or beneficiaries) as part of any employee benefit plan of the Corporation or an Affiliates. This Award shall not
be construed to affect in any way the Employee’s rights and obligations under any other plan maintained by the Corporation or an Affiliate on behalf of
employees.

14.

Discretionary Nature of Award. The grant of an Award is a one-time benefit and does not create any contractual or other right to receive a grant of Awards
or benefits in lieu of Awards in the future. Future grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of Kimberly-Clark, including, but not limited to, the timing of
any grant, the number of Restricted Share Units and vesting provisions. The value of the Award is an extraordinary item of compensation outside the scope
of the Employee’s employment contract, if any. As such, the Award is not part of normal or expected compensation for purposes of calculating any
severance, resignation, redundancy, end of service payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement benefits or similar payments.

15.

Data Privacy. The Employee hereby authorizes their employer to furnish Kimberly-Clark (and any agent of Kimberly-Clark administering the Plan or
providing Plan recordkeeping services) with such information and data as it shall request in order to facilitate the grant of Awards and administration of the
Plan and the Employee waives any data privacy rights such Employee might otherwise have with respect to such information.

16.

Conflict with Plan. This Award is awarded pursuant to and subject to the Plan. This Agreement is intended to supplement and carry out the terms of the
Plan. It is subject to all terms and provisions of the Plan and, in the event of a conflict, the Plan shall prevail.

17.

Successors. This Award shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any successor or successors of the Corporation.

18.

Amendments. The Committee may at any time alter or amend this Award to the extent (1) permitted by law, (2) permitted by the rules of any stock
exchange on which the common stock or any other security of the Corporation is listed, and (3) permitted under applicable provisions of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (including rule 16b-3 thereof).

19.

Defined Terms. Terms which are capitalized are defined herein or in the Plan and have the same meaning set forth in the Plan, unless the context indicates
otherwise.

Attachment C
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION
OPTION AWARD
AWARD AGREEMENT
This Award, granted this
day of
, by Kimberly-Clark Corporation, a Delaware corporation (hereinafter called the “Corporation”), subject to
the terms and conditions of the 2001 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) and the Award Agreement.
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Corporation has adopted the 2001 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) to encourage those employees who materially contribute, by
managerial, scientific or other innovative means, to the success of the Corporation or of an Affiliate, to acquire an ownership interest in the Corporation, thereby
increasing their motivation for and interest in the Corporation’s or the Affiliate’s long-term success;
NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed as follows:
1.

Number of Shares Optioned; Option Price. The Corporation grants to the Employee the right and option to purchase in his own name, on the terms and
conditions hereinafter set forth, all or any part of an aggregate of the number of shares of the $1.25 par value common stock of the Corporation, and at the
purchase price per share, set forth in the Award Agreement. This option shall not be an incentive stock option within the meaning of Section 422 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).

2.

Exercise of Option.
(a)

Limitations on Exercise. This option shall be subject to forfeiture until the Employee becomes vested in such Awards according to the schedule set
forth in the Award Agreement. This option shall not be exercisable until at least one year has expired after the granting of this option, during which
time the Employee shall have been in the continuous employ of the Corporation or an Affiliate; provided, however, that the option shall become
exercisable immediately in the event of a Qualified Termination of Employment of a Participant, without regard to the limitations set forth below in
this subsection. Provided, however, that if the Employee’s employment is terminated for any reason other than death, Retirement, or Total and
Permanent Disability, this option shall only be exercisable for three months following such termination and only for the number of shares which were
exercisable on the date of such termination. In no event, however, may this option be exercised more than ten (10) years after the date of its grant.
The above provisions of Section 2(a) notwithstanding, to the extent provided by rules of the Committee referred to in the Plan (hereinafter referred to
as the “Committee”), this option is not exercisable during any period during which the

Employee’s right to make deposits to the Kimberly-Clark Corporation Salaried Employees Incentive Investment Plan is suspended pursuant to a
provision of such plan or rules adopted thereunder to comply with regulations regarding hardship withdrawals promulgated by the Internal Revenue
Service.
A leave of absence shall not be deemed to be a termination of employment. A termination of employment with the Corporation or an Affiliate to
accept immediate reemployment with the Corporation or an Affiliate likewise shall not be deemed to be a termination of employment.
(b)

Exercise after Death, Retirement, or Disability. If the Employee dies, Retires or becomes Totally and Permanently Disabled without having exercised
this option in full, the remaining portion of this option, determined without regard to the limitations in subsection 2(a), may be exercised within the
earlier of (i) three years from the date of death or Total and Permanent Disability or five years from the date of Retirement, as the case may be, or (ii)
the remaining period of this option. In the case of an Employee who dies, this option may be exercised by the person or persons to whom the
Employee’s rights under this option shall pass by will or by applicable law or, if no such person has such rights, by his executor or administrator.
“Retirement” means termination of employment on or after the date the Participant has attained age 55.

(c)

Method of Exercise. This option shall be exercised by delivering to the Corporation, at the office of the Treasurer located at the World Headquarters,
written notice of the number of shares with respect to which option rights are being exercised and by paying in full the option price of the shares at
the time being acquired. Payment may be made in cash, a check payable to the Corporation, or in shares of the Corporation’s common stock
transferable to the Corporation and having a fair market value on the transfer date equal to the amount payable to the Corporation. The date of
exercise shall be deemed to be the date the Corporation receives the written notice and payment for the shares being purchased. The Employee shall
have none of the rights of a stockholder with respect to shares covered by such options until the Employee becomes record holder of such shares.

(d)

Payment of Withholding Taxes. No shares of common stock may be purchased under this option, unless prior to or simultaneously with such
purchase, (i) the Participant, (ii) in the event of his death, the person succeeding to his rights hereunder or, (iii) in the event of a transfer of an option
under Section 8 hereof, either the Participant, the Immediate Family Members or the entity succeeding to his rights hereunder, shall pay to the
Corporation such amount as the Corporation advises is required under applicable federal, state or local laws to withhold and pay over to
governmental taxing authorities by reason of the purchase of such shares of common stock pursuant to this option. Other than a purchase of shares
pursuant to an option which had previously been transferred under Section 8 hereof, payment of required withholding taxes may be made with shares
of the Corporation’s common stock which otherwise would be distributable upon exercise of the option, pursuant to the rules of the Committee.

3.

Nontransferability. Except as may otherwise be provided under Section 8 hereof, this option shall be transferable only by will or by the laws of descent and
distribution, and during the Employee’s lifetime shall be exercisable only by him.

4.

Compliance with Law. No shares of common stock may be purchased under this option, unless prior to the purchase thereof, the Corporation shall have
received an opinion of counsel to the effect that the issuance and sale of such shares by the Corporation to the Employee will not constitute a violation of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. As a condition of exercise, the Employee shall, if requested by the Corporation, submit a written statement in form
satisfactory to counsel for the Corporation, to the effect that any shares of common stock purchased upon exercise of this option will be purchased for
investment and not with a view to the distribution thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Corporation shall have the
right, in its discretion, to cause the certificates representing shares of common stock purchased hereunder to be appropriately legended to refer to such
undertaking or to any legal restrictions imposed upon the transferability thereof by reason of such undertaking.
The option granted hereby is subject to the condition that if the listing, registration or qualification of the shares subject hereto on any securities exchange
or under any state or federal law, or if the consent or approval of any regulatory body shall be necessary as a condition of, or in connection with, the
granting of the option or the delivery or purchase of shares thereunder, such option may not be exercised in whole or in part unless and until such listing,
registration, qualification, consent or approval shall have been effected or obtained. The Corporation agrees to use its best efforts to obtain any such
requisite listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval.

5.

No Right of Continued Employment. The granting of this option does not confer upon the Employee any legal right to be continued in the employ of the
Corporation or its Affiliates, and the Corporation and its Affiliates reserve the right to discharge the Employee whenever the interest of the Corporation or
its Affiliates may so require without liability to the Corporation or its Affiliates, the Board of Directors of the Corporation or its Affiliates, or the
Committee, except as to any rights which may be expressly conferred on the Employee under this option.

6.

Discretion of the Corporation, Board of Directors and the Committee. Any decision made or action taken by the Corporation or by the Board of Directors
of the Corporation or by the Committee arising out of or in connection with the construction, administration, interpretation and effect of this option shall be
within the absolute discretion of the Corporation, the Board of Directors of the Corporation or the Committee, as the case may be, and shall be conclusive
and binding upon all persons.

7.

Modification of Awards. The Committee may in its sole and absolute discretion, by written notice to the Employee, limit the period in which this option
may be exercised to a period ending at least three months following the date of such notice, and/or limit or eliminate the number of shares subject to option
after a period ending at least three months following the date of such notice.

8.

Inalienability of Benefits and Interest. This option and the rights and privileges conferred hereby shall not be subject in any manner to anticipation,
alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance or charge, and any such attempted action shall be void and no such benefit or interest shall be in
any manner liable for or subject to debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements, or torts of the Employee. Notwithstanding any restriction on the transferability
of the option otherwise contained herein, the Participant may, with the prior specific written consent of the Corporate Secretary, or his delegate, transfer for
no payment or other consideration any such exercisable, unexpired, unexercised options to an Immediate Family Member, a trust for the benefit of
Immediate Family Members or a partnership in which the partnership interests are owned by Immediate Family Members and the Participant. The
Corporate Secretary or his delegate may condition his/her prior consent to receipt of an agreement by the grantee and any proposed transferee containing
such terms and conditions and undertakings as would be deemed appropriate in his/her sole and absolute discretion (including without limitation an
agreement by the transferee that the transferee will not exercise any options unless the shares to be issued upon such exercise are covered by an effective
registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 or such exercise is exempt from the registration requirement of such Act). No attempted transfer will
be valid without the Corporate Secretary’s or his delegate’s written consent. Immediate Family Members of the grantee are parents, parents-in law, children
(including adopted children), grandchildren, and siblings or a trust exclusively for the benefit of one or more of the foregoing. The spouse of the grantee is
an Immediate Family Member but only if Options are transferred to a trust, partnership or other entity in which all of the other beneficiaries or owners of
which include either (i) the Participant, (ii) other Immediate Family Member(s) and/or (iii) a trust, partnership or other entity in which all of the other
beneficiaries or owners of which include either the Participant and/or other Immediate Family Member(s).

9.

Delaware Law to Govern. All questions pertaining to the construction, interpretation, regulation, validity and effect of the provisions of this option shall be
determined in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.

10.

Purchase of Common Stock. The Corporation and its Affiliates may, but shall not be required to, purchase shares of common stock of the Corporation for
purposes of satisfying the requirements of this option. The Corporation and its Affiliates shall have no obligation to retain and shall have the unlimited right
to sell or otherwise deal with for their own account, any shares of common stock of the Corporation purchased for satisfying the requirements of this
option.

11.

Notices. Any notice to be given to the Corporation under this option shall be addressed to the Corporation in care of its Treasurer located at the World
Headquarters, and any notice to be given to the Employee under the terms of this option may be addressed to him at his address as it appears on the
Corporation’s records, or at such other address as either party may hereafter designate in writing to the other. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been
duly given if and when enclosed in a properly sealed envelope or wrapper addressed as aforesaid, registered and deposited, postage and registry fee
prepaid, in a post office or branch post office regularly maintained by the United States Government.

12.

Changes in Capitalization. In the event there are any changes in the common stock or the capitalization of the Corporation through a corporate transaction,
such as any merger, any acquisition through the issuance of capital stock of the Corporation, any consolidation, any separation of the Corporation
(including a spin-off or other distribution of stock of the Corporation), any reorganization of the Corporation (whether or not such reorganization comes
within the definition of such term in section 368 of the Code), or any partial or complete liquidation by the Corporation, recapitalization, stock dividend,
stock split or other change in the corporate structure, appropriate adjustments and changes shall be made by the Committee in (a) the number of shares and
the option price per share of stock subject to this option, and (b) such other provisions of this option as may be necessary and equitable to carry out the
foregoing purposes, provided, however that no such adjustment or change may be made to the extent that such adjustment or change will result in the
disallowance of a deduction to the Corporation under section 162(m) of the Code or any successor section.

13.

Effect on Other Plans. All benefits under this option shall constitute special compensation and shall not affect the level of benefits provided to or received
by the Employee (or the Employee’s estate or beneficiaries) as part of any employee benefit plan of the Corporation or an Affiliates. This option shall not
be construed to affect in any way the Employee’s rights and obligations under any other plan maintained by the Corporation or an Affiliate on behalf of
employees.

14.

Successors. This option shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any successor or successors of the Corporation.

15.

Amendments. The Committee may at any time alter or amend this option to the extent (1) permitted by law, (2) permitted by the rules of any stock
exchange on which the common stock or any other security of the Corporation is listed, (3) permitted under applicable provisions of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (including rule 16b-3 thereof), and (4) that such action would not result in the
disallowance of a deduction to the Corporation under section 162(m) of the Code or any successor section (including the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Committee may not take any action that would result in any amount payable
under this option qualifying as “applicable employee remuneration” as so defined for purposes of section 162(m) of the Code.

16.

Defined Terms. Terms which are capitalized are defined herein or in the Plan and have the same meaning set forth in the Plan, unless the context indicates
otherwise.

Exhibit No. (10)o
Outside Directors’ Compensation
Each Outside Director of Kimberly-Clark Corporation will receive the following compensation for their services as a director, in accordance with the terms of the
Corporation’s Outside Directors’ Compensation Plan (dated as of November 12, 2003) (the “Plan”). The compensation elements listed below supersede or are in
lieu of all other cash or stock options currently set out under the Plan:
•

A cash Retainer in the amount of $70,000, payable in quarterly installments in advance. No separate meeting fees will be payable for attending board
and committee meetings.

•

A grant of 2,000 Restricted Share Units. This grant will be made effective as of the first business day of the year. Directors joining the Board during
the year will receive a pro-rata grant of Restricted Share Units upon the effective date of their election to the Board.

•

The Chairman of each of the Audit, Compensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees will each receive an additional grant of
300 Restricted Share Units.

•

The Lead Director will receive an additional grant of 500 Restricted Share Units.

•

The Restricted Period for the Restricted Share Units shall commence on the date of grant and expire on the date each recipient retires from or
otherwise terminates service on the Board. The Restricted Share Units may not be transferred during the Restricted Period.

Exhibit No. (12)
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(Dollar amounts in millions)
Year Ended December 31

Consolidated Companies
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Interest expense
Interest factor in rent expense
Amortization of capitalized interest
Equity Affiliates
Share of 50%-owned:
Income before income taxes
Interest expense
Interest factor in rent expense
Amortization of capitalized interest
Distributed income of less than 50%-owned
Earnings
Consolidated Companies
Interest expense
Capitalized interest
Interest factor in rent expense
Equity Affiliates
Share of 50%-owned:
Interest and capitalized interest
Interest factor in rent expense
Fixed Charges
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges
Note:

2004

2003

2002

2001

2000

$2,203.4
162.5
65.3
13.2

$2,076.3
167.8
62.6
12.4

$2,202.1
181.9
55.5
11.7

$2,099.3
191.4
53.3
10.4

$2,310.5
221.4
48.5
9.3

2.3
—
—
—
94.5

2.7
1.2
—
—
96.7

$2,541.2

$2,419.7

$2,556.1

$2,464.1

$2,738.0

$ 162.5
6.5
65.3

$ 167.8
12.5
62.6

$ 181.9
11.0
55.5

$ 191.4
19.6
53.3

$ 221.4
20.9
48.5

2.6
—

2.7
.1

5.5
.8

7.5
.9

$ 234.3

$ 245.5

$ 251.2

$ 270.6

$ 299.2

10.85

9.86

10.18

9.11

9.15

—
—

(2.2)
2.7
.1
—
104.3

(.6)
5.5
.8
.2
103.8

43.0
7.5
.9
.5
96.4

The Corporation is contingently liable as guarantor, or directly liable as the original obligor, for certain debt and lease obligations of S.D. Warren
Company, which was sold in December 1994. The buyer provided the Corporation with a letter of credit from a major financial institution guaranteeing
repayment of these obligations. No losses are expected from these arrangements and they have not been included in the computation of earnings to fixed
charges.

Exhibit No. (21)
KIMBERLY-CLARK CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
The following list includes certain companies that were owned directly or indirectly by Kimberly-Clark Corporation, a Delaware corporation, Dallas,
Texas, as of December 31, 2004.
This list includes all subsidiaries. The place of incorporation or organization is next to the name of the company.
Consolidated Subsidiaries
1194127 Ontario Inc., Ontario Canada
*Abdelia Comercial Ltda., Brazil
*Arabian Medical Products Manufacturing Company, Saudi Arabia
Avent, Inc., Delaware
Avent de Honduras, S.A. de C.V., Honduras
Avent, S.A. de C.V., Mexico
Avent Slovakia, Inc., Delaware
Avent Slovakia s.r.o., Slovakia
*Bacraft S.A. Industria de Papel, Brazil
Ballard Medical Products, Utah
Ballard Medical Products (Canada) Inc., Ontario, Canada
Balmoral Participacoes Ltda., Brazil
Beco, Inc., Wisconsin
*Colombiana Kimberly Colpapel S.A., Colombia
Delaware Overseas Finance, Inc., Delaware
Durafab, Inc., Texas
Elfi Papier GmbH, Germany
Excell Paper Sales Co., Pennsylvania
Excell Paper Sales LLC, Delaware
*Fisbra Industria e Comecio de Produtos Higienicos Ltda., Brazil
*Gerinconfort Industria e Comercio de Productus Higienicos Ltd., Brazil
*H-K Overseas Holland B.V., Netherlands
Hakle Kimberly Deutschland GmbH, Germany
Hakle Kimberly Papiervertriebs GmbH, Austria
Hakle-Kimberly Switzerland GmbH, Switzerland
Hercules Global Investments, Cayman Islands
Historic Hospitality Investments LLC, Texas
*Hogla Kimberly Limited, Israel
*Hogla Kimberly Marketing Limited, Israel
Hopewell International Insurance Ltd. (Inactive), Bermuda
Housing Horizons, LLC, Texas
Industrial Helvetia S.A., Chile
Industrial Mimosa S.A., Uruguay

K-C Advertising, Inc., Delaware
K-C Equipment Finance L.P., United Kingdom
K-C Financial Services Investment Company, Delaware
K-C Guernsey I Ltd., Isle of Guernsey
K-C Guernsey II Ltd., Isle of Guernsey
K-C Handelsgesellschaft MbH, Austria
K-C Holder Spain S.L., Spain
K-C Nevada, Inc., Nevada
K-C Worldwide, LLC, Delaware
Kalayaan Land Corporation, Philippines
KC Tower Corporation, Delaware
KCA Nominees, Pty. Ltd., Australia
*KCA Retirement Fund Pty. Limited, Australia
KCC Comercial Ltda., Sao Paulo, Brazil
KCK Tissue, Argentina
*K.C.S.A. Holdings (Proprietary) Limited, South Africa
*Kimberly Bolivia S.A., Bolivia
Kimberly-Clark (Barbados) Holding Ltd., Barbados
Kimberly-Clark (China) Investment Co., Ltd., People’s Republic of China
Kimberly-Clark (Hong Kong) Ltd., Hong Kong
Kimberly-Clark Argentina S.A., Argentina
Kimberly-Clark Argentina Holdings S.A., Argentina
Kimberly-Clark Asia Holdings Pte. Ltd., Singapore
Kimberly-Clark Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., Singapore
Kimberly-Clark Australia Consolidated Holdings Pty. Limited, Australia
Kimberly-Clark Australia Holdings Pty. Limited, Australia
*Kimberly-Clark Australia Pty. Limited, Australia
Kimberly-Clark B.V., Netherlands
Kimberly-Clark Bahrain Holdings S.P., Bahrain
Kimberly-Clark Brasil Holdings Limitada, Brazil
Kimberly-Clark Brasil Industria e Comercio de Produtos de Hygiene Ltda., Brazil
Kimberly-Clark Canada Holdings, Inc., Ontario, Canada
Kimberly-Clark Canada Hungarian Holdings Co., Ontario
Kimberly-Clark Canada Inc., Ontario, Canada
Kimberly-Clark Canada Inc. Kanadischen Rechts & Company KG, Germany
Kimberly-Clark Canada Services Corporation, Ontario, Canada
Kimberly-Clark Cayman Islands Company, Cayman Islands
Kimberly-Clark Cayman Islands Finance Company, Cayman Islands
Kimberly-Clark Cayman Islands Holding Company, Cayman Islands
Kimberly-Clark (Cyprus) Ltd., Cyprus
Kimberly-Clark CBG (Handan) Hygienic Products Co., Ltd., People’s Republic of China
Kimberly-Clark CBG Hygienic Products Company Limited, Chengdu, People’s Republic of China
*Kimberly-Clark Central American Holdings, S.A., Panama
Kimberly-Clark Chengdu Hygienic Products Services Company Ltd., People’s Republic of China
*Kimberly-Clark Chile S.A., Chile

Kimberly-Clark Colombia Limitada, Colombia
*Kimberly-Clark de Centro America, S.A., El Salvador
Kimberly-Clark Denmark Holdings ApS, Denmark
Kimberly-Clark do Brasil Limitada, Brazil
Kimberly-Clark Dominican Republic S.A., Dominican Republic
*Kimberly-Clark Dominicana, S.A., Dominican Republic
Kimberly-Clark Dublin Finance Ltd., United Kingdom
*Kimberly-Clark Ecuador, S.A., Ecuador
Kimberly-Clark Europe Limited, United Kingdom
Kimberly-Clark European Investment B.V., Netherlands
Kimberly-Clark European Services Limited, United Kingdom
Kimberly-Clark Far East Pte. Limited, Singapore
Kimberly-Clark Finance Ltd., United Kingdom
Kimberly-Clark Financial Services, Inc., Tennessee
Kimberly-Clark Foreign Sales Corporation B.V., Netherlands
Kimberly-Clark Forestal S.A., Spain
Kimberly-Clark Foundation, Inc., Wisconsin
Kimberly-Clark France Operations, France
Kimberly-Clark France Ventures, France
Kimberly-Clark Global Finance Ltd., Bermuda
Kimberly-Clark Global Partnership, L.P., Texas
Kimberly-Clark Global Sales, Inc., Delaware
*Kimberly-Clark Guatemala S.A., Guatemala
Kimberly-Clark Hellas EPE, Greece
Kimberly-Clark Holding Kft., Hungary
Kimberly-Clark Holding Limited, United Kingdom
Kimberly-Clark Holland Holdings B.V., Netherlands
Kimberly-Clark Hygiene Products Private Ltd., India
Kimberly-Clark Inc., Ontario, Canada
Kimberly-Clark Integrated Services Corporation, Delaware
Kimberly-Clark International Services Corporation, Delaware
Kimberly-Clark International, S.A., Panama
Kimberly-Clark Investment Corporation, Panama
Kimberly-Clark Irish Finance Corporation Ltd., United Kingdom
*Kimberly-Clark Kenko Industria e Comercio Ltda., Sao Paulo, Brazil
Kimberly-Clark Latin America, Inc., Delaware
Kimberly-Clark Latin America Investments, Inc., Delaware
Kimberly-Clark Lda., Portugal
Kimberly-Clark Limited, United Kingdom
Kimberly-Clark Luxembourg S.a.r.l., Luxembourg
Kimberly-Clark Luxembourg Holdings S.a.r.l., Luxembourg
*Kimberly-Clark Malta Holding Co. Ltd., Malta
*Kimberly-Clark Malta Investment Company Limited, Malta
Kimberly-Clark Manufacturing (Thailand) Limited, Thailand
Kimberly-Clark Mediterranean Finance Company Ltd., Malta

Kimberly-Clark N.V., Belgium
Kimberly-Clark Netherlands Holdings B.V., Netherlands
Kimberly-Clark North Asia Co., Ltd, South Korea
Kimberly-Clark 000, Russia
Kimberly-Clark Pacific Finance Company, Cayman Islands
Kimberly-Clark Pacific Holdings Pty Limited, Australia
Kimberly-Clark Paper (Guangzhou) Company Limited, People’s Republic of China
Kimberly-Clark Paper (Shanghai) Company Limited, People’s Republic of China
Kimberly-Clark Paraguay S.A., Paraguay
Kimberly-Clark Patriot Holdings, Inc., Cayman Islands
Kimberly-Clark Pension Trusts Ltd., United Kingdom
Kimberly-Clark Pennsylvania, LLC, Delaware
Kimberly-Clark Personal Hygienic Products (Nanjing) Co. Ltd., People’s Republic of China
Kimberly-Clark Personal Hygienic Products Company Limited, Beijing, People’s Republic of China
*Kimberly-Clark Peru S.R.L., Peru
Kimberly-Clark PHC International, Inc., Delaware
*Kimberly-Clark Philippines Inc., Philippines
Kimberly-Clark Philippine Holdings, Inc., Philippines
Kimberly-Clark Poland Holdings Sp. z.o.o., Poland
Kimberly-Clark Products (Malaysia) Sdn. Bdh., Malaysia
Kimberly-Clark Produtos Para Saude Limitada, Brazil
Kimberly-Clark Puerto Rico, Inc., Delaware
Kimberly-Clark Pulp, Inc., Delaware
Kimberly-Clark S.A., Poland
Kimberly-Clark S.L., Spain
Kimberly-Clark S.N.C., France
Kimberly-Clark S.p.A., Italy
Kimberly-Clark s.r.l., Italy
Kimberly-Clark s.r.o., Czech Republic
Kimberly-Clark SUD, S.p.A., Italy
Kimberly-Clark Sales Corporation B.V., Netherlands
Kimberly-Clark Scandinavia ApS, Denmark
Kimberly-Clark Services Asia-Pacific, Australia
Kimberly-Clark Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore
Kimberly-Clark Singapore Finance Pte. Ltd., Singapore
*Kimberly-Clark of South Africa (Pty.) Limited, South Africa
*Kimberly-Clark Southern Africa (Holdings) (Pty) Ltd., South Africa
Kimberly-Clark Taiwan, Cayman Islands
Kimberly-Clark Thailand Limited, Thailand
Kimberly-Clark Tissue do Brasil Limitada, Brazil
Kimberly-Clark Trading Limited Liability Company, Hungary
Kimberly-Clark Trading (Malaysia) Sdn. Bdh., Malaysia
Kimberly-Clark Treasury Asia-Pacific, Australia
Kimberly-Clark U.K. Operations Limited, United Kingdom
Kimberly-Clark Ukraine LLC, Ukraine

*Kimberly-Clark Venezuela, C.A., Venezuela
Kimberly-Clark Ventures, LLC, Delaware
Kimberly-Clark Vietnam Co., Ltd., Vietnam
Kimberly-Clark West Indies Finance Company, Cayman Islands
Kimberly-Clark Worldwide Australia Holdings Pty. Limited, Australia
Kimberly-Clark Worldwide Taiwan Investment Ltd., Taiwan, Republic of China
Kimberly-Clark Worldwide, Inc., Delaware
*Kimberly-Clark Zimbabwe (Private) Limited, South Africa
*KIMNICA, S.A., Nicaragua
*KS&J Industria e Comecio Ltda., Brazil
La Ada de Acuna, S.A. de C.V., Mexico
La Compania Que Innova, S.A. de C.V., Mexico
*Manlak Investments (Pty.) Limited, South Africa
*Marsbaum Participacoes Ltda., Brazil
MFS Holdings, LLC, Delaware
Mimo Brasil Limitada, Brazil
Mimo Uruguay S.A., Uruguay
Minnetonka Limitada, Brazil
Minnetonka Overseas Investments Limited, Cayman Islands
*Molett Marketing Limited, Israel
Mountain Tree Farm Company, Washington
Nueva Arizona, S.A., Argentina
*Ovisan Syhhi Bez Sanay Ve Ticaret a.s., Turkey
*Papeles Absorbentes, S.A., Guatemala
*Papeles del Cauca S.A., Colombia
PLS Holdings, LLC, Delaware
Portola S.L., Spain
P.T. Kimberly-Lever Indonesia, Indonesia
*Rakefet Marketing & Trading Services Ltd., Israel
Ridgeway Insurance Company Limited, Bermuda
Safeskin (B.V.I.) Limited, British Virgin Islands
Safeskin Corporation (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., Malaysia
Safeskin Corporation (Thailand) Limited, Thailand
Safeskin Industries (Thailand) Limited, Thailand
Safeskin Latex (Thailand) Limited, Thailand
Safeskin Medical & Scientific (Thailand) Limited, Thailand
Scott CB Holding Company, Delaware
Scott S.A., France
Scott Executive Pension Trustees Limited, United Kingdom
Scott Paper Company, Delaware
*Scott Paper Co. de Costa Rica S.A., Costa Rica
*Scott Paper Co. Honduras S.A. de C.V., Honduras
Scott Paper Eastern China Inc., Delaware
Scott Trading Ltd., Thailand
Servicios Papeleros Centroamericanos, S.A., El Salvador

*Shikma Improvement of Individual Life Limited, Israel
S-K Corporation, Taiwan
Syzygy, Inc., Delaware
Taiwan Scott Paper Corporation, Taiwan
Tawneydown-ALFA GmbH (Inactive), Germany
TELA-Kimberly Deutschland GmbH, Germany
TELA-Kimberly Switzerland GmbH, Switzerland
Three Rivers Timber Company, Washington
Tiscorp, L.P., United Kingdom
*YuHan-Kimberly, Limited, Korea
* Indicates a company that is not wholly owned directly or indirectly by the Corporation.

Exhibit No. (23)
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Kimberly-Clark Corporation’s Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 33-49050, 33-58402, 33-64063, 3364689, 333-02607, 333-06996, 333-17367, 333-38385, 333-43647, 333-71661, 333-85099, 333-94139, 333-51922, 333-61010, 333-62358, 333-89314, and 333104099) and No. 333-105990 on Form S-3 of our reports dated February 22, 2005 relating to the financial statements and financial statement schedule of
Kimberly-Clark Corporation (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph regarding a change in the Corporation’s
method of accounting for customer coupons) and management’s report of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K of Kimberly-Clark Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2004.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Dallas, Texas
February 24, 2005

Exhibit No. (24)
POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned does hereby constitute and appoint Mark A. Buthman, Randy J. Vest and Ronald D. Mc
Cray, and each of them, with full power to act alone, his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and
in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign Kimberly-Clark Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004, and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any one of them, or his substitute or their substitutes, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 23rd day of February, 2005.
/s/ Dennis R. Beresford
Dennis R. Beresford

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned does hereby constitute and appoint Mark A. Buthman, Randy J. Vest and Ronald D. Mc
Cray, and each of them, with full power to act alone, his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and
in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign Kimberly-Clark Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004, and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any one of them, or his substitute or their substitutes, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 23rd day of February, 2005.
/s/ John F. Bergstrom
John F. Bergstrom

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned does hereby constitute and appoint Mark A. Buthman, Randy J. Vest and Ronald D. Mc
Cray, and each of them, with full power to act alone, her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for her and
in her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign Kimberly-Clark Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004, and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any one of them, or his substitute or their substitutes, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 23rd day of February, 2005.
/s/ Pastora San Juan Cafferty
Pastora San Juan Cafferty

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned does hereby constitute and appoint Mark A. Buthman, Randy J. Vest and Ronald D. Mc
Cray, and each of them, with full power to act alone, his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and
in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign Kimberly-Clark Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004, and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any one of them, or his substitute or their substitutes, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 23rd day of February, 2005.
/s/ Robert W. Decherd
Robert W. Decherd

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned does hereby constitute and appoint Mark A. Buthman, Randy J. Vest and Ronald D. Mc
Cray, and each of them, with full power to act alone, his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and
in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign Kimberly-Clark Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004, and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any one of them, or his substitute or their substitutes, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 23rd day of February, 2005.
/s/ Thomas J. Falk
Thomas J. Falk

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned does hereby constitute and appoint Mark A. Buthman, Randy J. Vest and Ronald D. Mc
Cray, and each of them, with full power to act alone, his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and
in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign Kimberly-Clark Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004, and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any one of them, or his substitute or their substitutes, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 23rd day of February, 2005.
/s/ Claudio X. Gonzalez
Claudio X. Gonzalez

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned does hereby constitute and appoint Mark A. Buthman, Randy J. Vest and Ronald D. Mc
Cray, and each of them, with full power to act alone, her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for her and
in her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign Kimberly-Clark Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004, and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any one of them, or his substitute or their substitutes, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 23rd day of February, 2005.
/s/ Mae C. Jemison
Mae C. Jemison

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned does hereby constitute and appoint Mark A. Buthman, Randy J. Vest and Ronald D. Mc
Cray, and each of them, with full power to act alone, her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for her and
in her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign Kimberly-Clark Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004, and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any one of them, or his substitute or their substitutes, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 23rd day of February, 2005.
/s/ Linda Johnson Rice
Linda Johnson Rice

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned does hereby constitute and appoint Mark A. Buthman, Randy J. Vest and Ronald D. Mc
Cray, and each of them, with full power to act alone, his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and
in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign Kimberly-Clark Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004, and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any one of them, or his substitute or their substitutes, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 23rd day of February, 2005.
/s/ Marc J. Shapiro
Marc J. Shapiro

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned does hereby constitute and appoint Mark A. Buthman, Randy J. Vest and Ronald D. Mc
Cray, and each of them, with full power to act alone, his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and
in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign Kimberly-Clark Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004, and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any one of them, or his substitute or their substitutes, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 23rd day of February, 2005.
/s/ G. Craig Sullivan
G. Craig Sullivan

Exhibit (31)a
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Thomas J. Falk, Chief Executive Officer of Kimberly-Clark Corporation, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kimberly-Clark Corporation (the “registrant”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

February 22, 2005

/s/ THOMAS J. FALK
Thomas J. Falk
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit (31)b
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Mark A. Buthman, Chief Financial Officer of Kimberly-Clark Corporation, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kimberly-Clark Corporation (the “registrant”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

February 22, 2005

/s/ MARK A. BUTHMAN
Mark A. Buthman
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit (32)a
Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code
I, Thomas J. Falk, Chief Executive Officer of Kimberly-Clark Corporation, certify that, to my knowledge:
(1)

the Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 24, 2005 (“accompanied report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

the information contained in the accompanied report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of KimberlyClark Corporation.
/s/ THOMAS J. FALK
Thomas J. Falk
Chief Executive Officer
February 22, 2005

Exhibit (32)b
Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code
I, Mark A. Buthman, Chief Financial Officer of Kimberly-Clark Corporation, certify that, to my knowledge:
(1)

the Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 24, 2005 (“accompanied report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

the information contained in the accompanied report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of KimberlyClark Corporation.
/s/ MARK A. BUTHMAN
Mark A. Buthman
Chief Financial Officer
February 22, 2005

